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Profile

Gulf
Internatio
Bank

Gulf International Bank B.S.C.
(GIB) is a pan-GCC universal
bank established in 1975 and
regulated by the Central Bank
of Bahrain.

GIB provides diverse financial products, services,
and bespoke banking solutions to a wide client
base in the GCC, Europe, and North America.
This includes corporate, institutional, global
transaction and investment banking, treasury
and asset management, and meem, the world’s
first fully digital Shariah-compliant retail bank.

The Group is active across regional and
international markets through its subsidiaries
GIB Saudi Arabia and GIB (UK) Ltd and its
branches in the UAE, Oman, and the USA.

GIB Saudi Arabia is the first foreign-domiciled
bank to establish a local commercial bankinthe
Kingdom. Headquartered in Al Khobar, the

has branches in Riyadh and Jeddah with its
Riyadh-based subsidiary, GIB Capital, delivering
the Bank’s investment banking activities. Its
activities span equity advi

mergers, acquisitions and

capital market solutions al

advisory, along with asse’

equities brokerage.

GIB (UK) Ltd is a London

global asset manager. As a signatory to the UN
Principles for Responsible | _'\'/*tment, it offers
sustainable investment strategies.

GIB is owned by the governments of the Gulf
Cooperation Council countries, with Saudi
Arabia’s Public Investment Fu i

primary shareholder.

A regional industry
leader with a global
reach offering
differentiated world-
class products and
services to its clients.
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Credit
Ratings

Fitch Long-term foreign currency A-
Short-term foreign currency F2
Long-term senior unsecured debt rating A-
Core financial strength bbb-
Long-term foreign currency outlook Stable

Moody’s Long-term foreign currency A2
Short-term foreign currency A2/P-1
Long-term senior unsecured debt rating A2
Core financial strength baa3
Long-term foreign currency outlook Stable

Capital Intelligence Long-term foreign currency A+
Short-term foreign currency Al
Long-term senior unsecured debt rating =
Core financial strength bbb-
Long-term foreign currency outlook Stable
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Financial
Highlights

Financial highlights

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
Earnings (US$ millions)
Net income after tax 180.2 169.4 96.1 52.7 (308.0)
Net interest income 522.2 498.5 345.8 246.1 232.8
Fee and commission income 121.8 102.5 101.4 72.5 59.0
Operating expenses 450.0 396.8 346.5 296.7 276.9
Financial position (US$ millions)
Total assets 42,891.5 47,069.9 32,621.6 31,797.0 29,606.3
Loans 15,402.3 13,624.6 11,497.6 11,6575 10,489.7
Investment securities 7,279.4 6,716.2 5,785.5 5,968.5 4,689.8
Senior and subordinated term financing 5,973.2 6,020.7 49409 5,100.1 49249
Equity BYCHIEHD) 3,368.6 3,184.2 3,093.0 3,012.5
Ratios (per cent)
Profitability
Return on average equity 5.2 Sl 3.0 1.7 (9.8)
Return on average assets 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.2 (1.0)
Capital *
Risk asset ratio (Basel 3)
- Total 15.6 18.9 17.3 16.1 17.2
- Tier 1 13.6 16.1 14.8 14.0 16.4
Equity as % of total assets 8.2 7.2 9.8 9.7 10.2
Asset Composition
Securities as % of total assets 17.7 14.8 18.3 19.2 16.2
Loans as % of total assets 8519 28.9 35.2 36.7 35.4
Liquidity
Liquid assets ratio (%) 42.3 S2.7/ 41.4 41.9 45.7
Loans to deposits ratio (%)? 45.1 33.6 42.8 447 42.8
LCR (%) 149.4 137.8 299.3 176.3 155.2
NSFR (%) 142.8 143.0 1615 146.2 156.0

* Please refer to Note 38 of the Financial Statements
2 Deposits include senior and subordinated term financing
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Global
Presence

London

Al Khobar

Manama
lMuscat
Riyadh

Jeddah Abu Dhabi
Dubai
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Headquartered in Bahrain,

GIB is active across regional and
international markets through its
subsidiaries GIB Saudi Arabia and
GIB (UK) Ltd, and its branches in
the UAE, Oman, and the USA.

GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK B.S.C.

Head Office
Manama

Branches
Abu Dhabi
Muscat
London
New York

Representative Office
Dubai

GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK
SAUDI ARABIA

Head Office
Al Khobar

Branches
Riyadh
Jeddah

GIB CAPITAL
Riyadh

GIB UK

London

INew York

Global Presence



07 GIB B.S.C. Annual Report 2024

Chairman’s
Statement

66

GIB demonstrated its strength and resilience
in 2024. We increased our profits, diversified
income streams, and maintained a robust
funding profile. Additionally, we made smart
investments for the future to grow

our return on capital.”

Abdulla bin Mohammed Al Zamil
Chairman of the Board

CONTENTS O

On behalf of the staff, management, and Board of Gulf International
Bank B.S.C,, | am pleased to present the Annual Report and
consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended

31 December 2024.

With the crucial support of our investors and other stakeholders,
GIB achieved a year of strong financial performance and successful
execution of our strategic goals, helping us build sustainable value
for the future. We also made rapid progress in advancing our
sustainability and corporate and social responsibility (CSR) goals.

GIB demonstrated its strength and resilience, making impressive
progress across our strategic priorities (see Strategic Progress
section below). Our core revenue and profits continued to grow as
we diversified income streams, increased the use of technology to
drive efficiencies, reduced non-performing loans, and maintained a
robust balance sheet and funding profile.

Between 2020 and 2023, we strategically positioned our balance
sheet to capitalise on higher interest rates. This year, we viewed the
changing economic cycle as an opportunity and repositioned our
balance sheet in anticipation of falling rates. We also gained market
share by expanding our corporate and consumer client bases and
increasing product penetration.

As we continue to achieve sound performance, we are making
strategic investments for the future to boost our return on capital by
increasing revenues and improving efficiencies.

One of GIB’ niche strengths is our geographical presence, which
allows us to expand our reach and play a significant role in driving
growth across the GCC region. We also expanded our footprint

by opening a branch in Oman, leveraging a substantial market
opportunity previously served through Bahrain. With a presence now
in four GCC countries (Bahrain, Saudi Arabia, the UAE, and Oman),
we have established ourselves as the go-to pan-GCC bank for our
customers.

Our reach extends beyond the GCC and we continue to be a strong
player in international markets. Our UK subsidiary and branches in
the United States and UK enable us to connect clients in the Gulf
with international markets and vice versa. This unique international
profile is one that we will continue to strengthen as we expand our
global reach and enhance our service offerings.

Our GIB UK subsidiary continues to deliver strong results through its
treasury and asset management offerings. Meanwhile, GIB Capital,
our investment banking and regional asset management offering
has been structuring complex products across multiple sectors

and creating funds for institutional and consumer clients, further
strengthening the GIB family.

Chairman’s statement

Our progress as a Group was notably recognised in the first half of
the year, highlighted by the overwhelming success of our US$ 500
million Euro Medium-Term Note (EMTN) bond, which was more than
twice oversubscribed. This strong demand reflects the confidence
investors have in our strategies and performance. Additionally, we
received further validation of our growth trajectory in December
when Moody’s upgraded the bank’s credit rating for the second time
in 15 months, underscoring our commitment to financial excellence
and stability.

We also launched our GIB Spring Dialogues conference as part of

a broader initiative to get closer to our clients and stakeholders
through information sharing and exchange. This initiative reinforced
our commitment to serving as a hub for knowledge sharing, and we
plan to host the event again in May 2025.

Central to our prominent profile is our commitment to
environmental, social, and governance (ESG) principles, which
continued to develop rapidly through supporting our clients

with their sustainability goals, executing numerous sustainable
transactions and launching a number of sustainable products. GIB
maintained its status as a leader in driving sustainable business and
CSRin the GCC region. We also continue to support communities
and charities across the GCC, UK, and US, while the popularity of our
employee volunteering programme remains high.

Economic environment

An ambitious economic diversification programme has continued

to drive momentum across the GCC. Robust growth in the non-oil
economy has helped to mitigate the impact of oil sector contraction
resulting from OPEC+ production cuts aimed at stabilising prices.

Strong government spending drove economic activity and enabled
continued investment across the Gulf economies, notably in sports,
hospitality, tourism, real estate, and manufacturing. The region

also demonstrated resilience in the face of global and regional
geopolitical strains. Additional support came from the relative
stability of the global economy, despite the sharp and synchronised
tightening of monetary policy.

The robust and well-capitalised banking sector has also benefitted
from a favourable operating environment, underpinned by strong
project markets, buoyant private sector activity, and growing
demand for credit. Saudi Arabia remains at the forefront of the Gulf
region’s transformation, with the implementation of its Vision 2030
programme garnering increasing international interest and attracting
foreign direct investment flows.

Looking ahead, we remain optimistic about the Gulf region’s
prospects. The six GCC economies are expected to outperform in
2025, despite new uncertainties on the horizon. This performance
will be driven by continued progress in economic diversification and
reform, along with an increasingly favourable outlook for non-oil
sectors.
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Chairman’s Statement
continued

Strategic progress

Over the past year, GIB has made significant strides in executing

our strategic vision to become a regional industry leader with global
reach. We have focused on delivering differentiated, world-class
products and services that align with our commitment to excellence
and innovation.

In addition to expanding our regional presence, we strengthened
our digital capabilities, invested smartly in technology to realise
efficiencies and rolled out a number of client-led products and
services. Our focus on being a trusted partner to our clients is
evident in the long-standing client relationships that have endured
for decades.

Our commitment to delivering value to our customers and the
economies we operate in encompasses commercial banking,
consumer banking, project and structured finance, investment
banking, Shariah-compliant banking, and asset management, and
is reflected in landmark deals and prestigious awards we have
won during the year. Our sustainability and digital strategies are
embedded across the organisation.

We also made strong progress this year across the Group’s strategic
priorities:

® Reduced reliance on net interest income by offering
differentiated products and services as ancillary business

® Increased and diversified revenues by cross-selling across
businesses and entities

® Maintained an effective funding profile by diversifying deposit
types and customers, optimising our cost of funding

® Increased return on assets by focusing on value-accretive asset
deployment

® Enhanced client acquisition, experience and service with
enhanced product offerings

Financial performance

This year’s financial performance is a testament of the successful
execution of the Bank’s strategy. GIB continued to demonstrate
its ability to deliver sustainable growth resulting in increasing net
income by 6 per cent to US$ 180.2 million.

In the face of challenging market conditions that led to a decline
in trading and foreign exchange income, GIB reported a strong
improvement in our core revenues. Net Interest Income (NII)
increased by 5 per cent to US$ 522 million, driven by favourable
lending conditions and effective asset management, while fee
income surged by 19 per cent reaching US$ 122 million, reflecting
higher transaction volumes and enhanced customer engagement.
This robust performance underscores our commitment to
operational excellence and strategic growth, demonstrating our
resilience even amidst market fluctuations.

CONTENTS O

Our ability to maintain growth in the face of these challenges
demonstrates that our strategy is both agile and focused on
delivering competitive returns to shareholders through our solid
strategic objectives.

GIB's strong performance in 2024 was due to continued focus on
offering value-accretive products and services, effectively managing
the balance sheet, and boosting income from diversified sources.

Robust management of our asset book continued throughout 2024,
enabling GIB to maintain a strong balance sheet, with consolidated
assets reaching US$ 42.9 billion by year-end.

Loans and advances grew steadily from US$ 13.6 billion in 2023 to
US$ 15.4 billion, as GIB made selective expansions over the past few
years, demonstrating its commitment to prudent risk management.

An additional diversification strategy has focused on expanding our
investment portfolio, with investment securities rising by 8 per cent
year-on-year. This strategy will help in repositioning our balance
sheet for declining interest rates, turning an economic challenge into
a valuable opportunity.

Funding profile

The Group maintains a robust funding profile, supported by diverse
regional and international customer base and a broad investor base
spanning the GCC, Europe, UK, and the Far East. The Group’s assets
are predominantly funded through a mixture of customer deposits,
senior term finance, subordinated debt and Equity. A portion of the
Group’s investment portfolio, primarily consisting of high-quality
liquid assets (HQLAS), is funded through repos. The rest of the
investment portfolio acts as a liquidity reserve, allowing for the
generation of additional liquidity if necessary. The Group LCR at 149
per cent and NSFR at 143 per cent indicate the high level of liquidity
and stable funds available to support the Group’s asset profile.

The Group’s balance size decreased by 9 per cent, primarily due to a
decline in transitory client deposits associated with the Group’s cash
management and payment services in the UK, which are matched
with central banks, other banks, and short-term securities.

Credit rating upgrades

In 2023, Moody’s upgraded GIB’s credit rating from Baal to A3, and
in 2024, the rating was further upgraded from A3 to A2— marking
the highest rating the Group has attained thus far. This improvement
reflects the strength of our earnings and overall financial health,
including a decrease in non-performing loans (NPL) and enhanced
provisions coverage ratios.

Sustainability

Sustainability integrates into all GIB's services, and we made
significant progress towards our goals in this area. Our third
sustainability report, published in 2023, was well received across the
region, and our fourth, for this year, will be released soon.

GIB has a Board Sustainability and Climate Change Committee,
which | chair, and a Sustainability Council comprising leaders from
across the Bank.

We have bolstered our advisory services for clients on sustainability-
linked transactions, continued innovation in this space and received
GIB’s first Green Deposits demonstrating GIB's ongoing support for
clients advancing on their sustainability journey.

GIB is committed to driving best practices in sustainability. Victoria
Barron took up the role of Chief Sustainability Officer to drive the
Group’s sustainability activities. We were also featured as a case
study in the World Economic Forum’s white paper Prioritising
Sustainability in MENA, highlighting our leading practices, including
our proprietary framework for assessing transition financing deals.
Additionally, in 2024, we launched our cross group Sustainable
Finance balance sheet, an internal system for tracking sustainable
transactions.

We have made significant progress on our own sustainability goals.
For example, GIB met all the targets set out in the US$ 625 million
sustainability-linked loan we issued in 2021, including those related
to carbon emission reductions and sustainability reporting.

We actively participated in COP 29 in Azerbaijan and purchased
sufficient credits to neutralise our operational emissions. GIB Saudi
Arabia extended its agreement with the VCM (Voluntary Carbon
Market) for two years, committing to buy further credits.

We improved our operational sustainability by installing 480 solar
panels, which reduce our Bahrain utility bills by up to 10 per cent
and cut CO2 emissions by 300 tonnes a year.

We also support sustainability efforts across the region and have
taken key roles in the SAMA (Saudi Central Bank) Saudi Banks' ESG
Banking Advisory Committee workstreams, which aim to integrate
ESG principles into the country’s financial activities.

Our plans for 2025 include ongoing preparations for the Central
Bank of Bahrain’s sustainability reporting requirements, as well as
further work on IFRS S1 and S2 mandatory reporting. There has
been a significant collaboration between GIB teams to ensure we
meet the S1/52 requirements.

We will also continue supporting SAMA's workstreams and maintain
our focus on integrating sustainability across the GIB Group.

Looking ahead

GIB’s results this year reflect our commitment to driving sustainable
growth through our strategic priorities, and there is much more to
come. Focus, prioritisation and collaboration are the pillars upon
which our strategy was developed and through which we will be
able to continue the trajectory witnessed in the past few years.

Chairman’s statement

In 2025, our focus will be on several key transformation programmes
and ensuring successful progress and delivery. These include major
enhancements to modernise our IT systems and architecture, rolling
out additional products to our Global Transaction Banking (GTB)
suite, upgrading our channels, and increasing straight-through-
processing in our operations to streamline customer service and
realise efficiencies. Additionally, we have begun exploring artificial
intelligence, already integrated into some of our operation processes
using machine learning and will test use additional cases in 2025.

Underlying all our goals is our commitment to full compliance

with regulations across all jurisdictions we operate in. Our rigorous
cybersecurity and other risk management frameworks, including the
newly developed Non-financial Risks (NFR) framework, remain high
on our agenda.

Our strategy will continue to focus on increasing market share
in key segments of lucrative markets, intensifying cross-selling,
collaboration, and innovation across our business lines and
processes.

The GIB B.S.C. CEO’s statement provides further details on the
execution of our strategic plans in 2024, 2025, and beyond.

We look forward to strengthening relationships with our clients and
partners in 2025. Our robust financial foundation and diversified
revenue streams will continue to reinforce our market position,
driving us towards becoming a leading regional financial institution.
Our ongoing focus on customer-centric solutions and continued
investments in people, technology and infrastructure will ensure we
maintain our position in challenging regional and global markets.

2025 will mark the 50 anniversary of GIB - a milestone year
where our continued efforts will enable us to thrive and ensure a
sustainable future.

Acknowledgements

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | express my gratitude for the
unwavering trust and loyalty of our clients, the steadfast confidence
and support of our shareholders, and the ongoing support of our
counterparties.

We also appreciate and value the guidance provided by the
supervisory and regulatory bodies in the jurisdictions in which
we operate. Finally, | commend our management and employees
for their hard work, dedication, and creativity in delivering GIB’s
transformative journey.

Abdulla bin Mohammed Al Zamil
Chairman of the Board
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Group CEO'’s
Statement

66

We are well positioned for growth and
to capitalise on opportunities in the
markets we operate in. Our performance
in recent years reflects that we are
moving in the right direction.”

Abdulaziz bin Abdulrahman Al-Helaissi
Group Chief Executive Officer & Board Member

CONTENTS O

Our ambitious strategy and transformation agenda for 2024
yielded positive results, with an eight per cent increase in core
revenue and a six per cent rise in profits. We also achieved
significant milestones in expanding our geographical and client
reach, securing landmark deals, and closing a well-diversified
funding transaction, with nearly half of the tickets originating from
outside the MENA region.

This success came despite challenging global conditions, including
high interest rates, inflationary pressures, economic slowdown,
capital markets volatility, and rising geopolitical tensions. Against
this volatile backdrop, GCC banks have benefitted from favourable
regional economic conditions underpinned by the progress in
transformation plans, robust project pipeline, and healthy private
sector demand.

Throughout this period, the GIB Group demonstrated resilience,
supported by strong capital buffers, liquidity, and government
backing, positioning us to adapt and thrive in a changing
environment. While we may be a relatively small bank, our
strength lies in our client-centric approach, resilient business
model, and unique geographical reach.

A notable example of our expanding reach was the opening

of new wholesale banking branch in Muscat, Oman, marking a

significant milestone in GIB's GCC expansion strategy. In 2024,
the Group also successfully executed several complex financial
transactions for key clients in regional markets.

In addition to our strategic priorities, our success is driven by
investment in people, technology and sustainability.

Strong economics

After tepid growth in 2023, robust government spending in GCC
countries buoyed non-oil activity and spurred a robust recovery
throughout 2024. Investment incentives and the easing of certain
regulations are galvanising the region, helping diversify revenues
and foster a culture of innovation, competition, and resilience.

Against this positive backdrop, the operating environment for
regional banks was exceptional in 2024, particularly in Saudi
Arabia and the UAE. GCC banking systems and banks were stable,
high interest rates boosted net interest margins (NIMs), and credit
growth and profitability remained strong.

As technology rapidly evolves, digitalization and automation are
also driving impressive change and reshaping business models
across GCC banks. In addition, there is strong growth potential for
the region’s Islamic finance sector led by Saudi Arabia and further
supported by the increased emphasis on sustainability.

Risks nevertheless continue to loom. While the robust growth in
the GCC’s non-oil sector has buoyed regional resilience, underlying
vulnerability to an extended decline in oil prices remains. In
addition, continued uncertainty in regional geopolitics and the

Group CEO’s statement

unpredictable direction of US policies under the new presidency
also weigh on sentiment. GCC banks are also bracing for an erosion
in their net interest margins if interest rates continue to decline.

Overall, GCC countries have an opportunity to become new
engines of global economic growth by creating a dynamic private
sector and supporting the transition to a post-oil era.

STRATEGY REPORT

Commitment to strategic priorities continues to
reap rewards

The Group’s focus on value creation, technological resilience,
operational efficiencies, and leveraging best-in-class expertise
across its entities has driven the financial results, sustainable
growth and increased shareholder value in recent years.

All entities and businesses work collaboratively to implement the
Group’s strategic priorities, detailed later in this statement.

Increase and diversify revenues, and reduce reliance
on lending

Revenues reached US$ 716 million in 2024, reflecting successful
efforts to expand and cross-sell offerings. Fee and commission
income has grown by 19 per cent, driven by the diversification into
fee-based products and services, including asset management,
investment banking, structured finance, and retail banking.

Improving client acquisition, experience and service

Client-centricity is core to our success. The Group continued

to attract new corporate, institutional, consumer, and MSME
clients by prioritising quality and agility. We launched a range of
innovative solutions — including local currency (LCY) clearing,
real-estate escrow services, carbon trading and several asset
management funds across our Saudi Arabia and UK subsidiaries
— to offer investment opportunities to regional and international
clients. We also made significant progress in leveraging
technology and digitalisation to improve client services.

Effective funding profile

The Group maintained its focus on diversifying deposits, shifting
away from higher-cost corporate time deposits towards non-
interest-bearing liabilities and structured deposits to achieve

a lower cost of funding. At the end of 2024, CASA balances
represented 44 per cent of total customer deposits.

Optimising capital deployment

Capital remains a valuable resource, and we maintained our focus
on deploying it into value-accretive assets. Strengthening total
relationship value has steadily increased the Group’s return on
assets.
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Group CEO’s Statement
continued

People: focusing on talent and succession

Attracting and retaining talent is essential to our success, and
numerous high-performing new recruits have joined us from
regional and international institutions. However, we have always
prioritised internal promotion and succession planning.

The appointments of Sara Abdulhadi as CEO B.S.C., and Khaled
Abbas as CEO Saudi Arabia, in early 2024 represented a
significant milestone. Both were internal promotions, ensuring a
smooth transition. Replacements for their previous positions were
also internal.

Our development programmes include the Jammaz Al Suhaimi
graduate training scheme, widely regarded as one of the best
in the region. We also offer an active internship programme
and provide scholarships to talented students to support their
university education. These initiatives help ensure high levels of
employee engagement and retention.

GIB is also a strong supporter of female talent development,
and we continue to improve our overall female employee ratio.
At 34 per cent, this ratio is now one of the region’s highest. In
2025, we will further increase our focus, particularly at the mid-
management level.

With the private sector and government institutions now
competing for talent, our focus on investing in staff, retaining and
growing our talent pool and building robust succession plans is
crucial.

Additionally, we are focusing on building a strong employer brand,
offering competitive compensation packages, providing ongoing
professional development opportunities, and fostering a culture
of innovation and collaboration. This will allow us to attract and
retain the best talent in the industry.

Technology: driving efficiency, speed and scalability

The rapid evolution of technology presents both opportunities
and risks. Our technology strategy ensures we stay ahead of
the curve by selectively investing in cutting-edge technology
and digital solutions to optimise operations and enhance the
customer experience. This has positioned us well to navigate the
opportunities and challenges ahead. With continued focus, we
aim to drive growth and deliver exceptional value to our clients.

In 2024, we successfully launched an upgraded digital platform,
adopted a fully digital onboarding process for Investment
Banking clients, and invested in prioritised, client-led product
rollouts. Ensuring an effective operating model across our
jurisdictions and partnering with FinTech firms to leverage their
technology and reach will allow us to move forward with speed
and scalability.

CONTENTS O

Other successes include the automation of processes, reducing
manual intervention and improving efficiency while maintaining
quality. This has led to a significant improvement in turn-around-
time and increased customer satisfaction. Technology was
leveraged to develop dashboards providing real-time, essential
analytics to support transparent and quick decision-making.

In 2025, we will begin modernising our core banking system and
finalising the Group’s innovation strategy, emphasising agility

to enable faster delivery and stay up to date with the rapidly
evolving financial ecosystem.

Technology resilience is key to the Group’s success. The rapid
adoption of digital banking heightens technology and cyber-

security risks. To mitigate this, we continue to prioritise best-
practice IT frameworks and strengthen our controls.

Operations boosts efficiency, speed and scalability

In 2024, GIB's operations strategy aligned with our priorities
of enhancing customer experience and improving services by
increasing scalability, improving turnaround times and driving
efficiency.

During the year, we reviewed sixty-four end-to-end processes

to optimise customer journeys. We implemented three robotic
process automations, twenty-five workflows, five trade customer
e-forms and twenty-five automations and integrations to eliminate
manual work. In addition, we implemented six product dashboards
to further enhance analytics, transparency and control.

Sustainability: new goals bring fresh rewards

As one of the first banks in the region to commit to a sustainable
future, we continue to pioneer fresh initiatives and are increasingly
aligning our goals with global sustainability standards. This

will enable us to contribute positively to economic, social, and
environmental progress wherever we operate.

Our overall sustainability business is growing, supported by an
expanding suite of sustainable products and services. Sustainable
transactions help our clients to meet their sustainable goals and
contribute to our own sustainability agenda. As a reflection of this,
we won several industry awards related to sustainability.

We appointed a new Chief Sustainability Officer, implemented
several green initiatives across the business and further reduced
our overall operational carbon footprint. We also participated

in the voluntary carbon market auction at COP 29 in Bakuy,
purchasing carbon credits.

On the ESG front, we have tied our own agenda to the
sustainability agenda of the Public Investment Fund (PIF) and will
continue to work with regulators, clients and governments as they
roll out regulations in this evolving area.

GIB UK delivers healthy results

Despite market volatility, GIB UK achieved strong results in
2024 across treasury, banking and asset management. These
businesses acquired new clients from the GCC and Europe,
boosting inflows, diversifying revenues and expanding the GIB
Group’s global reach.

Our treasury and banking team also optimised return on assets by
leveraging dislocations in market interest rate expectations. The
average balance sheet size rose 40 per cent year-on-year.

In asset management, we demonstrated strong performance

in the GCC, with our Emerging Market (EM) Equity strategy
attracting the highest inflows. This was followed by our
Sustainable World Corporate Bond, a fund that has consistently
ranked at the top of its Morningstar peer group. We also launched
a Cayman-registered fund, which allows us to better serve US and
UCITS-seeking clients.

We will continue our focus on scaling assets. In the GCC, we

plan to leverage the GIB network to access private banking and
institutional clients, while in Europe, we will focus on wealth
managers, private banks and institutions. To support this strategy,
we are improving our operating platform to ensure GIB UK can
scale to its full potential in 2025.

GIB Capital building for market growth

GIB Capital focused on several key initiatives to reinforce its
position as a leading financial services provider.

We introduced independent financial advisory (IFA) services on
public offerings, including IPOs, REITs and funds. We also plan
to expand our IFA services in equity capital markets, launching
Systematic Investment Plan (SIP) and Thrift Plan solutions.

New products included the GIB Opportunistic Indian Equity Fund,
the first Saudi public fund dedicated to the Indian market, and

a Saudi Equity Fund targeting small- and mid-cap companies.
Alternative investments remained a key growth area, with assets
under management reaching SAR 2.66 billion, driven by four
active funds in real estate and private equity. There were also
several successful turnkey real estate deals.

In brokerage, we grew revenue by 39 per cent compared to

the previous year. This was driven by a 61 per cent increase in
margin lending utilisation and compliance with the Saudi Stock
Exchange’s Post Trade Transformation Program (PTTP) — a major
milestone.

Digital transformation remains a priority. Our platform now
enables investment account openings and mutual fund
transactions, with streamlined portfolio management and
advisory services following soon.

Challenges and opportunities

Our success is underpinned by strong governance, risk and
compliance frameworks.

In 2024, intense competition in the jurisdictions where we operate
posed a significant challenge. This was effectively addressed
through our strong heritage, niche expertise and bespoke
solutions tailored to client needs.

Global uncertainty was managed through prudent risk
management, a diversified funding profile, and the maintenance of
a high-quality, liquid balance sheet.

Increasing cyber threats are a challenge faced by all industries.
The Group has tackled this by investing in robust infrastructure
and advanced monitoring tools, conducting regular penetration
tests, and providing mandatory cybersecurity training for all staff.

Digitalisation has transformed the financial services landscape.
Our clients expect seamless, integrated digital experiences,
and we continue to prioritise and selectively invest in our digital
transformation to ensure infrastructure resilience and meet
evolving client needs.

Looking ahead

As we enter 2025, we maintain our focus on client-centricity and
value creation. These principles are at the core of our business,
guided by strategic pillars of prioritisation, focus and collaboration.
Throughout the Group’s entities and businesses, we will continue
to implement our plans aligned with these strategic goals.

We will also continue to grow our market share in lucrative
segments, while maintaining a strong focus on the delivery of our
transformation programmes, which includes:

® Expanding of our Global Transaction Banking (GTB) fee and
liability offerings

® Upgrading client channels

® Modernising our core banking platform

In addition to executing the Group’s transformation programmes,
key drivers of long-term success include attracting and developing
local talent, a commitment to sustainability that enhances our
reputation and align with evolving market expectations, and a
strong focus on leveraging technology and innovation. Coupled
with focus on regulatory compliance, cybersecurity, asset quality,
profitability and ample liquidity, the future looks promising.

Given the positive trajectory of recent years, we are optimistic
about our prospects and well-positioned for growth, while
remaining mindful of the challenges ahead. We are implementing
a clear strategy aimed at resilience and long-term success.

Abdulaziz bin Abdulrahman Al-Helaissi
Group Chief Executive Officer & Board Member
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Management
Review

66

GIB B.S.C. continued to show a strong trajectory

in both financial results and key performance
metrics. This reflected solid progress in delivering
the Group’s strategic priorities — revenue growth
and diversification, driving efficiencies, optimising
funding profile and increasing return on assets.”

Ms. Sara Abdulhadi
Chief Executive Officer, GIB B.S.C.
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Delivering across all strategic priorities

2024 was yet another year of solid performance, despite a highly
competitive market. GIB B.S.C. plays a key role in delivering the GIB
Group’s corporate strategy, and in 2024 contributed over half of
the Group’s net income. An impressive return on equity, landmark
deals and multiple awards were a reflection of our client-centric
approach, comprehensive suite of innovative product offerings and
commitment to service excellence.

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR
Wholesale banking revenues grow

In 2024, Wholesale Banking Group achieved notable success,
growing revenues and winning prestigious awards. The business
continued to grow its borrowing and non-borrowing client base
across the region.

Understanding our clients’ needs was a key driver of success in
converting facilities for existing and new relationships. It was also
instrumental to growing our loan portfolio during the year, adding
quality credits that generate positive returns.

Over US$ 1 billion of assets were sold down under the originate-
to-distribute model in addition to pre-launch distribution of
underwriting commitments.

In 2025, the focus will continue to be on expanding existing
facilities, booking new deals, onboarding new relationships and
increasing business under the originate-to-distribute model to
ensure value-accretive growth.

Global Transaction Banking expands

As one of the Bank’s key transformation programmes, Global
Transaction Banking continued to grow in 2024. By expanding our
offerings, including local clearing and increased currency corridors,
we were able to grow non-funded income from cash management,
trade, FX and transaction fees.

With growing demand for API-based solutions, our award-winning
API banking platform streamlines and automates corporate
business processes.

Treasury achieves growth

In 2024, the Treasury business delivered positive performance,
increasing income and introducing a number of new products to
diversify revenue sources and the depositor base. We continued to
maintain high-quality liquid assets, enhance customer experience
and retention, maximise cross-selling by diversifying our client base
to include non-corporate clients and increasing active FX clients,
and diversified GIB B.S.C.’s long-term funding profile through new
international and regional sources.

Challenges lie ahead, with anticipated interest rate cuts over the
next two years potentially lowering net interest income (NII), which
GIB B.S.C. plans to mitigate through robust hedging strategies.

Management Review

Continued commitment to sustainability

In 2024, we reinforced our commitment to sustainability by
integrating ESG principles across our operations and services. We
advanced sustainable finance activities, offset our emissions, and
launched advanced systems to track green transactions. Our latest
Sustainability Report outlined our progress, and we partnered with
the 2025 Sustainability Forum Middle East to promote regional
sustainability dialogue. We also strengthened governance with a
Board-level sustainability committee and appointed a new Chief
Sustainability Officer to lead our initiatives. Through continued
engagement in regulatory efforts, we aligned our strategy with
global and regional sustainability goals.

Compliance increases control with centralised system

In 2024, we enhanced compliance across all areas, implementing a
centralised monitoring system to support regulatory tracking and
reporting. We also conducted comprehensive risk assessments
across all regions.

The Bank remains dedicated to training employees across all
locations on sanctions, fraud prevention, anti-money laundering,
detecting and preventing terrorist and proliferation financing, anti-
bribery and corruption. We also reinforced our compliance networks,
thereby detecting and preventing several attempted frauds as well
as reporting suspected activities to law enforcement bodies across
our subsidiaries.

In 2025, GIB will continue to bolster our compliance processes
— plans include further centralisation of oversight and enhanced
monitoring of complex financial transactions.

Risk management helps diversify portfolios

Similar to other banks in the region and internationally, GIB B.S.C.
faces evolving regulatory, cybersecurity, interest rate volatility,
economic and geopolitical risks, and increased market competition.
Non-financial risk is an emerging theme, and we have been at the
forefront of incorporating this into our business. In 2024, we made
good progress and established robust frameworks. Our non-financial
risks relate to ESG, talent management, fraud, digital/Al and third
parties, among others.

To mitigate risks, we prioritise liquidity stress testing, early warning
indicators, risk identification, materiality assessment, rapid portfolio
reviews, credit underwriting and monitoring. We also undertake
industry and geographic risk assessments, with the emphasis on
concentration risk. Other focuses include customer onboarding
processes, and our non-financial risk framework and heat map.

We have fortified our mitigation strategy by investing in
technologies like data rights management, governance risk and
compliance solutions, and security orchestration systems.

We address potential rising loan defaults by continuously enhancing
our solid risk management frameworks, ensuring we have a
diversified and quality portfolio, selectively booking low-risk assets.

Ms. Sara Abdulhadi
Chief Executive Officer, GIB B.S.C.
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As we enter 2025, we
maintain our focus on
client-centricity and
value creation. These
principles are at the core
of our business, guided
by strategic pillars of
prioritisation, focus and
collaboration.
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Deals and

Transactions

Regional Transactions:

Wholesale Banking
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BEYON

GIB was mandated as an Underwriter, Initial Mandated Lead Arranger and Agent
Bank on a US$ 450 million syndicated facility for refinancing existing facilities and
general corporate purposes.

Al Dur Power & Water Co. (ADPWC)

GIB was mandated as an Underwriter, Initial Mandated Lead Arranger, Bookrunner
and IRS Hedge Provider on a US$ 1.2 billion 11-year syndicated term facility to
refinance its existing debt. ADPWC is a critical infrastructure asset for the Kingdom
of Bahrain and currently generates and supplies nearly 1/3™ of the country’s power
and water output. ADPWC was established in 2008 and is owned by ENGIE, GIC,
Kyushu Electric Power, and Bahrain’s Social Insurance Organisation.

Rakiza

GIB co-arranged a US$ 300 million subscription line facility for Rakiza Fund |, a
private equity fund co-managed by Oman Infrastructure Investment Management
and Equitix, investing in infrastructure projects in Oman and Saudi Arabia. GIB acted
as the regional structuring bank for the transaction which is backed by capital calls
from the fund’s limited partners.

Nama Group

GIB acted as the Initial Mandated Lead Arranger for term loan facilities for Nama
Electricity Distribution Company and Dhofar Integrated Services Company in June
2024. The aggregate value of the transactions was more than US$ 800MM. These
transactions underlined GIB'’s strong relationship with Nama Holding Oman.

Regional Transactions:

Deals and Transactions

Wholesale Banking
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Neptune Project Holding

GIB was mandated as a Mandated Lead Arranger and a Hedging Bank for one of the
largest private equity buyouts in the region, wherein Brookfield Asset Management
in consortium with FAB, ADQ, Mubadala and Olayan completed the acquisition of
Network International paving the way for consolidation with Magnati as part of the
transaction, endorsing one of the largest private equity buyout transaction in the
region. The transaction was partly financed with the Syndicated Term Loan Facility
of US$ 1.44 billion and balance in cash and equity.

Ahli United Bank

GIB was a Mandated Lead Arranger in a US$ 800 million sustainability-linked
murabaha financing facility. KPIs of green financing and social housing financing are
embedded into the facility. Each KPI is based on a sustainability performance target
and the profit rates will be calibrated depending on whether the relevant KPI was
achieved or not.

Investcorp Capital

GIB was mandated as an Initial Mandated Lead Arranger, Underwriter, Coordinator
and Bookrunner in a US$ 800 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility, to
be used to build upon the Capital Financing Services line of Investcorp Capital’s
business, which seeds capital for fund launches and provides underwriting deal
placement for new business.
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Deals and Transactions
continued

Regional Transactions:

Wholesale Banking
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Vision Invest

GIB was mandated as an Underwriter, Structuring Bank, Facility, and Investment Agent
fora US$ 267 million Islamic term finance facility. The facility aims at supporting
ongoing investment activities of the company.

Altakassusi Alliance Medical Limited Company

GIB financed the first privatisation transaction by the Ministry of Health in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in line with Vision 2030, being a 10-year extendable
concession agreement for privatisation of radiology services of Cluster 2. The
consortium was extended a progress payment financing facility for delivery of services
including medical services and the financing, permitting, insurance, operation, and
maintenance of seven hospitals under Cluster 2 of the Riyadh region.

Aviation Services Co. “Riyadh Air”

During FIl 8, Riyadh Air announced their inaugural debt raising of US$ 1.3 billion
revolving credit facility from eight leading financial institutions in Saudi Arabia and
GCC region US$ 167 million (each). This strategic financial arrangement highlights
Riyadh Air’s strong market positioning and readiness to make a significant impact in
the aviation sector, even before the commencement of its operations. The successful
arrangement of this facility reflects the confidence and support from the banking
community and marks a crucial step in solidifying the airline’s financial foundation
as it prepares to take to the skies. This flexible financing tool will play a critical role
in supporting Riyadh Air's ambitious aircraft acquisition activities and addressing the
airline’s short-term working capital needs as it prepares to launch operations in the
summer of 2025.

Aircraft Leasing Company “Avilease”

GIB participated in US$ 2.5 billion 5-year unsecured term facility. The unsecured term
facility was used, inter alia, to fully refinance a bridge facility AviLease raised in 2023
when acquiring the Standard Chartered aircraft leasing platform. The facility was
supported by a syndicate of banking partners across three continents, and a reflection
of AvilLease’s global aircraft leasing reach. AviLease will continue to explore a variety
of debt funding sources as it delivers on its ambitious strategic objectives which aims
to contribute to the development of the aviation ecosystem in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia.

AlNassr Club Company “AlNassr”

Expanding on GIB’s partnership with AlNassr Club, a working capital facility was
granted to AlNassr to support their operations and their growing global brand. GIB
continues to support the development of Saudi sports in collaboration with AlNassr,
as part of our commitment to the local community and supporting initiatives that
promote community partnerships and sustainable development.

Regional Transactions:

Deals and Transactions

Investment Banking
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MBC Group - Initial Public Offering

GIB Capital acted as Financial Advisor to the Substantial Shareholders on the
successful US$ 221.6 million IPO of MBC Group, offering 33.25 million shares
representing 10 per cent of its share capital. MBC Group is leading entertainment
platform in the Arab world and the first of its kind to be listed on the Saudi Exchange
as part of the Media and Entertainment index. The institutional tranche was more
than 66.0 times oversubscribed and received US$ 14.6 billion in bids; while the retail
tranche was more than 17.6 times oversubscribed. MBC was listed in January 2024.

Tihama Power Generation Company

GIB Capital acted as Financial Advisor on the sale of a 40 per cent stake in Tihama
Power Generation Company (Tihama) to Rakiza Infrastructure Fund in Oman. Tihama
has a number of gas-fired cogeneration plants located in the eastern region of Saudi
Arabia and also has a European shareholder. The sale was completed in February 2024.

Mega Real Estate Developer

GIB Capital was appointed as an independent financial advisor to a large real estate
developer in relation to the establishment of a REIT.

Gulf International Bank B.S.C. — Bond Issuance

GIB achieved a successful Reg S only US$ 500 million bond issuance in June 2024,
attracting over US$ 1.1 billion from investors with more than 2 times oversubscription.
GIB Capital acted as a Joint Active Lead Manager and Bookrunner on the transaction
and was able to raise 40 per cent of the orderbook from Saudi accounts.

Saudi Aramco - Triple-tranche Bond Issuance

Saudi Aramco priced a Reg S/ 144A US$ 6.0 billion triple-tranche project financing
transaction in July 2024. GIB Capital acted as a Passive Joint Bookrunner and
Bookrunner on the transaction. The combined orderbook closed at (6.2 times
oversubscription) with impressive price tightening of 35-40bps.

Nama Electricity Distribution Company — Sukuk Issuance

GIB Capital acted as a Joint Lead Manager and Bookrunner on a Reg S / 144A US$
750 million 7-year sukuk, priced in October 2024. The combined orderbook closed
at 3 times oversubscription with impressive price tightening of 30bps. GIB Capital
was able to generate robust orders from Saudi accounts during the first few hours of
bookbuilding, followed by significant GCC demand.

Islamic Development Bank — Euro Sukuk Issuance

GIB Capital acted as a Joint Lead Manager and Bookrunner on a Reg S only EUR

500 million 5-year sukuk, priced in October 2024. This marks GIB Capital’s first ever
participation in a Euro-denominated issuances, highlighting the bank’s expansion into
the international financial markets. GIB Capital was the only local bank to be involved
in this transaction, alongside a consortium of international banks. The transaction
marked IsDB’s second Euro-denominated issuance.
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Awards

In 2024, GIB won a wide array of awards,
reflecting our continued leadership in
digital banking, regional debt capital
markets, cross-border payments and more.
They included:

Nl

EMEA Finance Awards

¢ Best Syndicated Loan House in the
Middle East

¢ Best Sustainability-Linked Loan in
EMEA

¢ Best Sub-Sovereign Syndicated Loan in
the Middle East

¢ Best Syndicated Loan in the Middle
East

¢ Best Foreign Bank in Oman

¢ Best Loan House in Oman

¢ Best Loan House in Bahrain

+ Best Local Debt House in Bahrain

¢ Best Local Investment Bank in Bahrain

¢ Best Payment Services in the Middle
East

CONTENTS O
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The Digital Banker

Best Bank for Payments & Collections —
Middle East

Best Bank for Cash Management -
Bahrain

Best Bank for Payments & Collections —
Bahrain

Best Bank for Supply Chain Finance -
Bahrain

Best API Initiative
Best ERP Integration Initiative
Best Virtual Account Initiative

Best Digital Treasury Management
Initiative

Asian Banking & Finance Awards

¢ Bahrain Domestic Cash Management

Bank of the Year

¢ UAE International Cash Management

Bank of the Year

+ Bahrain Domestic Foreign Exchange

Bank of the Year

+ Green Deal of the Year — Bahrain
+ Debt Deal of the Year - Bahrain

Global Finance - The Innovator

¢+ Best SCF Onboarding Solution

4 \“\Q
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Bahrain Association of Banks
- Digital Transformation in the
Banking Sector Awards

+ Best Digital Financial Institution
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Sustainability
Review

GIB is committed to integrating
sustainability, including environmental,
social and governance (ESG) factors,
across the business. We consider
sustainability both in terms of the
financial products and services we
provide to our clients, and in the way we
conduct our own business.

We believe that finance can be a force for good, to boost
productivity and enable human flourishing. We know that we
have an important role to play in supporting all of our clients in

the transition to a more sustainable economic system. In 2024,

we prioritised the following areas:

® Expanding our sustainable finance activities and supporting
clients on sustainability-related matters.

® Embedding sustainability goals into or own operations,
particularly with respect to meeting environmental
performance and gender representation targets.

® Reporting transparently on our sustainability-related
activities and impacts.

® Engaging with policymakers and regulators on relevant
sustainability-related matters.

Additional details on the Bank’s sustainability approach, record
and metrics can be found in our 2024 Sustainability Report
which will be published shortly.

CONTENTS G

ENVIRONMENTAL

Increased sustainable finance
labelled lending and took our first
green deposit.

SOCIAL

Supporting CSR and sustainability
initiatives aligned with Bahrain’s and
Saudi Arabia’s Vision 2030.

Sustainability Review

We know that we have
an important role to
play in supporting all
of our clients in the
transition to a more
sustainable economic

system.

Consistently and progressively
adopting and implementing best
practice corporate governance
standards.
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Corporate Social
Responsibility Review

Give back,
Make an Impact!

Supporting communities through
CSR and volunteering

Since 1975, GIB has developed a
tradition of actively participating,
donating and collaborating with
the communities in which we
operate. The Bank’s approach to
corporate social responsibility
(CSR) is to identify and partner
with groups, causes, communities,
stakeholders and initiatives where
we can ensure long-term positive
results from our philanthropic and
voluntary involvement.

CSR activities also provide a valuable
opportunity for our people to volunteer
their time in support of others, and the
Bank proactively encourages and assists
them to do so.

The ‘Give Back, Make an Impact’
volunteering programme was launched

in Bahrain in January 2023 as part of
sustainability-linked employee benefits.
Endorsed by GIB’s Sustainability Council,
all Bahrain-based employees are granted
a volunteering day in addition to their
annual leave entitlement to allow them to
carry out volunteer work at one of GIB's
approved charities.

This is the first phase of the programme,
with plans for future expansion. In 2024
alone, the programme grew to having over
70 volunteers participate in that year’s
initiatives, with five dedicated volunteers
that have been involved with almost every
initiative.

CONTENTS O

2024 CSR Activities in the GCC:

CSR Initiative

Overview

Bahrain Cancer
Society

In collaboration with Bahrain Cancer Society, GIB volunteers
visited the cancer ward at Salmaniya Medical Complex to
extend their support to young cancer patients.

National Initiative for
Agricultural Development

GIB participates in the Forever Green tree planting
campaigns in Bahrain with Bahrain’s National Initiative for
Agricultural Development. Since the launch of the campaign
in 2022, GIB has supported the initiative by planting over
400 trees in areas in need of greenification.

Bahrain Food Bank
(Hefth Al Neama)

In the holy month of Ramadan, GIB collaborated with Hefth
Al Neama Society to prepare 150 Ramadan food baskets for
needy families, as well as distributing 500 meals to those in
need.

Alia Rehabilitation Centre

GIB partnered with Alia Rehabilitation Centre as one of
the sponsors for their annual Run for Autism marathon in
support of World Autism Awareness Month.

Al Sanabel Orphan
Care Society

GIB volunteers took children from Al Sanabel Orphan Care
Society shopping for Eid Al-Adha to share the joy of Eid.

Kayan Rehabilitation
Centre

GIB volunteers visited Kayan Rehabilitation Centre to
support children with autism.

Shaikh Ebrahim Bin
Mohammed Al-Khalifa
Centre for Culture and
Research

(Manamat Al Gosaibi)

This non-profit association restores and safekeeps the
local community’s heritage and has so far renovated 28 old
houses. GIB is a platinum sponsor of the centre.

Husn Al Jawar

GIB donated to Husn Al Jawar, a registered approved charity
in Bahrain, to help estranged women in society in need of
financial support, training and development.

Bahrain Down
Syndrome Society

GIB supported the Bahrain Down Syndrome Society
with a donation to construct an early intervention and
rehabilitation room at the society’s care centre.

University of Bahrain

GIB supported University of Bahrain in improving the
learning experience for students by providing interactive
smart screens in classrooms and improving the laboratories
by donating desktop PCs.

CSR Initiative

Overview

Morooj Foundation,
under the National
Center for Vegetation
Cover Development
and Combating
Desertification

A community partnership with the Morooj Foundation

to plant over 22,000 trees, including mangroves, across
the Eastern Province. This effort combats desertification,
reduces sand encroachment and preserves natural
resources, supporting the region’s long-term environmental
and economic development.

King Abdulaziz Center
for World Culture - Ithra

As part of our strategy to deepen our community presence
in Saudi Arabia’s Eastern Province, we partnered with Ithra
in 2024 to sponsor “Tanween Ithra’s Creativity Season”,
fostering Saudi youth development through creative,
sustainable programmes focused on talent development
and cross-cultural experiences.

Aknan Charity

GIB Saudi Arabia provided support to Aknan Charity to
enhance cooperation and joint efforts to improve the
quality of residential and developmental programmes in the
Eastern Province, contributing towards Vision 2030.

Running Race
Company

GIB supported the 26™ Al Shargiyah International Race, held
at Al Khobar Corniche under the patronage of His Royal
Highness Prince Saud bin Nayef bin Abdulaziz Al Saud,
Governor of the Eastern Province. The sponsorship reflects
GIB’s dedication to promoting community well-being, health
and inclusivity across Saudi Arabia.

Saudi Food Bank

GIB volunteers prepared food baskets in cooperation with
the Saudi Food Bank Charity in Dammam as part of our
Ramadan baskets initiative.

Children with Disability
Association

GIB supported the Saudi Children with Disability
Association’s “Mubadarat” programme, funding educational
and rehabilitation sessions to develop the children’s
linguistic, cognitive, social and motor skills, based on their
abilities.

Saudi Cancer
Foundation

GIB partnered with the Saudi Cancer Foundation to raise
cancer awareness and support the society in providing
quality healthcare for cancer patients in the Eastern
Province.

Corporate Social Responsibility Review

CSR in the UK: encouraging
inclusive and engaging
volunteering

The GIB UK Volunteering Initiative is a
well-established programme that enables
employees to engage in both personal
and corporate volunteering efforts during
working hours. Every UK-based colleague
is granted two full days per calendar year
to participate in volunteering, promoting
a culture of community engagement and
social impact. Teams and departments
are also encouraged to incorporate
volunteering activities into their offsite
agendas.

In 2024, the GIB UK team participated in
several impactful community initiatives.
The team welcomed young adults from
AFK, a charity that supports neurodiverse
children and young adults, to their office.
As part of this partnership, colleagues
hosted sessions on workplace skills, CV
writing tips and interview preparation.

In collaboration with the Port of London
Authority, the GIB UK team participated
in a River Thames clean-up, collecting
litter along the shoreline. As part of the
Time4Trees initiative, the team planted
over 400 trees to offset GIB UK’s carbon
emissions.

GIB UK’s IT team volunteered with the
Children’s Book Project, in partnership
with HandsOn London. This initiative
redistributes new and used books to
children and their families, helping to
address the lack of book ownership among
young people. In addition, the GIB UK team
supported Soup Kitchen London Street
Outreach, walking through London to
distribute food and well-being packages to
rough sleepers.

CSRin the USA

GIB USA is proud to contribute to Seeds

of Peace with a donation to support youth
from communities in conflict, helping them
come together, develop deep connections
across divides and learn the value and
practice of dialogue.
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Economic
Review

During 2024, the lingering
impacts of inflation and
the direction of monetary
policy reinforced the
relentless uncertainty that
has dominated our post-
pandemic world.

Global Macro Views

During 2024, the lingering impacts of inflation and the direction
of monetary policy reinforced the relentless uncertainty that has
dominated our post-pandemic world. Nevertheless, global growth
continued to surprise on the upside despite many challenges
facing advanced economies in Europe and the United Kingdom.
Exceptional economic strength in the United States and across
key emerging market economies defied expectations of an
impending global slowdown, with the shift in China’s economic
stance adding to the momentum. The Chinese government
unveiled plans to stimulate the economy by addressing various
challenges including combatting deflation, stabilising the real
estate market, boosting capital markets, supporting industry and
corporate sectors, and meeting annual growth targets.

2024 was also a record-breaking year for global elections
involving more than two billion voters in fifty countries. The
ousting of incumbent parties across the globe highlighted

that, despite improving growth, unemployment and inflation,
underlying socio-economic worries ran deep. The most pivotal
event of the global election cycle was the presidential vote

in the United States, the outcome of which fuelled positive
expectations. US stock markets hit record highs, the dollar rose
against a number of currencies, while Bitcoin also hit an all-
time high.

Economic Review

Nevertheless, heightened geopolitical tensions continued to
loom large and persistently overshadowed all developments.
impact was particularly pronounced across financial marke
risk assets, notably in the fixed income space, oscillated on
many drivers of uncertainty.

Disinflation trends became evident in the second hal
year, albeit at a slower pace, allowing major centr.
embark on monetary policy easing, with the US
taking the lead. The exception remained the Bank of Japan, the
only outlier among the developed countries, to pursue policy
tightening and, in the process, finally exit years of negative
interest rates. Although average global rates started to decline,
the dominant expectation was for policy rates to settle at higher
levels.

Meanwhile, excitement surrounding the potential for artificial
intelligence (Al) and technological innovations to transform the
global economy became increasingly prominent in the second half
of 2024. At the same time, debate over the pace of adoption of
new technologies and the potential profitability of commercial
applications also created considerable uncertainty. Also, Al
adoption curves and economic significance are likely to vary by
country; however, the focus remained on developments in the US,
as the standout country with substantial first-mover advantage
in the Al space.
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Global Macro Views (continued)
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Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC)

Robust government spending continued to buoy non-oil activity
throughout 2024, underpinning economic resilience against the
volatile oil sector amid production cuts and periods of oil price
weakness driven by softer demand. The strong performance of
the region’s Purchasing Managers’ Index (PMl) is a testament to
this growth, with strong activity across the GCC manufacturing,
services, construction, and retail sectors. Robust consumer
spending has further underpinned improved conditions, notably
driven by the impressive jump in e-commerce. Economic
conditions also benefitted from the recent easing of regional
interest rates (in line with the rate cuts by the US Federal
Reserve).

Despite the downturn in the GCC oil sectors, rating agencies
remained positive about the region’s outlook, with rating and/

or outlook upgrades for Saudi Arabia, Qatar and Oman. Efforts

in comprehensive structural economic reforms and investments
were cited as transformative by the rating agencies, and are
expected to support the ongoing development of the non-oil
economy and the sustainability of public finances in the near-
term. These will further bolster GCC sovereign balance sheets and
liquidity buffers, while allowing ambitious economic diversification
efforts to continue at a vigorous pace.

Despite the downturn in the
GCC oil sectors, rating agencies
remained positive about the
region’s outlook, with rating
and/or outlook upgrades for
Saudi Arabia, Qatar and Oman.

Economic Review

The rating actions have occurred despite weaker performance

in the oil sector and the rise in GCC’s external debt. Sovereign
bond issuances in 2024 exceeded those of 2023 by 41 per cent,
while nearly US$ 197 billion of US dollar debt will mature up to
2026. Underlying this growth is the GCC’s countercyclical fiscal
policy, which involves restraining spending and paying down debt
during periods of high oil prices and reversing this trend to provide
support during periods of low oil prices. This has allowed for
balanced economic performance, given the continued importance
of oil revenues in funding economic diversification programmes.
As aresult, a sizeable accumulation of foreign exchange reserves
and sovereign wealth fund assets has more than offset the
increase in debt levels.

Credit default swap spreads of the GCC have improved
significantly from the highs reached in 2020 and remained
relatively stable throughout 2024. Nevertheless, the impressive
stability and ambitious reform programmes face some key near-
term challenges, notably the potential for a sustained decline in
oil prices and/or a material deterioration in regional geopolitical
conditions. The fiscal breakeven oil prices for most GCC countries
remained above average oil prices, with higher spending demands
further widening the gap for some regional economies. This,
however, is offset by region’s ample foreign exchange reserves,
which should enable GCC countries to manage an oil price
downturn in the near-term. Cumulative foreign exchange reserves
have recovered post-pandemic, standing at US$ 744 billion as

of December 2024 (34 per cent of estimated 2024 GDP). These
reserves are highly invested in liquid assets, with Saudi Arabia
accounting for 55 per cent of the GCC total. In addition, the
combined assets under management by GCC sovereign wealth
funds are on an upward trajectory, reaching US$ 4.8 trillion by
December 2024.
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continued

Looking Ahead

The near-term growth momentum and outlook for the GCC
countries remains positive. Oil prices are likely to stay at
supportive levels, enabling regional economic policies to remain
firmly focused on diversification and decoupling development
and growth from oil. Demonstrated government commitment
and accumulated financial surpluses are expected to continue

Short-term Drivers of Growth

providing headroom for capital spending, led by the sovereign
wealth funds rather than drawing from fiscal budgets. Efforts
will also continue to accelerate in embedding sustainability at
the forefront of development plans, including investments in
renewable energy, reductions in energy consumption and carbon
intensity, and enhancing the role of sustainable finance.

Improved macroeconomic environment with an acceleration in headline real GDP growth across

the GCC region.

Dynamic growth and expansion prospects in the non-oil sector.

Improvement in China’s economic momentum.

Data-driven and consumer-centric business models.

Expansion in sports, hospitality and entertainment sectors.

Long-term Drivers of Growth

® Vision programmes driving the diversification of economic sectors.

The Middle East region’s growing pivot towards Asia.

Innovation and digitalisation as key pillars of economic growth.

The green transition and sustainable development at the forefront.

Global megatrends driving future opportunities in areas such as clean energy, mobility,
connectivity, sustainable consumption, bioengineering and space technologies.

Increasing investments into renewables and clean energy.

Higher foreign direct investment inflows.
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GCC ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS
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GCC Stock Market Capitalisation

2024 US$ 4.19 trillion
2023 US$ 4.38 trillion
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Key ratios for group financials

2024 2023 2022 2021
CAR 156%  1894% 17.30% 16.10%
NSFR 142.8% 14297% 161.50% 146.20%
LCR 149.4% 137.77% 299.30% 176.30%
Loans to Deposits* 451%  3361% 42.80% 44.70%
NPL ratio 1.1% 1.77% 1.60% 2.50%
Provision Coverage Ratio 212% 157% 161% 113%

!Deposits includes senior and subordinated term financing.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income for 2024 increased to US$ 522.2 million,
up from US$ 498.5 million in the previous year, reflecting a five
per cent rise. This growth was driven by higher net interest
margins from core business activities, a dynamic balance sheet
structure, and improved lending margins.

Interest income on loans and advances rose by 15 per cent
year-on-year to US$ 1,062.4 million, while interest income on
investment securities increased by 22 per cent to US$ 408.4
million. Additionally, interest income on placements and other
liquid assets grew by 28 per cent to US$ 1,202.4 million.

As a result, the Bank’s net interest income increased by
US$ 23.7 million, representing an increase of five per cent.

Gross income development
(US$ millions)

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

@ Net interest income @ Non-interest income ® Gross income
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Non-Interest Income

Fee and commission income reached US$ 121.8 million, marking
a 19 per cent increase over the prior year. Commissions on
letters of credit and guarantees, totalling US$ 47.7 million, were
the largest source of fee-based income, comprising 37 per cent
of gross fee and commission income for the year, reflecting

the Bank’s strategy to reduce reliance on net interest income.
This was also complemented by fees relating to loan agency,
underwriting and distribution fees comprising 15 per cent of
gross fee and commission income. This growth in fees resulted
in a higher fee-to-gross income ratio of 17 per cent, up from

14 per cent last year. An analysis of fee and commission
income with prior year comparatives is set out in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Investment banking and asset management fees of US$ 33.0
million represented 26 per cent of gross fee and commission
income.

The Group’s various trading activities generated an income of
US$ 19.2 million for 2024, compared to US$ 60.9 million in the
previous year. An analysis of trading income is set out in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements. Trading income
principally comprised mark-to-market changes recorded on
equity securities and funds classified as fair value through profit
or loss (FVTPL), commodity options and customer-related
interest rate derivatives.

An income of US$ 20.9 million was recorded on trading
investments in equity managed funds driven by positive market
conditions. As set out in the analysis of trading securities in
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, the majority
of the Group’s trading activities relate to seed investments in
funds managed by the Group’s investment banking and asset
management subsidiaries, GIB Capital and GIB UK.

Foreign exchange income for the year was US$ 32.5 million
in 2024, down from US$ 37.2 million in 2023. This comprises
customer-initiated foreign exchange contracts.

Other income stood at US$ 20.5 million in 2024, up from

US$ 8.5 million in the previous year. An analysis of other income
is set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
Recoveries on previously written-off loans totalled US$ 16.7
million, compared to US$ 8.5 million in the previous year.

Operating Expenses

The increase in operating expenses by 13 per cent to US$ 450.0
million is primarily attributed to the Bank’s commitment to
workforce development, technology upgrades, and initiatives
aimed at enhancing business-related and operational efficiency.

Staff expenses at US$ 271.8 million accounted for 60 per cent
of total operating expenses. This was higher than the previous
year, reflecting the Bank’s continued investment in strengthening
its human capital.

Provisions

The Group recorded a net provision charge of US$ 54.9

million, compared with US$ 112.0 million in the previous year,
demonstrating the Bank’s prudent risk management approach.
Net loan provision charges for loans and advances stood at

US$ 50.6 million, compared to US$ 108.4 million in 2023. This
comprised a US$ 25.2 million specific (Stage 3) provision charge,
and a US$ 25.4 million non-specific (Stages 1 and 2) provision
charge. A US$ 0.9 million provision charge was booked for Stage
1 investment securities, and a US$ 0.2 million provision release
was recorded for placements. As a result of these provision
charges, the cost of risk stood at 40 basis points (bps) for 2024,
compared to 91 bps in the previous year, ensuring adequate
coverage for potential credit losses and strengthening the
overall risk profile. Please refer to note 28 in the consolidated
financial statements.

Capital Strength

Total equity amounted to US$ 3,516.5 million as at
31 December 2024, of which US$ 2,475.5 million was
attributable to the shareholders of the Bank.

With a total regulatory capital base of US$ 3,649.5 million and
total risk-weighted exposures of US$ 23,402.5 million, the risk
asset ratio, calculated in accordance with the Central Bank

of Bahrain’s Basel lll guidelines, was 15.6 per cent, while the
Tier 1 ratio stood at 13.6 per cent. These ratios are above the
regulatory thresholds as set out by the Central Bank of Bahrain.
Tier 1 capital comprised 87 per cent of the total regulatory
capital base. In accordance with international regulatory
guidelines, unrealised gains and losses on equity investments
classified as FVTOCI are included in the regulatory capital base.

The capital adequacy ratio incorporates both market and
operational risk-weighted exposures. The Group applies the
standardised approach for calculating market and operational
risk.

The Risk Management and Capital Adequacy report, set out

in a later section of the Annual Report, provides further detail
on capital adequacy and the Group’s capital management
framework. The Group’s policies regarding capital management
are outlined in note 31.5 to the consolidated financial
statements. As detailed in the note, the Group’s policy is to
maintain a strong capital base to sustain investor, counterparty,
and market confidence, and to support the future development
of the Group’s business.

Financial Review

Asset Quality

The geographical distribution of risk assets is set out in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements. The credit risk profile
of financial assets, based on internal credit ratings, is detailed in
note 31.1(b), demonstrating that 82.6 per cent of all financial
assets - comprising liquid assets, placements, securities, loans,
and credit-related contingent items - were rated 4 or above, i.e.
at or above the equivalent of investment-grade rated.

Further assessment of asset quality is referenced in note

41.7 to the consolidated financial statements, which covers

the fair value of financial instruments. Based on the valuation
methodologies outlined in that note, the net fair values of all on-
and off-balance sheet financial instruments as at 31 December
2024 were not significantly different to their carrying amounts.

Gross income composition
(%)

100 100

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

@ Net interest income @ Fee & commission income
@ Foreign exchange, trading & other income
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Investment Securities

Investment securities totalled US$ 7,279.4 million as at

31 December 2024. The investment securities portfolio
primarily represents the Group’s liquidity reserve and accordingly,
principally comprises investment-grade rated debt securities
issued by major international and regional financial institutions
and government-related entities.

The Group’s investment securities portfolio comprises high-
quality debt securities classified at amortised cost, held across
various portfolios within each of its entities. It primarily consists
of floating rate securities or fixed rate securities that have

been swapped to yield constant spreads over benchmark rates
and treasury bills. These accounted for US$ 4,170.7 million, or
59 per cent of total gross investment debt securities at 2024
year-end. The remaining debt security portfolio represents the
investment of the Group’s net free capital in fixed rate securities
and short-term treasury bills issued by GCC governments. This
portfolio amounted to US$ 2,901.2 million at year-end and
comprised investments in GCC and OECD government-related
fixed-rate bonds.

During 2024, the Group began investing in high-quality debt
securities classified at fair value through other comprehensive
income, amounting to US$ 190.6 million.

Equity investments at the end of 2024 amounted to US$ 20.6
million, comprising mainly private equity-related investments of
US$ 15.5 million and listed equities of US$ 5.1 million.

An analysis of the investment securities portfolio by rating
category is set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements. US$ 6,335.0 million, or 87.3 per cent of the debt
securities, at 2024 year-end were rated A- / A3 or above. Based
on the rating of the issuer, a further US$ 111.4 million, or 1.5
per cent, of the debt securities represented other investment-
grade rated securities. US$ 812.4 million, or 11.2 per cent, of
debt securities were rated below investment-grade, i.e. below
BBB- / Baa3. These principally comprised debt securities issued
by GCC governments.

There were no past due or impaired investment securities as
at 31 December 2024. All debt securities were categorised as
Stage 1 for provisioning purposes.

CONTENTS<:>

Capital Adequacy ratio
(%)

189
17.2 17.3
15.6
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
@ Capital Adequacy ratio
Asset mix by category
(%)
100

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

@ Placements & other liquid assets @ Loans & advances
@ Securities @ Other

Loans and Advances

The Bank reported net loans and advances of US$ 15,402.3
million at the end of 2024, an increase from US$ 13,624.6
million at the end of the previous year. Gross loans and advances
were US$ 1,740.4 million higher than at 2023 year-end,
representing a 10 per cent compounded annual growth rate
(CAGR) since 2021. The asset quality of the loan book, alongside
the Bank’s continued focus on selective loan extensions is
reflected in the quality of the loan book, with 93.4 per cent of
net loans being Stage 1.

Based on contractual maturities at the balance sheet date,

59 per cent of the loan portfolio was due to mature within one
year, while 18 per cent was due to mature within three years.
Only 10 per cent of loans were due to mature beyond five years.
Details of the classification of loans and advances by industry
are set out in note 12.3 to the consolidated financial statements,
while the geographical distribution of loans and advances can be
found in note 32.

As at 31 December 2024, the largest industry sector exposure
was to the financial sector, comprising 18.3 per cent of gross
loans, compared to 18.2 per cent at the end of 2023. This was
followed by the trading and services sector, which accounted for
13.8 per cent.

The credit risk profile of loans and advances, based on internal
credit ratings, is set out in note 31.1(b) to the consolidated
financial statements. US$ 9,386.9 million, or 61.1 per cent

of total loans, were rated 4 or above, i.e. the equivalent of
investment-grade. Only US$ 773.9 million, or 5.0 per cent

of loans and advances, net of provisions for impairment,
were classified as Stage 2 exposures in accordance with

IFRS 9, i.e. loan exposures that had experienced a significant
increase in credit risk since inception. In addition, exposures
classified as Stage 3 in accordance with IFRS 9 amounted to
US$ 48.8 million, or only 0.3 per cent of loans and advances,
net of provisions for impairment. Stage 3 exposures are those
exposures which are specifically provisioned based on the
present value of expected future cash flows.

Total loan loss provisions as at 31 December 2024 amounted
to US$ 301.6 million. Counterparty-specific provisions (Stage 3)
amounted to US$ 118.7 million while non-specific provisions
(Stages 1 and 2) were US$ 182.9 million. Total provisions of
US$ 301.6 million represented 180.1 per cent of the gross
book value of non-performing loans. During 2024, US$ 87.6
million of 100 per cent provisioned loans were transferred to
the memorandum records. This resulted in the utilisation of an
equivalent amount of Stage 3 provisions, reflecting a healthy
NPL ratio of 1.1 per cent compared to 1.8 per cent in 2023,
and improving the overall provision coverage ratio from 157.5
per centin 2023 to 211.8 per cent in 2024.

Financial Review

Investment debt securities rating profile
(%)

BBB+ to BBB-/Baal to Baa3
111.4

BB+ to BB-/Bal to Ba3
812.4

AAA to A-/Aaa to A3

6,335
Loan maturity profile
(%)

Years 4 & 5

2,051.2

Over 5 years
1,475.9

15,402.3
100%

Year 1
9,136.3

Years 2 & 3
2,738.9
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Loans and Advances (continued)

Specific provisions are determined based on the recoverable
amount of the loan. The recoverable amount is measured as
the present value of the expected future cash flows, discounted
using the interest rate at the inception of the facility.

For the purpose of calculating the non-specific (Stages 1 and 2)
provisions, the Group only takes account of collateral held in the
form of cash or exchange-traded equities and real estate, net
of applicable haircuts. While collateral in the form of securities,
unlisted equities and physical assets is used for risk mitigation
and protection purposes, it is not included in the calculation of
non-specific provisions.

The gross and net book values of non-performing loans as
at 31 December 2024 amounted to US$ 167.5 million and
US$ 48.8 million, respectively.

NPL loan development
(US$ millions)

100 100 100 100 100

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

® NPL (US$ millions) @ NPL ratio % @ Provisions
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Other Asset Categories

Cash and other liquid assets, amounting to US$ 9,882.6 million
at the end of 2024, are analysed in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements. This principally comprises cash and
balances with central banks, and financial institutions in the key
geographical locations in which the Group operates.

Placements totalled US$ 7,266.6 million at the end of 2024, and
were well diversified by geography, as illustrated in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements. Placements were largely
with European, GCC and North American bank counterparties
and represented 17 per cent of total assets at the end of 2024,
supplemented by US$ 975.4 million of securities purchased
under agreements to resell. These represented collateralised
placements, thereby reducing the Group’s risk exposure to the
financial institution sector.

An analysis of trading securities is set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements. Trading securities at US$
328.4 million as at 31 December 2024, largely comprised
investments in funds managed by GIB’s subsidiaries, GIB Capital
and GIB UK.

Risk Asset and Commitment Exposure

Risk asset and commitment exposure as at 31 December
2024 amounted to US$ 49,751 million. These comprise all
assets included in the balance sheet (except for other assets)
and credit-related contingent items. As referred to earlier, an
analysis of risk asset and commitment exposure by category
and geography is contained in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements. US$ 32,420 million, or 65.2 per cent of
total risk assets and commitments, represented exposure to
counterparties and entities located in the GCC states. The
remaining risk asset exposure largely represented short-term
placements with major European banks, and investment
securities issued by highly rated issuers in Europe, North
America, and Asia. An analysis of derivative and foreign
exchange products is set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements, while a further analysis of credit-related
contingent items, together with their risk-weighted equivalents,
is contained in note 36.

Funding

Bank and customer deposits as at 31 December 2024
totalled US$ 29,860.4 million. Customer deposits amounted
to US$ 28,195.2 million, representing 94.4 per cent of total
deposits, while bank deposits totalled US$ 1,655.2 million,
accounting for 5.6 per cent.

Total deposits are analysed by geography in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements. US$ 19,849.8 million,

or 66.5 per cent of total deposits, were derived from
counterparties in GCC countries. Deposits derived from non-
MENA countries, principally Europe, amounted to US$ 10,010.6
million, or 33.5 per cent of total deposits. These are primarily
booked in GIB UK which is considered as a liability driven balance
sheet wherein they receive short term funds and place them

in interbank markets at a spread. The Group is, therefore, a net
placer of funds in the international interbank market.

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase (repos) totalled
US$ 1,848.8 million as at 31 December 2024. The Group utilises
its high-quality, highly-rated investment securities to raise
funding on a collateralised basis, as well as constantly validating
the ability to repo securities as part of the Group’s liquidity
contingency plans.

Senior term financing and subordinated term financing as

at 31 December 2024 totalled US$ 5,973.2 million. During
2023, GIB — KSA subsidiary successfully issued a subordinated
financing facilities under Tier 2 Sukuk programme, which are
restricted to qualified institutional clients, maturing in ten years
and callable in five years. Term financing and equity represented
151.4 per cent of loans maturing beyond one year.

Further commentary on liquidity and funding is provided in the
Risk Management and Capital Adequacy report.

Financial Review

Risk asset and commitment exposure

Europe
10,033.2

North America
5,277.0

Asia

49,750.8
100%
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Other MENA
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Deposits - geographical profile

Other countries
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SOUND GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Since Gulf International Bank B.S.C. (“GIB” or the “Bank”) was
established back in 1975, its Agreement of Establishment and
Articles of Association (“AoA”), executed at the time by the
Gulf Cooperation Council (“GCC”) Governments that created
it, set the foundation of solid governance practices for the
Bank. From the start, sound corporate governance has been
essential at GIB, both in achieving organisational integrity and
efficiency as well as in attaining fairness to all stakeholders.

Over the years, GIB has progressively adopted and
implemented standards of corporate governance and has
regularly published a statement on corporate governance in its
annual reports since 2003.

Currently, GIB has in place many measures that are

hallmarks of good corporate governance practices, such as
comprehensive corporate governance policies, charter and
mandates for the Board of Directors (“Board”) and for Directors
and for Board Committees; a Code of Conduct (Code of
Conduct, Ethics and Avoiding Conflicts of Interest) published
on the Bank’s website; a dedicated Corporate Governance
Unit; and a variable remuneration framework that is fully
compliant with the Sound Remuneration Practices issued by
the Central Bank of Bahrain “CBB”.

Corporate Governance Report

Pursuant to the issuance of the newly introduced
Environmental, Social and Governance Requirements

(“ESG”) by the CBB, the requirements on ESG reporting were
embedded under the relevant policies including the Corporate
Governance Policy which has been updated in line with the
new ESG reporting requirements.

GIB owns a network of consolidated Subsidiary companies
that form the Group globally (collectively referred to as “GIB
Group”). Accordingly, the Board have adopted a Subsidiary
Corporate Governance Policy to outline the corporate
governance framework of the GIB Group Subsidiaries and
main principles for promoting sound corporate governance
practices across the Group. The purpose of this Policy is

to establish a coherent, well-functioning and transparent
governance system within the GIB Group to ensure sound
governance practices, with clear lines of responsibility

and accountability across the Group consistent with

each Subsidiary’s applicable legal requirements under the
jurisdiction it operates in. Each of the Subsidiaries has a board
and management structure appropriate forits activities and
complexity.
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Corporate Governance Report
continued

SOUND GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (continued)

The Corporate Governance Policy, Board Charter and its
respective Committees’ Mandates are subject to an annual
review to ensure that they continue to reflect the current
processes, best practices and any new regulatory requirements.
During 2024, the Board approved updates to the relevant
documents in February 2024 and September 2024.

The relevant corporate governance policies are posted in its
entirety on the Bank’s website (www.gib.com), and largely
reflects the corporate governance requirements contained in the
HC Module of the CBB Rulebook Volume 1.

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated within the CBB
Rulebook on the annual disclosure to the Board of Directors,
regarding the employment of relatives of the approved persons
occupying controlled functions within Bank, the Chief Executive
Officer has declared to the Board of Directors that there are

no relatives of any member occupying approved person in-
controlled functions within the Bank for the year 2024.

The measures adopted by GIB formally entrenched a culture

of professional corporate governance in the organisation. They
also demonstrated GIB's commitment to financial transparency,
fairness and disclosure of financial information that will benefit
all users of such information, including regulators, customers,
counterparties, rating agencies and other stakeholders.

In March of every year, the Board prepares for its Shareholders’
Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) a report on GIB’s corporate
governance in line with the relevant CBB rules.

GIB discloses in the Annual Report additional information
required to be disclosed in accordance with Section PD-1.3.8
Public Disclosures Module of the CBB Rulebook Volume 1, and
the Board also discloses to the Shareholders the information
required to be disclosed to them annually in accordance with
Section PD-6.1.1 of the Rulebook.

To ensure the Bank continues to adhere to applicable corporate
governance rules and regulations, the Governance, Nomination
& Remuneration Committee annually reviews a report on the
Bank’s compliance with the CBB Rulebook including the HC
Module and Commercial Companies Law of the Kingdom of
Bahrain.
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SHAREHOLDERS
The current shareholding structure of GIB is as follows:

Percentage of

Shareholder shareholding

Public Investment Fund

[e)
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 97.226%
Kuwait Investment Authority 5
State of Kuwait 0.730%
Qatar Holding Company .
State of Qatar 0.730%
Bahrain Mumtalakat Holding Company 04389
Kingdom of Bahrain : o
Oman Investment Authority 5
Sultanate of Oman 0.438%
Ministry of Finance .
. o}

United Arab Emirates

ORGANISATION - RULES AND ROLES

GIB maintains a corporate governance structure that delineates
and segregates the functions, roles and responsibilities of the
Board and Management, and ensures that the requisite separate
attribution of responsibilities between them is maintained:

® There is an effective and appropriately constituted Board
responsible for the stewardship of the Bank and the
supervision of its business; it receives from Management
all information required to properly fulfil its duties and the
duties of the committees that assist it; and it delegates to
Management the authority and responsibility for managing
the day-to-day business of the Bank.

® There is an effective and appropriately organised
management structure responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Bank and the implementation of Board-
approved strategy, policies and controls.

® There is a clear division of roles and responsibilities between
the Board and Management, and between the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer (CEO).

® There are defined and documented mandates and
responsibilities (as well as delegated authorities where
applicable) for Senior Management.

The Bank’s corporate governance structure and organisation
chart is set out on page 42 of this Annual Report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Under GIB’s AoA, the Board may comprise up to 10 members

to be appointed or elected every three years. The AoA gives

the right to each Shareholder holding 10 per cent of the share
capital to members on the Board. The Shareholders exercising
this right also have the right to terminate such appointment and
replace the relevant Directors. The appointment of Directors is
subject to prior approval from the CBB.

During November 2021, the Public Investment Fund (PIF)

- holder of 97.226% shareholding percentage- appointed

9 members on the Board of Directors for a 3-year term starting
10 November 2021 and ending on 9 November 2024. During
the annual general assembly meeting held on 31 March 2022,
the Shareholders appointed an additional Board member to
serve on the Board of Directors until 9 November 2024. At the
request of PIF, the current term of the Board of Directors and
Board-level Committees, has been extended for six months
ending on 8 May 2025, pursuant to obtaining the CBB's non-
objection with respect to the extension.

GIB has a written appointment agreement with each Director.
This agreement describes the Directors’ powers, duties,
responsibilities and accountabilities, as well as other matters
relating to their appointment, including their term, the time
commitment envisaged, their assignment on the Board
Committees, the payment of financial considerations and
expense reimbursement entitlement, and their access to
independent professional advice when needed.

At the year end, the Board comprised ten Directors of whom
five are non-executive directors including the Chairman, four
independent directors, and one executive Director, who together
bring a wide range of skills and experience to the Board. Their
biographies are set out on page 38-39 of this Annual Report.

INDEPENDENCE OF DIRECTORS

The independence or non-independence of the Directors is
subject to an annual review by the Board. As at 31 December
2024, six Directors of the Bank were classified as non-
independent in accordance with the CBB regulations, and the
remaining four Directors were classified as independent (see
table on page 29).
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for the overall business performance
and strategy of the Bank.

The Board establishes the objectives of the Bank, the adoption
and annual review of strategy, the management structure and
responsibilities, and the systems and controls framework. It
monitors Management performance, and the implementation of
strategy by Management, keeps watch over conflicts of interest,
and prevents abusive related party transactions. The Board also
receives periodic updates from the IT Taskforce which oversees
the Group’s Information Technology infrastructure and key
projects.

The Board is also responsible for the preparation and fair
representation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
and for such internal controls as the Board determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

The Board also convenes and prepares the agenda for
Shareholders’ meetings and assures equitable treatment of
Shareholders including minority Shareholders.

Finally, the Board delegates to Management the responsibility
for the day-to-day management of the Bank in accordance with
policies, guidelines and parameters set by the Board.

In preparation for Board and Committee meetings, the Directors
receive, in a timely manner, regular reports and all other
information required for such meetings, supplemented by any
additional information specifically requested by the Directors
from time to time. The Directors also receive monthly financial
reports and other regular management reports that enable
them to evaluate the Bank’s and Management’s performance
against agreed objectives. As prescribed in GIB's Articles of
Association, the Board plans at least four meetings per year, with
further meetings to occur at the discretion of the Board.

During the Board meetings which took place during 2024,

five (5) directors have abstained from voting on six (6) credit

and investment proposals submitted during meetings or

by circulation, due to being professionally affiliated to the
borrowers. Moreover, there were no significant issues which were
raised to the Board regarding GIB’s business activities.
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The details of Board membership and Directors’ attendance during 2024 are set out in the following table:

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE 1 JANUARY 2024 - 31 DECEMBER 2024 MEETINGS

BOARD AND COMMITTEES’ MEETINGS DURING 2024

Corporate Governance Report

Governance,

Board
Sustainability

Type of meeting

Meeting dates

Board of Directors

7 March 2024

10 May 2024

1 August 2024

30 September 2024
7 November 2024
12 December 2024

Nomination and Climate

Executive Audit Remuneration  Risk Policy Innovation Change Executive Independent
Board members Gender Board Committee = Committee Committee Committee ~ Committee Committee Non-Executive Non-Independent
Mr. Abdulla bin Mohammed )
Al Zamil — Chairman Male ©)6 44 22 Non-Executive  Non- Independent
Mr. Abdulaziz bin Abdulrahman ;
Al-Helaissi Male ©6)6 44 2)0 Executive Non-Independent
ZEZ'EEQ Najem bin Abdullah .\ (6)6 () 4 (4) 4 Non-Executive  Non-Independent*
Mr Sul’Fan bin Abdul Malik Male ©)6 5)5 (4) 4 2)2 Non-Executive ~ Non-Independent
Al-Sheikh
Mr. Bander bin Abdulrahman Male ©)6 43 Non-Executive  Non-Independent
bin Mogren
Mr. Frank Schwab Male ©)6 (5)5 (4) 4 44 Non-Executive  Independent
Mr. Rajeev Kakar Male ©)6 (5)5 Non-Executive  Independent
Dr. Khaled Alsweilem Male ©)6 43 Non-Executive  Independent
Mr. Fahad Al-Saif Male ©)5 (4)2 Non-Executive ~ Non-Independent
Mr. Nezar Al Saie Male ©)6 %4 Non-Executive  Independent

Executive Committee

12 February 2024

7 March 2024

15 April 2024

10 May 2024

1 August 2024

18 September 2024
7 November 2024
10 December 2024
22 December 2024

Figures in (brackets) indicate the maximum number of meetings during the year.

*Classification of H.E. Dr. Najem changed to non-independent due to his appointment as member of the Audit Committee of PIF in

February 2024

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Committees of the Board derive their authorities and powers from the Board. Details of Committees’ membership and

attendance are listed in the tables below:

BOARD COMMITTEES’ MEMBERSHIP (1 January 2024 - 31 December 2024)

Audit Committee

18 February 2024
6 May 2024

30 July 2024

5 November 2024
10 December 2024

Governance, Nomination & Remuneration Committee

15 January 2024
21 February 2024
21 March 2024

11 December 2024

Board committees

Member name

Member position

Risk Policy Committee

20 February 2024
7 May 2024

8 August 2024

3 November 2024

Innovation Committee

26 February 2024
7 May 2024

29 July 2024

3 November 2024

Board Sustainability and Climate Change Committee

NEIAONREPIAMONEREIAONERIORAONERIOONOGRWNE IO RAWNE

13 May 2024
11 November 2024

Executive Committee Mr. Abdulla bin Mohammed Al Zamil Chairman
Abdulaziz bin Abdulrahman Al-Helaissi Member
Mr. Rajeev Kakar Member
Mr. Fahad Al-Saif Member
Audit Committee Mr. Rajeev Kakar Chairman
Mr. Frank Schwab Member
Mr. Sultan bin Abdul Malik Al-Sheikh Member
Governance, Nomination & H.E. Dr. Najem bin Abdullah Al-Zaid Chairman
Remuneration Committee Mr. Frank Schwab Member
Mr. Bander bin Abdulrahman bin Mogren Member
Risk Policy Committee H.E. Dr. Najem bin Abdullah Al-Zaid Chairman
Mr. Khaled Alsweilem Member
Mr. Fahad Al-Saif Member
Mr. Nezar Al Saie Member
Innovation Committee Mr. Frank Schwab Chairman
Mr. Abdulla bin Mohammed Al Zamil Member
Mr. Abdulaziz bin Abdulrahman Al-Helaissi Member
Mr. Sultan bin Abdul Malik Al-Sheikh Member
Mr. Nezar Al Saie Member
Mr. Jamal Al Kishi* Member
Board Sustainability and Climate Mr. Abdulla bin Mohammed Al Zamil Chairman
Change Committee (BSCCC) Mr. Abdulaziz bin Abdulrahman Al-Helaissi Member
Mr. Sultan bin Abdul Malik Al-Sheikh Member
Ms. Katherine Garrett-Cox Member

* Mr. Al-Kishi's membership ended on 28 February 2024.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The mandate of the Executive Committee requires it, among
other things, to:

1. Assist the Board in formulating the executive policy of the
Bank and controlling its implementation.

2. Assist the Board by reviewing, evaluating, and making
recommendations to the Board with regard to key strategic
issues or material changes in key strategic objectives or
direction.

3. Approve credit limits that exceed the authority of the CEO,
subject to the limits approved by the Board.

4. Carry out additional responsibilities specifically mandated to
it by the Board.

5. Exercise the powers of the Board on matters for which
the Board has not otherwise given specific direction in
circumstances in which it is impossible or impractical to
convene a meeting of the Board (and subject to applicable
law and GIB’s Agreement of Establishment & Articles of
Association). However, the Board may, acting unanimously,
modify or amend any decision of the Committee on such
matters.

In all cases, the members of the Committee must exercise their
business judgement to act in what they reasonably believe to be
in the best interests of the Bank and its Shareholders.

The Executive Committee also receives reports from steering
committees as delegated by the Board, mandated with
overseeing matters relating to the Bank’s future strategic
direction and transformation agenda.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in
providing oversight of (i) the integrity and reporting of the Bank’s
quarterly and annual financial statements, (i) compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements and rules of good corporate
governance; (i) the Bank’s systems of internal controls; (iv) the
qualifications, independence and performance of the Bank’s
internal and external auditors; (v) independent audits and
regulatory inspections; (vi) the review of Bank’s compliance,
auditing, accounting and financial reporting policies and
processes; and (vii) the review of internal audit, external audit
and compliance reports and ensure that senior management

is taking necessary corrective actions in a timely manner to
address any control weaknesses, non-compliance with policies,
laws and regulations, and other problems identified by auditors,
the compliance officer and other control functions.

The mandate of the Audit Committee provides further
particulars on responsibilities relating to financial statements,
internal controls, internal audit, external audit, regulatory
compliance reporting and complaints/whistleblowing. The
Chief Auditor and the Group Chief Compliance Officer report
functionally to the Audit Committee and administratively to the
GIB BSC CEO.
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BOARD RISK POLICY COMMITTEE

The Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities in respect of setting the overall risk appetite,
parameters and limits within which the Bank conducts its
activities. On an on-going basis, the Committee:

1. Ensures that policies in respect of management of all
significant risks are drafted and approved appropriately.

2. Receives, reviews, challenges and recommends for approval
by the Board any proposed amendments to the overall risk
appetite of the Bank.

3. Monitors whether Management maintains a culture that
rewards the recognition, communication and management of
risks.

4. Ensures that roles and responsibilities for risk management
are clearly defined, with Group and/or division heads directly
responsible, and that heads of risk management and the
control functions are in supporting or monitoring roles,
independent of business development.

5. Ensures that Management reports significant excesses and
exceptions, as and when they arise, to the Committee for
information and review.

6. Ensures that, on a timely basis, Management informs the
Committee of all significant risks arising, and that it is
comfortable with Management's responses and actions taken
to address such findings.

7. Reviews the Banks risk profile and significant risk positions
and in so doing: this includes (but may not be limited to) the
following:

o Receives reports on credit exposure by country, credit
rating, industry/concentration, nonperforming loans and
credit stress tests.

o Receives reports on liquidity and market risk positions
including related stress tests and contingency funding plan
testing.

0 Receives updates on operational risk management and
non-financial risks.

o Receives updates on cyber risks
o Receives updates on strategic risks

o Receives updates on other risks e.g,, fraud risk, information
technology risk, etc.

GOVERNANCE, NOMINATION & REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The principal objective of the Committee is to help the Board
with ensuring that the Bank’s remuneration levels remain
competitive for GIB to continue to attract, retain and motivate
competent staff to achieve the strategy and objectives of the
Bank. The responsibilities of the Committee, as stated in its
mandate, also include, but are not limited to, the following:

Nomination matters

1. Assess the skills and competencies required by the Senior
Management and the extent to which the required skills are
represented by the Senior Management;

2. Establish processes for the review of the performance of
the individual Senior Executive and Senior Management as a
whole; subject senior management to annual performance
assessment and document such assessments for the Board
oversight. Obtain feedback on performance evaluation of the
Chief Risk Officer, Chief Internal Auditor, Head of Compliance,
Head of Internal Shariah Audit, Shariah Officer from the
designated Board committee responsible for oversight of
these functions;

3. Establish the processes for identification of suitable
candidates for Senior Management and ratifying the
recommended individuals qualified to become members of
Senior Management;

4. Establish process for the succession planning of the Senior
Management to ensure maintenance of appropriate balance
of skills and experience within the Bank. Recommend to the
Board appropriate succession plans of approved persons
within senior management;

5. Oversee human resource policies relating to recruitment,
retention, performance measurement and separation of the
CEO and Senior Management.

6. Review and supervise the implementation and enforcement
of the Bank’s code of conduct.

Remuneration matters

Reviewing and making recommendations to the Board in
respect of:

1. Review the remuneration policies for the approved persons
and material risk-takers, which must be approved by the
shareholders and be consistent with the corporate values
and strategy of the bank;

2. Approve, monitor and review the remuneration system
to ensure the system operates as intended and includes
effective controls, including back testing and stress testing
of the remuneration policy. The system should be regularly
reviewed for compliance with regulations, internal policies
and bank procedures. In addition, remuneration outcomes,
risk measurements, and risk outcomes should be regularly
reviewed for consistency with the Board’s approved risk
appetite;

3. Approve the remuneration policy and amounts for each
approved person and material risk taker, as well as total
variable remuneration to be distributed, taking account
of total remuneration including salaries, fees, expenses,
bonuses and other employee benefits;

4. Ensure remuneration is adjusted for all types of risks and
that the remuneration system takes into consideration
employees that generate the same short-run profit but take
different amount of risk on behalf of the bank;
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5. Ensure that for material risk takers, the variable
remuneration forms a considerable part of their total
remuneration;

6. Review the stress testing and back testing results before

approving the total variable remuneration to be distributed
taking account of total remuneration including salaries, fees,
expenses, bonuses and other employee benefits;

7. Carefully evaluate practices by which remuneration is paid

for potential future revenues whose timing and likelihood
remain uncertain by means of both quantitative and
qualitative key indicators. The GNRC shall question payouts
for income that cannot be realised or whose likelihood of
realisation remains uncertain at the time of payment;

8. Ensure that for approved persons in risk management,

internal audit, operations, financial controls, human
resources, information technology, legal, AML/CTF and
compliance functions, the mix of fixed and variable
remuneration is weighted in favour of fixed remuneration;

9. Ensure appropriate compliance mechanisms are in place

to ensure that employees commit themselves not to use
personal hedging strategies or remuneration-and liability-
related insurance to undermine the risk alignment effects
embedded in their remuneration arrangements;

10. The performance evaluation and remuneration of senior

management and staff must be based, among other factors,
on their adherence to all relevant laws, regulations and CBB
rulebook requirements, including but not limited to AML/CTF
requirements in the FC module; and

11. Ensure the disclosure of remuneration to the Bank’s

shareholders pursuant to Section PD-6.1, and in the annual
report pursuant to PD-1.3.8 (Public Disclosure Module)

of Volume 1, of the Central Bank of Bahrain Rulebook (as
amended from time to time).

Governance Matters
1. Overseeing the development, maintenance and review of

corporate governance policies.

2. Monitoring the Bank’s compliance with regulatory

requirements relating to corporate governance.

3. Review mandates and performance evaluations of the

Board and its Committees and recommend to the Board
any improvements deemed necessary or desirable to the
mandates.

4. Review classification of individual Directors, and declaration

of Directors and members of Senior Management regarding
their outside activities and interests to determine whether
any conflict of interest exists and take appropriate steps in
that regard.

5. Overseeing Directors’ corporate governance educational

activities.

6. Oversee the Bank’s public reporting on corporate governance

matters.

7. Assess the Board and Committee’s existing structure, size and

composition on an annual basis.
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INNOVATION COMMITTEE

This is a special purpose non-regulatory mandated committee,
mandated with the role of assisting the Board in its
responsibilities by overseeing the Bank’s overall capabilities and
strategic direction in matters of technology and innovation,
including investment in research and development and other
technological initiatives. Its responsibilities include:

1. Assisting the Board in its oversight responsibilities relating to
Fintech matters, Fintech regulation and innovation.

2. Reviewing emerging Fintech innovation and trends for
potential adoption and application within the Bank.

3. Overseeing management’s review, selection, development
and implementation of innovative themes and solutions in line
with the strategic priorities of the Bank.

4. |dentifying opportunities that help create client value and
differentiation on the Bank’s product and service offering
across business units.

5. Raising awareness about the challenges and opportunities
offered by fast-paced changes in the digital landscape.

BOARD SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE CHANGE
COMMITTEE (BSCCC)

This is a special purpose non-regulatory mandated committee.
It has an advisory role in the design and implementation of
GIB’s sustainability and climate change strategy, which includes
Environmental, Social and Governance issues (ESG). The BSCCC
advises the Board on the progression of the strategies, and
challenges executive management to ensure that sustainability
and climate change risks and opportunities are effectively
embedded into the Bank and Group businesses.

The BSCCC is responsible for:
® GIB's Sustainability Framework

® GIB's Sustainable Finance and Transition Framework and
other related sustainability frameworks and policies

® Sustainability targets and monitoring associated metrics

EVALUATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The mandates of the Corporate Governance and the Nomination
& Remuneration Committees, the Corporate Governance Policy
as well as the Board Charter, reflect the requirement that the
Board must conduct an evaluation of its performance, the
performance of each Committee and of each individual Director,
at least annually.

The Board reviewed independent performance reports

from each of its Committees as well as a report on its own
performance by evaluating the major activities undertaken
during the year in comparison with the respective mandates.
The evaluation of individual Directors included measurable rating
scales, self-evaluations and the Chairman’s input. A report on the
board’s performance assessment conducted each year is also
provided to Shareholders at each AGM.
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SHARIAH SUPERVISORY BOARD (SSB)

GIB’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) has established a Shariah
Supervisory Board (the “SSB”), which was initially formed

in 2012. The Board subsequently reconstituted the SSB in
2021 for aninitial term of 3 years and in 2024 renewed the
SSB appointment for a further term of 2 years (expiring on
31/12/25). The Shareholders ratified the constitution of
incumbent SSB on 31 March 2024.

The SSB is an independent body, composed of esteemed
Shariah scholars, and is responsible for directing, reviewing, and
supervising the Shariah compliant banking activities of GIB in
order to ensure that they are in compliance with Islamic Shariah
rules and principles. The SSB is mainly responsible to:

® Undertake Shariah supervision of GIB’s Islamic business and
activities;

® Determine the Shariah parameters necessary for GIB's Islamic
banking activities;

® |ssue decisions on Shariah matters in order to enable the
Bank to comply with the provisions and principles of Shariah;

® Ensure that the Bank’s Shariah policies and procedures are in
compliance with Shariah provisions and principles; and

® Provide Fatwas, approvals and recommendations on GIB's
Islamic products and services before offering the same to
clients.

The SSB, during the year 2024, has undertaken Shariah
supervision through reviewing and discussing Shariah compliant
banking activities, reviewing the Shariah compliant banking
internal audit reports and ensuring that all activities are in
compliance with Shariah principles.

The SSB carried out its duties independently and with the
support and cooperation of the senior management and the
Board. The SSB received the required assistance to access
Islamic documents and data and reviewed and discussed
necessary amendments and Shariah requirements to issue
objective Shariah decisions. Post their satisfactory review, the
SSB has issued the attached Shariah Compliance Report for
2024, confirming, amongst others, that all Islamic contracts,
transactions and dealings of GIB were carried out in accordance
with the Islamic Shariah rules and principles.

THE SSB MEMBERS

Member name Member position

Sheikh Mohamed Ali Elgari Chairman

Sheikh Nedham Yagoobi Executive Member

Sheikh Osama Bahar Member

The SSB Meetings Held During 2024

There were four quarterly SSB meetings held in 2024, with the
following details of attendance:

1 4 8 8

SRR March June September December

Sheikh Mohamed Ali

Elgari v v v v
Sheikh Nedham v v v v
Yagoobi

Sheikh Osama Bahar v v v v

Remuneration of the SSB

The SSB's current remuneration has been determined in
accordance with GIB's Board of Director’s Resolutions issued
on October 28, 2020 and July 29, 2022. The aggregate
remuneration, including the retainer and the meeting fees, paid
to the SSB members during 2024 was as follows:

Retainer Fees uUsD 75,000
Meetings Fees UsD 6,000
Total* UsD 81,000

*Excluding VAT

INDUCTION AND THE CONTINUING EDUCATION OF
DIRECTORS

The Board and its Committees regularly receive updates on key
developments in the regulatory and other areas that fall under
their responsibilities.

The Board also stresses the importance of providing training
and development opportunities for the Directors. The Board has
passed a resolution to encourage Directors to seek any training
they deem necessary (with the Bank bearing the expenses of
such training), and the Directors are frequently briefed on the
availability of training opportunities.

The Governance, Nomination & Remuneration Committee
adopted a Board training program for 2024 which was rolled out
throughout the year. The virtual sessions, delivered by world-
class providers, represent a thought leadership curriculum of
which aimed to deliver tangible impact.

The program was delivered by local and worldclass training
providers and covered topics relating to: Achieving Sustainable
Excellence; Leadership in Building a High-Performance

Culture; Artificial Intelligence for Financial Services; Executive
Perspectives on Strategic ORM Implementation; Agile Mastery in
Digital Transformations; and Fraud Prevention and Collaboration
in the Digital Era.

In addition to the aforementioned programs, the Bank held an
exclusive GIB Executive Forum Webinar with David Rubenstein
on the topic “Navigating the Age of Uncertainty” which
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included Globalisation and Geoeconomic Fragmentation and
the Global Investment Landscape, and the Board attended an
AML awareness session during 2024 in line with regulatory
requirements

MANAGEMENT

The Senior Management team is responsible for the day-to-

day management of the Bank entrusted to it by the Board. It

is headed by the Group Chief Executive Officer Mr. Abdulaziz
Al-Helaissi, and GIB B.S.C. Chief Executive Officer Ms. Sara
Abdulhadi appointed to assume the role on March 3, 2024 as
Mr. Jamal Al-Kishi’s successor (“CEO Office”), who are supported
by senior members of the management team and the Board
Secretary. The biographies of the Bank’s Senior Management
team are set out on page 40-41 of this Annual Report.

The following 1 level management committees assist the CEO
Office in the management of the Bank:

1. GIB Group Management Council
GIB B.S.C. Management Committee

. Group Assets and Liabilities Committee

. Group Risk Management Committee

. Group Operational Risk and Internal Control Committee

2
3
4. Information Security Management Committee
5
6. GIB B.S.C. Credit Committee

7

. Sustainability Council

At the branch level, the Bank has established standalone
management committees to comply with local regulatory
requirements in certain jurisdictions where specific branches
operate. For other branches, the above mentioned GIB BSC
management-level committees oversee matters related to
these branches to ensure compliance with their local regulatory
requirements. The standalone management committees
established in Branches are as follows:

1. UAE Branch Management Committee
2. UAE Branch Assets and Liabilities Committee

These Committees derive their authorities from the CEOs Office,
based on the authorities and limits delegated by the Board
pursuant to the approved Corporate Governance Policy.

In addition to the aforementioned Committees, the Bank has in
place several non-regulatory mandated management forums,
councils and steering committees to support the day-to-day
management of the Bank.

In fulfilling its principal responsibility for the day-to-day
management of the Bank, the Senior Management team is
required to implement Board-approved policies and effective
controls within the strategy and objectives set by the Board.
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MANAGEMENT (continued)

Responsibilities and accountabilities of the Senior Management
team include assisting with and contributing to:

1. Formulation and execution of the Bank’s strategic objectives
and direction.

2. Formulation of the Bank’s annual budget and business plan.

3. Ensuring that high-level policies are in place for all areas, and
that such policies are fully applied.

4. The setting and management of risk/return targets in line
with the Bank’s overall risk appetite.

5. Determining the Bank’s overall risk-based performance
measurement standards.

6. Reviewing business units’ performance against strategic
objectives and budget and initiating appropriate action to
ensure strategy implementation.

7. Ensuring that the Bank operates to the highest ethical
standards and complies with both the letter and spirit of the
law, applicable regulations and codes of conduct.

8. Ensuring that the Bank is an exemplar of good business
practice and customer service.

Their attention is also drawn to the fact that these obligations
are in addition to their specific functional responsibilities

and objectives, and those set out in the Bank’s policies and
procedures.

Strategy progress across divisions is reported monthly to
Group and GIB entity CEOs and senior management. Division
scorecards are approved by the relevant GIB Entity CEO and
monitored bi-annually. The Board receives a quarterly progress
update on the Group’s strategic priorities and GIB entity
balanced scorecards.

REMUNERATION

The Bank’s total compensation policy, which includes the variable
remuneration policy, sets out GIB’s policy on remuneration for
Directors and Senior Management, and the key factors that were
taken into account in setting the policy.

The Bank adopts Sound Remuneration Practices in accordance
to CBB requirements. The Board approved the framework and
incentive components and obtained Shareholders’ approval

at the 2015 Annual General Meeting. The key features of the
remuneration framework are summarised below.

The GNRC reviews the operation of the variable remuneration
policy annually to ensure that the policy has operated as intended
and was compliant with the applicable laws, regulations,
principles and standards.
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Remuneration strategy

The Bank’s basic compensation philosophy is to provide a
competitive level of total compensation to attract, retain

and motivate qualified and competent employees. The

Bank’s variable remuneration policy is driven primarily by a
performance-based culture that aligns employee interests
with those of the Shareholders of the Bank. These elements
support the achievement of set objectives through balancing
reward for both short-term results and long-term sustainable
performance. The strategy is designed to share its success and
to align employees’ incentives with the risk framework and risk
outcomes.

The quality and long-term commitment of all employees is
fundamental to the success of the Bank. The Bank therefore
aims to attract, retain and motivate the very best people who
are committed to maintaining a career with the GIB, and who
will perform their role in the long-term interests of Shareholders.
The Bank’s reward package comprises the following key
elements:

® Fixed pay

® Benefits

® Annual performance awards
® Deferred remuneration plan
® Long-term incentive plan

A robust and effective governance framework ensures that the
Bank operates within clear parameters of its compensation
strategy and policy. All compensation matters, and overall
compliance with regulatory requirements, are overseen by the
Governance, Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the
Board (GNRC).

The Bank’s remuneration policy, in particular, considers the role
of each employee, and has set guidance depending on whether
an employee is a Material Risk-taker and/or an Approved Person
in business line, control or support functions. An Approved
Person is an employee whose appointment would require prior
regulatory approval because of the significance of the role within
the Bank; and an employee is considered a Material Risk-taker if
they head up significant business lines, and any individuals within
their control have a material impact on the Bank’s risk profile.

In order to ensure alignment between what is paid to employees
and the business strategy, GIB assesses bank-wide, divisional
and individual performance against annual and long-term
financial and non-financial objectives, summarised in line with
the business planning and performance management process.
This takes into account adherence to the Bank’s values, risk
and compliance measures and, above all, acting with integrity.
Altogether, performance is therefore judged not only on what
is achieved over the short- and long-term, but also importantly
on how it is achieved, as the latter contributes to the long-term
sustainability of the business.

GNRC role and focus

The GNRC has oversight of all reward policies for the Bank’s
employees. The GNRC is the supervisory and governing body
for compensation policy, practices and plans. It is responsible
for determining, reviewing and proposing variable remuneration
policy for approval by the Board. It is responsible for setting

the principles and governance framework for all compensation
decisions. The GNRC ensures that all persons must be
remunerated fairly and responsibly. The remuneration policy

is reviewed on a periodic basis to reflect changes in market
practices, and the business plan and risk profile of the Bank.

The aggregate remuneration paid to the GNRC members during
the year in the form of sitting fees for the 4 meetings held during
2024 [2023: 3 meetings] amounted to US$ 33,000 [2023:

US$ 21,000].

Scope of application of the remuneration policy

The principles of the remuneration policy apply on a Group-wide
basis. However, application of deferral requirements and issue
of non-cash instruments for foreign branches and subsidiaries
of the Bank is determined by applicable local regulations and
market norms.

Board remuneration

The Bank’s board remuneration is determined by its Shareholders
in line with its Articles of Association. The compensation is
linked to actual attendance of meetings. The structure and level
of the compensation for the members of the Board are approved
by the Annual General Meeting, and consist of the following:

® Attendance fees payable to members attending different
Board-related Committee meetings

® Allowance to cover travelling, accommodation and
subsistence, while attending Board and related Committee
meetings

® A pre-defined fixed amount representing an annual
remuneration fee

In 2024, the aggregate remuneration paid to GIB B.S.C. Board
members was US$ 2.1 million [2023: 1.8 million]. At the Group
level, aggregate remuneration paid to Board members and key
Management was US$ 38.2 million [2023: US$ 31.9 million], of
which US$ 5.0 million [2023: US$ 4.2 million] was paid to the
Board members.

Variable remuneration for staff

The variable remuneration is performance related and consists
primarily of the annual performance award and long-term
incentive plan. As a part of the staff’s variable remuneration,
the annual reward consists of delivery of operational and
financial targets set each year, the individual performance of the
employees in achieving those targets, and their contribution to
delivering the Bank’s strategic objectives.

The long-term incentive plan is designed to align the interests
of shareholders and key employees with the long-term strategy,
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goals and performance of the Bank and includes metrics focused
on financial, growth and strategic measures.

The Bank has adopted a Board-approved framework to
develop a transparent link between variable remuneration
and performance. The framework is designed on the basis
that the combination of meeting both financial performance
and achievement of other non-financial factors would, all
other things being equal, deliver a target award pool for the
employees, prior to consideration of any allocation to business
lines and employees individually. In the framework adopted
to determine the variable remuneration pool, the GNRC aims
to balance the distribution of the Bank’s profits between
Shareholders and employees.

The key performance metrics at the Bank level include a
combination of short-term and long-term measures, and include
profitability, solvency, liquidity and growth indicators. The
performance management process ensures that all goals are
appropriately cascaded down to respective business units and
employees.

In determining the amount of variable remuneration, the

Bank starts from setting specific targets, establishing market
comparable bottom-up, setting a revenue target and other
qualitative performance measures that would result in a target
top-down award pool. The award pool is then adjusted to take
account of risk via the use of risk-adjusted measures.

The GNRC carefully evaluates practices by which remuneration
is paid for potential future revenues whose timing and likelihood
remain uncertain. The GNRC demonstrates that its decisions are
consistent with an assessment of the Bank’s financial condition
and future prospects.

The Bank uses a formalised and transparent process to adjust
the award pool for quality of earnings. It is the Bank’s objective
to pay out variable remuneration out of realised and sustainable
revenue. If the quality of earnings is not strong, the profit base
could be adjusted based on the discretion of the GNRC.

For the Bank to have any funding for distribution of a variable
remuneration pool, thresholds of financial targets have to be
achieved. The performance measures ensure that the total
variable remuneration is contracted where subdued or negative
financial performance of the Bank occurs. Furthermore, the
target award pool, as determined above, is subject to risk
adjustments in line with the risk adjustment and linkage
framework.

The Bank has engaged Aon MclLagan as the independent
remuneration consultant for market benchmarking and to
provide professional opinion to the GNRC as an when required.
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Remuneration of control functions

The remuneration level of staff in the control and support
functions allows the Bank to employ qualified and experienced
personnel in these functions. The Bank ensures that the mix of
fixed and variable remuneration for control and support function
personnel is weighted in favour of fixed remuneration. The
variable remuneration of control functions is based on function-
specific objectives and is not to be determined by the individual
financial performance of the business area they monitor.

The Bank’s performance management system plays a major role
in deciding the performance of the support and control units

on the basis of the objectives set for them. Such objectives are
more focused on non-financial targets that include risk, control,
compliance and ethical considerations, as well as the market
and regulatory environments, apart from value-adding tasks
which are specific to each unit.

Variable remuneration for business units

The variable remuneration for the business units is primarily
decided by the key performance objectives set through the
performance management system of the Bank. Such objectives
contain financial and non-financial targets, including risk control,
compliance and ethical considerations, as well as the market
and regulatory environments.

Risk assessment framework

The risk assessment framework of GIB aligns variable
remuneration to the risk profile of the Bank, and also ensures
that the remuneration policy reduces employees’ incentives

to take excessive and undue risk. The Bank considers both
quantitative measures and qualitative measures in the risk
assessment process, and risk adjustments are applied to ensure
that the Bank’s remuneration policies are aligned to its risk
appetite.

The GNRC considers whether the variable remuneration policy
is in line with the Bank’s risk profile and ensures that through the
ex-ante and ex-post risk assessment framework and processes,
remuneration practices where potential future revenues, whose
timing and likelihood remain uncertain, are carefully evaluated.

Risk adjustments consider all types of risks, including intangible
and other risks such as reputation risk, liquidity risk and the
cost of capital. The Bank undertakes risk assessment to

review financial and operational performance against the
business strategy and risk performance, prior to distribution

of the variable remuneration. GIB ensures that total variable
remuneration does not limit its ability to strengthen its capital
base.

The variable remuneration pool considers the performance

of the Bank, which is considered within the context of its risk
management framework. This ensures that the variable pay pool
is shaped by risk considerations and Bank-wide notable events.
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The size of the variable remuneration pool and its allocation
within the Bank considers the full range of current and potential
risks, including:

® The capital required to support the risks taken
® The level of liquidity risk assumed in the conduct of business

® Consistency with the timing and likelihood of potential future
revenues incorporated into current earnings

The GNRC keeps itself abreast of the Bank’s performance
against the risk management framework. The GNRC will use
this information when considering remuneration to ensure that
return, risk and remuneration are aligned.

Risk adjustments

The Bank has an ex-post risk assessment framework, which is a
qualitative assessment to back-test actual performance against
risk assumptions.

In years where the Bank suffers material losses in its financial
performance, the risk adjustment framework would work as
follows:

® There would be considerable contraction of the Bank’s total
variable remuneration.

® At the individual level, poor performance by the Bank would
mean individual KPIs are not met, and hence employee
performance ratings would be lower.

® Reduction in value of deferred shares or awards.

® Possible changes in vesting periods, and additional deferral
applied to unvested awards.

® Lastly, if the qualitative and quantitative impact of a loss
incident is considered significant, a malus or clawback of
previous awards may be considered.

The GNRC, with Board approval, can rationalise and make the
following discretionary decisions:

® Increase/reduce the ex-post adjustment

® Consider additional deferrals or increase in the quantum of
share awards

® Recovery through malus and clawback arrangements

Malus and clawback framework

The Bank’s malus and clawback provisions allow the GNRC

to determine that, if appropriate, unvested elements under

the deferred plan can be forfeited/adjusted, or the delivered
variable remuneration could be recovered in certain situations.
The intention is to allow the Bank to respond appropriately

if the performance factors, on which reward decisions were
based, turn out not to reflect the corresponding performance
in the longer-term. All deferred remuneration awards contain
provisions that enable the Bank to reduce or cancel the awards
of employees whose individual behaviour has had a materially
detrimental impact on GIB during the concerned performance
year. Any decision to take back an individual's award can only be
taken by the GNRC.

The Bank’s malus and clawback provisions allow the Board to
determine that, if appropriate, vested/unvested elements under
the deferred remuneration plan can be adjusted/cancelled in
certain situations. These events include, but are not limited to,
the following:

® Reasonable evidence of misbehaviour or material error by
the employee causing harm to the Bank’s reputation, or
where the employee’s actions have amounted to misconduct,
incompetence or negligence.

® The employee’s business unit suffers a material downturn
in its financial performance, or a material risk management
failure, or a material restatement of the financial statements
of the Bank.

® The employee deliberately misleads the market and/or
Shareholders in relation to the financial performance of the
Bank.

® Asignificant deterioration in the financial health of the Bank,
or the relevant line of business incurring losses.

Clawback can be used if the malus adjustment on the unvested
portion is insufficient, given the nature and magnitude of the
issue.

Deferred remuneration
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Components of variable remuneration

Variable remuneration has following main components:

Upfront cash The portion of the variable remuneration
that is awarded and paid out in cash on
conclusion of the performance evaluation

process for each year.

Deferred cash The portion of variable remuneration that is
awarded and paid in cash on a pro-rata basis

over a period of three years.

Upfront share The portion of variable remuneration that is

awards awarded and issued in the form of shares on
conclusion of the performance evaluation
process for each year.

Deferred shares  The portion of variable remuneration that is
awarded and paid in the form of shares on a
pro-rata basis over a period of three years.

All deferred awards are subject to malus provisions. All share
awards are released to the benefit of the employee after a six-
month retention period from the date of vesting. The number
of share awards is linked to the Bank’s Net Asset Value as per
the rules of GIB's Share Incentive Scheme. Any dividend on
these shares is released to the employee, along with the shares
(i.e. after the retention period).

All employees at the grade 12 and higher shall be subject to deferral of variable remuneration as follows:

Allocation of variable remuneration

Element of variable CEO, MDs and the 5 most Grade 12 Deferral

remuneration highly-paid business line employees and higher period Retention Malus Clawback
Upfront cash 40% 50% None - - Yes
Upfront shares - 10% None 6 months Yes Yes
Deferred cash 10% - 3 years* - Yes Yes
Deferred share awards 50% 40% 3 years* 6 months Yes Yes

* The deferral vests on a pro-rata basis over a 3-year period.

The GNRC, based on its assessment of role profiles and risk taken by an employee, could increase the coverage of employees that

would subject to deferral arrangements.
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Details of remuneration

Board of Directors

Deferred Awards
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GIB B.S.C.
US$ millions 2024 2023
Directors Remuneration (including sitting fees) 1.6 15
Directors Travel Expenses 0.2 0.2
Directors Expenses 0.3 0.1
Directors Expenses 2.1 1.8
GIB Group
US$ millions 2024 2023
Directors Remuneration 4.3 3.4
Directors Travel Expenses 0.4 0.6
Directors Expenses 0.3 0.2
Directors Expenses 5.0 4.2
Employees
2024
Signon Guaranteed Variable remuneration
Fixed remuneration bonuses bonuses Upfront Deferred
Number (Cash/ (Cash/

US$ 000’s of staff Cash Others shares) shares) Cash Shares Cash Shares Others? Total
Approved persons

- Business Lines 9 5,333 381 - - 2,193 39 495 2,634 900 11,975
- Control and Support 17 5,341 419 - - 1,133 212 - 846 133 8,085
Other Material Risk 22 5780 471 - - 1,067 193 25 899 - 8436

akers
Other Staff 254 29,193 6,241 - - 4,192 107 - 427 (0] 40,161
Overseas Staff 1,135 129,041 26,745 - - 32,875 105 - 3,823 467 193,055
TOTAL 1,437 174,688 34,257 - - 41,461 655 521 8,629 1,500 261,711
2023
Signon  Guaranteed Variable remuneration
Fixed remuneration bonuses bonuses Upfront Deferred
Number (Cash/ (Cash/

US$ 000’s of staff Cash Others shares) shares) Cash Shares Cash Shares Others Total
Approved persons

- Business Lines 10 6,017 400 - - 2,132 40 479 2,554 - 11,621
- Control and Support 16 4,834 276 - - 1,116 212 - 847 - 7,284
Other Material Risk

Takers 22 5711 394 - - 1,096 199 25 923 - 8,349
Other Staff 250 27,392 5,465 - - 4,538 85 - 341 - 37,821
Overseas Staff 1,081 118,077 20,058 - - 31,800 112 85 3,104 - 173,235
TOTAL 1,379 162,031 26,592 - - 40,682 648 589 7,768 - 238,310

Other staff expenses reported in the consolidated statement of income that have not been included in the table above, amounting
to US$10.05 million [2023: US$11.2 million], comprise indirect staff costs including training, recruitment, employee recognition,
retirement, relocation, life assurance contributions, and differences between accrued staff expenses and the amounts actually paid.

!t Others represents unvested LTIP
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2024

Cash Shares Others** Total
US$’000s Number US$’000s US$’000s  US$’000s
Opening balance 1,252 7,124,672 8,407 - 9,659
Awarded during the period 589 5,212,455 6,151 1,033 7,773
Paid out / released during the period (659) (3,812,996) (4,499) - (5,158)
Service, performance and risk adjustments - - - - -
Corporate action adjustment - - - - -
Changes in value of unvested awards - - 511 - 511
Closing balance* 1,183 8,524,131 10,570 1,033 12,786

* Closing balance Share value based on NAV as on 31-12-24

** Others represents unvested LTIP
2023

Cash Shares Others Total
US$’000s Number US$’000s US$’000s US$’000s
Opening balance 1,160 6,928,048 6,159 - 7,319
Awarded during the period 790 5,674,854 5,045 - 5,835
Paid out / released during the period (698) (3,733,648) (3,319) - (4,017)
Service, performance and risk adjustments - - - - -
Corporate action adjustment” - (1,744,582) (1,551) - (1,551)
Changes in value of unvested awards - - 2,073 - 2,073
Closing balance™ 1,252 7,124,672 8,407 - 9,659

* Number of unvested phantom shares has been reduced to reflect 20 per cent reduction approved by general assembly as part of

restructuring the Bank’s equity.
** Closing balance Share value based on NAV as on 31-12-23

Severance Pay

The total of 3 [2023: 3] severance payments during the year amounted to US$142,838 [2023: US$111,095] of which the highest

paid to a single person amounted to US$67,241 [2023: US$68,801].
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SUSTAINABILITY

GIB is committed to sustainability, both in terms of its business
offerings and the way in which it conducts its business.
Sustainability, which encompasses ESG factors, is relevant for
nearly all aspects of GIB.

Within that, the following areas were priorities in 2024:

i. Expanding its sustainable finance activities and supporting
clients on sustainability-related matters. A key priority
was the launch of the Sustainable and Transition Finance
Framework, which sets out clearly and transparently how GIB
classifies and manages sustainable financing activities.

ii. Embedding sustainability in how it operates. Within its
environmental work stream, there was a particular focus
on implementing the recommendations of the Taskforce for
Climate-related Financial Disclosure and IFRS S2 reporting.
Within its social work stream, GIB became a signatory to the
UN Women’s Empowerment Principles and sought to increase
the share of female employees in the Bank.

v. Reporting transparently and expansion on its sustainability-
related activities and impacts. GIB published its third
Sustainability Report in 2024. It also made disclosures about
its activities aligned with the Principles for Responsible
Banking. For the 2024 Sustainability Report, GIB further
enhanced its sustainability reporting to align with the CBB'’s
ESG disclosure requirements.

vi. Engaging with policy-makers on relevant sustainability-
matters, particularly the Saudi Central Bank (SAMA) through
the ESG Saudi Banks Advisory Committee (EBAC) which was
established in 2023 to focus on the risks and opportunities
provided by sustainability to the Saudi banking sector. Five
workstreams were established under EBAC, Risk, Taxonomy,
Disclosure and Sustainable Products and Solutions, with

GIB represented in four of the five workstreams. A highlight
for GIB in 2024 was its participation in COP29 and signing

a Cooperation Agreement with the Saudi Arabia Voluntary
Carbon Market Company (VCM) to purchase carbon offsets.

For further information, please see the Sustainability Report
published on GIB’s website.

CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS

The Bank’s Public Disclosure Policy and Corporate
Communications Policies ensure that the disclosures made by
GIB are fair, transparent, comprehensive and timely; and reflect
the character of the Bank and the nature, complexity and risks
inherent in its business activities. Main communications channels
include the website, annual report, social media, employee
communications, and announcements in the appropriate media.

This transparency is also reflected in the Bank’s website
(Wwww.gib.com) which provides substantial information on
the Bank, including its profile, vision, and mission; its financial
statements and press releases for the last five years.
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Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is an institutional
commitment and constitutes an integral part of GIB’s pursuit

of good corporate citizenship. The Bank continues to pursue
initiatives that support sustainable community services projects,
help improve the quality of life of individuals with special needs,
support national environmental initiatives as well as endorse
cultural and heritage projects in the community.

CODE OF CONDUCT

The Bank’s website also contains the Board-approved Code

of Conduct that contains rules on conduct, ethics and on
avoiding conflicts of interest, applicable to all the employees
and Directors of the Bank. The Code of Conduct is designed

to guide all employees through best practices to fulfil their
responsibilities and obligations towards the Bank’s stakeholders
(Shareholders, clients, staff, regulators, suppliers, the public,
and the host countries in which the Bank conducts business,
etc.), in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The
Board of Directors’ Code of Conduct is covered under the board
approved Corporate Governance Policy.

The Code addresses such issues as upholding the law and
following best practices; acting responsibly, honestly, fairly

and ethically; avoiding conflicts of interest; protecting Bank
property and data; protecting client-confidential information and
safeguarding the information of others; complying with inside
information rules and with the prohibition on insider trading;
preventing money laundering and terrorism financing; rejecting
bribery and corruption; avoiding compromising gifts; as well as
speaking up and ‘whistle blowing’.

All employees and Directors of the Bank are reminded every
year of their obligations under the Code of Conduct and the
Corporate Governance Policy by means of an email from the
Bank that includes a copy of the Code of Conduct (in English and
Arabic), and everyone is required to sign an Acknowledgment
and Declaration confirming that they have received and read the
Code of Conduct and understand its requirements; have followed
and will continue to follow these requirements; and agree that if
they have any concern about any possible misconduct or breach
of the Code of Conduct, they will raise the concern with the
appropriate persons within the Bank as per the Code.

In addition, all employees of the Bank must sign an annual
Declaration on outside employment and other activities,

to ensure that no conflicts of interest exist. Confirmations

are obtained on a quarterly basis on the accuracy of those
declarations, to ensure proper tracking of conflicts of interest
and related parties’ transactions. These Declarations are
addressed to the Bank’s Human Resources department.
Similarly, all approved persons (including Directors) Committee
must complete and sign a similar annual declaration, addressed
to the Corporate Governance Committee of the Board. All
approved persons’ outside interests declared under these
declarations are reported to the Governance, Nomination &
Remuneration Committee on an annual basis.

DISCLOSURES

The Bank’s website provides access to GIB's annual reports,

and all the information contained in these reports is accessible
globally. The information includes Management discussion on
the business activities of the Bank, as well as discussion and
analysis of the financial statements and risk management. The
financial data aligns with the most recent International Financial
Reporting Standards relevant for implementation during the
reporting period.

The Board-approved Disclosure Policy is in accordance with
the requirements of Basel 3 Pillar 3, in compliance with CBB
rules. The objective of this policy is to ensure transparency in
the disclosure of the financial and risk profiles of the Bank to all
interested parties.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

Senior management is responsible for establishing, maintaining
and monitoring GIB'’s internal control systems to ensure the
effective functioning of GIB. The internal control systems
comprise the establishment and implementation of policies,
procedures, processes, systems and a risk framework across all
functions of GIB, which are approved by the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors, supported by the Board Risk Policy
Committee and the Audit Committee, is responsible for ensuring
that the internal systems and controls framework are effective
for GIB'’s business and associated risks.

The Board Risk Policy Committee sets and endorses the
organisation’s risk appetite (which is approved by the Board of
Directors) and also seeks to identify the principal risks facing the
organisation, together with the management. It has oversight

in respect of GIB’s overall risk appetite, parameters and limits
within which GIB conducts its activities to seek assurance on an
ongoing basis that the management is responding appropriately
to such risks in a timely manner.

To achieve this, the Board Risk Policy Committee ensures

that GIB has an effective Enterprise-wide risk management
framework in place and that all risk controls operating
throughout GIB are in accordance with regulatory requirements
and with due cognizance of best practice standards for
management of risks in banks. The Enterprise Risk Management
(ERM) Framework based approach followed by GIB takes a
comprehensive view of all risk families on a proactive basis

— including Credit risk, Market risk, Operational risk, Interest
rate risk, Liquidity risk, and non-financial risks such as strategic
risk, information and cyber security risks, business model

risk, reputational risk, concentration risk, etc. This enables
management to effectively deal with uncertainty, and any
associated risk and opportunity, enhancing the capacity to build
stakeholder value. This includes aligning GIB's risk appetite and
strategies, ensuring well thought out risk-response decisions,
helps reduce the frequency and severity of operational losses,
identifies and helps proactive management of multiple and
cross-enterprise risks, prepares GIB to proactively realise the
opportunities arisen, and improves the capital deployment
effectiveness.
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To ensure the effectiveness of the set Enterprise risk
management framework, the Board Risk Policy Committee
relies on adequate line functions for independent monitoring and
assurance functions within GIB, using a ‘Three Lines of Defense’
Risk Management model to ensure that control roles are
independent and responsibilities are segregated — with the ‘First
line of defense’ owning and managing risk as direct line functions,
the ‘Second line of defense’ overseeing through specialists in

risk management, financial control, and compliance functions,
and the ‘Third line of defense’ providing independent assurance
through specialist functions like Internal audit and External
Statutory Audit teams. GIB follows a Forward-looking Stress
Testing Framework across all risk families to identify possible
events or changes in market conditions that could adversely
impact GIB, and this helps in identifying action plans including
contingency funding readiness for timely and adequate risk
mitigating actions.

The Group Chief Risk Officer reports functionally to the Board
Risk Policy Committee and administratively to the Group Chief
Executive Officer, making Risk Management an independent
function of management, with the ability to effectively
implement the Enterprise-wide risk management framework
and provide independent monitoring without constraints. Risk
Management is properly and adequately resourced with a
team of professionals with appropriate knowledge, skills, and
experience.

The Audit Committee oversees the effectiveness of GIB’s
internal controls systems by reviewing and evaluating the
systems of internal controls and meets with Internal Audit,
External Audit and management to assess the adequacy and
effectiveness of the systems of internal controls and obtaining
reasonable assurances from them on a periodic basis. The Audit
Committee periodically receives reports as to the existence of
any significant deficiency or material weakness in the design

or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect GIB'’s ability to record,
process, summarise and report financial information and as to
the existence of any fraud, whether or not material, that involves
management or other employees who have a significant role in
GIB’s internal control over financial reporting. Further, the Audit
Committee Chairman provides updates to the Board on the key
discussions and decisions considered by the Audit Committee.

The Internal Audit Unit as the third line of defense in providing
an independent appraisal to the Board’s Audit Committee and
the management as to the effectiveness of internal controls,
including conducting independent periodical reviews for the
activities of the Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering
Department, to ensure regulatory compliance and conformity
with Bank’s approved policies and procedures.

All significant and material findings of Internal Audit reviews are
reported to the Audit Committee of the Board through quarterly
activity reports. The updates include description of the internal
controls’ gaps noted and the tracking of corrective action plans
to adequately address those gaps by the Management.


https://www.gib.com/sites/default/files/gib_bsc_prb_report_2022.pdf
https://www.gib.com/sites/default/files/gib_bsc_prb_report_2022.pdf
https://www.gib.com/sites/default/files/gib_sustainability_2023_eng_p26_2.pdf
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INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)

The Audit Committee actively monitors the adequacy and
effectiveness of the internal control system to ensure that
identified risks are mitigated to safeguard the interest of the
Bank and its stakeholders.

Concerted and integrated efforts are made by all functions of
the Bank to improve the control environment at grass root level
through continuous reviewing and streamlining of procedures
to prevent and rectify any control deficiencies. Each function,
under the supervision of the Senior Executive Management

is entrusted with the responsibility to oversee rectification of
control deficiencies identified by control bodies.

The Compliance Function is an independent function who
oversees Regulatory Compliance, Anti Money Laundering/
Combatting Terrorist Financing, Sanctions, Anti-Bribery &
Corruption, and Anti-Fraud Unit. The Compliance Function
works closely with other control functions in order to establish
an effective control framework and provides assurance to the
Board Audit Committee through its duties and responsibilities
under the programs of Compliance Governance, Compliance
Advisory, Monitoring and Testing, Regulatory Communication,
Anti-Money Laundering/Combatting Terrorist Financing,
Sanctions, Anti-Bribery and Corruption and Anti-Fraud, that
sets out its planned activities such as the implementation
and review of specific policies and procedures, compliance
risk assessment, and establishing a strong compliance culture
among employees, and submit relevant reports to the Audit
Committee who in turn assesses those programs and sets out
relevant recommendations. In terms of regulatory mandate,
Compliance operates independently in the capacity of Second
Line of Defence, with direct access to the board, and ensures
that all regulations and rules are implemented in a timely
manner. By virtue of the independence, Compliance enjoys
full and unrestricted access to all bank data, to fulfil its duties.
The Compliance Unit has a direct reporting line to the Audit
Committee.

The Bank’s internal control system has been designed to provide
reasonable assurance to the Board, on the management

of risks to achieve the Bank’s strategic objectives. Internal
control systems, no matter how effective is designed, it has
inherent limitations, and may not prevent or detect all control
deficiencies. Moreover, the projection of current evaluations of
the effectiveness to future periods is subject to a limitation that
controls may become inadequate due to changes in conditions
or compliance with policies and procedures.

Based on the results of the ongoing evaluation of internal
controls carried out by the management during the year, the
Management considers that the Bank’s existing internal control
system is adequately designed, operating effectively and
monitored consistently.

The process of Internal Control is facilitated through a set of

separate functions, which report directly to senior management.

These functions include risk management, financial control,
and compliance. This multi-faceted approach aids the effective
management of risk by identifying, measuring and monitoring
controls from a variety of perspectives.
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GIB maintains a disciplined approach to risk-taking by upholding
a comprehensive set of risk management policies, processes
and limits, employing qualified people with the appropriate skills,
investing in technology and training, and actively promoting a
culture of sound risk management at all levels.

In relation to Operational risk, GIB has implemented an
operational risk management framework which includes tools
such as risk and control self-assessment, key risk indicators
and a robust internal control testing framework which provides
validation of controls across the first and second lines of
defense, ensuring escalation of operational risk events and
remedial measures to prevent recurrence.

These tools provide the business areas the opportunity to
reassess, and where necessary, enhance control effectiveness
within their business processes. Any control deficiencies
identified as a result of utilization of these tools by the
Business Units are overseen by an independent Operational
Risk Management Department and governed through the
Bank’s Operational Risk & Non-Financial Risk (NFR) Committee
reporting ultimately to the Board Risk Policy Committee. Any
key issues requiring the attention of senior management are
escalated to GIB's Management Committee.

GIB has also introduced a Non-Financial Risk management
framework which includes the proactive identification and
materiality assessment of both known and emerging risks,
further complimenting and enhancing the overall Risk
Management Framework.

The Information Security function ensures the adequate
protection of GIB’s and its customers’ information by securing
the Bank’s IT and Information Security infrastructure from
internal and external threats, by the implementation of “Defence
in Depth” approach, i.e,, layered security controls. The overall
information security management system of GIB is designed
in-line with industry standards, regulatory mandates and best
practices and comprises of an integrated model of people,
policy, process, procedure and technology, including 24/7
security operation centre, cyber security risk management and
cyber fraud, vulnerability and incident management processes,
periodic penetration testing and red-teaming exercise, threat
intelligence management, brand protection services, preventive
and detective end point perimeter security solutions etc.

GIB endeavours to inculcate a strong appreciation for risk and
internal controls through periodic training programmes for its
employees and to increase their awareness of the importance of
risk assessment, and their responsibility maintaining the system
of internal controls.

Whilst the risk of failures in internal controls cannot be entirely
eliminated, Management mitigates and manages such risk by
maintaining the appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems,
procedures and ensuring that trained and competent people are
employed to protect the interest of GIB and its stakeholders.

Opinion on Internal Control by the Audit Committee

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
was made aware of the opportunities for enhancement in

the internal controls of GIB. These recommendations were
addressed, or are in the process of being addressed, by
management. Furthermore, these recommendations are tracked
and validated independently by Internal Audit and an update

on the implementation is provided to the Audit Committee on
periodic basis.

Based on the Management’s confirmation of the Management
having provided full and complete facts and all relevant
information as required, the Audit Committee is of the opinion
that the Bank’s management has maintained an effective
internal controls system capable of providing reasonable
assurances, and that the outcomes of the audits, together with
the Audit Committee meeting discussions, have all provided
reasonable grounds for formulating this opinion.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

In 2024, the Group paid the external auditors US$ 1,791,731 in
audit and assurance fees.

All non-assurance services were preapproved by the Audit
Committee of each entity. The Group paid external auditors an
amount of US$ 784,233 for non-assurance services.

POLICY ON CONNECTED PARTIES AND RELATED
TRANSACTIONS

The Board-approved Policy on connected parties governs GIB’s
dealings with such parties. The Policy defines which parties are
considered to be connected with GIB within the criteria set by
the CBB, and imposes not only the limitations placed by the
CBB but also additional criteria imposed by GIB. The policy sets
out the internal responsibilities for reporting GIB's connected
counterparties exposures to the CBB, and the disclosures to be
made in GIB’s financial statements and annual reports, in line
with applicable disclosure requirements.

The Conflict of Interest & Related Party Policy has been updated
during 2024 to reflect the requirements stipulated under the
restructured HC Module.

If loans are extended to related parties, these are approved by
the Board, the Bank will not deal with any of its Directors in a
lending capacity. It should be noted that Article 16 of the Articles
of Association prevents Directors of the Bank from having any
interest, directly or indirectly, in any contract with the Bank. In
the event of proposed dealings with companies associated with
Director, the proposals are referred to the Board for approval with
the abstention of the Director involved from voting.

All loans to Senior Management members (including the CEO
and his direct reports), as well as staff of GIB, are governed by
the policies applicable to staff. These policies are reviewed by the
Nomination & Remuneration Committee of the Board at least
annually. All dealings with companies associated with member of
the Senior Management are referred to the Board for approval.

Corporate Governance Report

MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRE BOARD APPROVAL

The Bank has delegated credit authority to the CEO based on a
risk-rating matrix. When considering transactions, any exposure
to an entity that exceeds the CEO’s limit will require the approval
of the Board Executive Committee or the Board.

COMPLIANCE

The Compliance framework adopted by the Board sets out key
principles, fundamentals, and methodologies to be pursued by
the Bank to mitigate the risk of non-compliance. The framework
reflects the principles for promoting sound compliance practices
at GIB. It also demonstrates the Bank’s adherence to applicable
legal and regulatory requirements, and to high professional
standards. The role of the Compliance function is to assist
Senior Management in ensuring that the activities of GIB and

its staff are conducted in conformity with applicable laws and
regulations, and generally with sound practices pertinent to
those activities. The Group Chief Compliance Officer reports
directly to the Board Audit Committee and administratively to
the CEO.

Compliance risk is the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions,
material financial loss or damage to the reputation of the
Bank arising from failure to comply with the requirements of
applicable laws, rules, regulations and related self-regulatory
organisations’ standards and codes of conduct (collectively,
applicable laws, rules and regulations). Group Compliance
independently assesses compliance risk and evaluates the
business and control units for adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations, including identifying compliance issues
and risks, by performing independent Compliance testing and
monitoring as well as reporting on the state of compliance
activities across the Bank.

The Bank’s approach to the management of compliance risk is
described in the Group Compliance Policy, which outlines the
requirements of the Bank’s Group Compliance Program, and
defines roles and responsibilities of Board, Senior Management,
Business and Control units, Internal Audit, and the three lines
of defense in managing compliance risk. The requirements
work together to drive a comprehensive risk-based approach
for the proactive identification, management, and escalation of
compliance risks throughout the Bank.

The Group Compliance Policy also sets the requirements

for reporting compliance risk information to executive
management as well as the Board or appropriate Board level
committees in support of Group Compliance responsibility for
conducting independent oversight of the Bank’s compliance
risk management activities. The Board provides oversight of
compliance risk mainly through its Audit Committee and the
Governance, Nomination & Remuneration Committee.

In ensuring that the tone emanates from the top, the CEO issues
a yearly message to all GIB employees reminding everyone

of the importance of complying with all laws and regulations
applicable to GIB’s operations. Exemplary compliance behaviour
and strict adherence to maintain proper compliance conduct

is ensured through its inclusion as a mandatory measurement
criterion in staff evaluations.
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ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING

The Bank’s current Anti-Money Laundering and Combatting
Terrorism Financing (AML/CTF) procedures and guidelines
conform to the legal and regulatory requirements of the
Kingdom of Bahrain. These legal and regulatory requirements

largely reflect the FATF recommendations on Money Laundering.

GIB's AML/CTF procedures and guidelines apply to all of the
Bank’s offices, branches and subsidiaries, wherever located. In
addition, the GIB entities located outside Bahrain are subject

to the laws and requirements of the jurisdictions where they
operate, and if local standards differ, the higher standards apply.

Systems and controls are in place to ensure that business
relationships are commenced with clients whose identity and
activities can reasonably be established to be legitimate; to
collect and record all relevant client information; to monitor and
report suspicious transactions; to provide periodic

AML/CTF training to employees; and to review with external
auditors the effectiveness of the AML/CTF procedures and
controls. The Bank’s AML/CTF procedures prohibit dealing with
shell banks. A proactive structure of officers is in place to ensure
Group-wide compliance with AML/CTF procedures, and the
timely update of the same to reflect the changes in regulatory
requirements. This structure consists of the Group Chief
Compliance Officer and the Group Money Laundering Reporting
Officer, MLROs, and Deputy MLROs.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK - INTERNAL
AUDIT REVIEW

The Internal Audit review of the Bank’s Corporate Governance
framework is conducted as a separate project since the
introduction of the Corporate Governance Rules in 2010.
Accordingly, the latest audit was undertaken as of March

26% 2024. The report was issued with “Generally Satisfactory”
rating on June 2™, 2024. The purpose of the audit was to
provide a level of assurance about the processes of corporate
governance within the Bank. The scope of the audit included
reviewing the existing policies, procedures and current practices
followed by GIB in light of the CBB rules contained in the HC
Module of the CBB Rulebook.

The overall conclusion of the audit was that the Corporate
Governance framework of GIB appears to be operating
effectively and is providing a sound framework to control the
risks inherent in GIB's current business activities.
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Mr. Abdulla bin Mohammed Al Zamil
Appointed Chairman as of 10 November 2021
Director since 2009

H.E. Dr. Najem bin Abdullah Al Zaid
Elected Vice Chairman on 28 November 2021
Director since 2018

Mr. Abdulla bin Mohammed Al Zamil is the Chairman
of the Board of Zamil Industrial Investment
Company, having previously served as Chief
Executive Officer. Prior to this, he was the Senior
Vice President at Zamil Air Conditioners, where he
started his career as an industrial engineer.

He is also the Chairman of Saudi Global Ports,

Zamil Steel Holding Co., Gulf Insulation Group, Folk
Maritime, Gulf International Bank - Saudi Arabia, and
GIB Capital. His board memberships include Ranco
& Zamil Concrete Industries, Zamil Offshore Services
Company, Saudi Telecom Company (STC) — Bahrain,
Wagf Sulaiman bin Abdulaziz Al-Rajhi Holding Co.,
and Gulf International Bank (UK) Limited.

Mr. Al Zamil holds an MBA (with a concentration in
Finance) from King Fahd University of Petroleum
and Minerals, Saudi Arabia, and a BSc in Industrial
Engineering from the University of Washington, USA.
He has 38 years’ professional experience.
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H.E. Dr. Najem bin Abdullah Al Zaid is the Vice
Minister of Justice in Saudi Arabia. He was the
Founding Partner of ZS&R law firm in association
with Hogan Lovells. He is the Chairman of the
Saudi Electricity Company and a member of the
Tadawul Group’s Regulatory Policies and Oversight
Committee. Further, he is a Board and Board Risk
Committee member at Gulf International Bank

- Saudi Arabia, and Board Member in the Royal
Commission for Riyadh City. Additionally, he is
member of the Audit Committee in the Public
Investment Fund.

He also served as the Vice Chairman of the
Mediterranean & Gulf Cooperative Insurance

& Reinsurance Company, Board Member of the
National Centre for Privatization & PPP, member of
the audit committees at Diriyah Gate Development
Authority and the Saudi Agriculture & Livestock
Company (SALIC), member of the governance
committee at Arabian Centres Company, member
of the governance committee at the Saudi
International Petrochemical Company, member of
the executive committee of the Saudi Falcon Club
and member of the Saudi Delegation that negotiated
Saudi Arabia’s World Trade Organization (WTO)
membership.

Prior to founding ZS&R, Dr. Al Zaid was the Chief
Governance and Legal Officer at Al Rajhi Bank Group
and had previously served as the Commissioner

and a Board Member of the Saudi Capital Market
Authority, appointed by royal order. He also worked
as Counsel at the Islamic Development Bank Group.

Dr. Al Zaid holds a Doctor of Juridical Science from
the George Washington University Law School, USA,
a Master of Laws from the University of Minnesota
Law School, USA, a High Diploma in Law from the
Institute of Public Administration, Saudi Arabia,

and a BA in Islamic Jurisprudence & Law from

Umm AlQura University, Saudi Arabia. Further, he
successfully completed the Harvard Law School
Leadership Program and the London Business
School Management Development Program. He has
30 years’ professional experience.

Mr. Abdulaziz bin Abdulrahman Al-Helaissi

Director since 2016
Group Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Abdulaziz bin Abdulrahman Al-Helaissi is the
Group Chief Executive Officer and a Board Member
of Gulf International Bank B.S.C., Chairman of Gulf
International Bank (UK) Limited and Vice Chairman
of Gulf International Bank — Saudi Arabia. His board
memberships include GIB Capital, Golf Saudi,

Saudi Golf Federation and the Bahrain Institute of
Banking & Finance (BIBF). Mr. Al-Helaissi also serves
as a member of the Global Board of the Institute

of International Finance (IIF) and co-chair of its
Emerging Markets Advisory Council (EMAC).

Prior to joining GIB in February 2016, Mr. Al-Helaissi
was the Deputy Governor for Supervision at the
Saudi Central Bank (SAMA), having started there

in 2013. At SAMA, his responsibilities included the
oversight of the banking and insurance sectors as
well as finance company regulations (mortgage,
leasing, and other nonbank finance institutions).

He was also responsible for consumer protection.

Prior to SAMA, Mr. Al-Helaissi was Senior Country
Officer and Managing Director, Saudi Arabia, for JP
Morgan Chase, as well as Head of Global Corporate
Banking for the Middle East and North Africa. Earlier
in his career, he was General Manager, Central
Province of Saudi British Bank (affiliate of HSBC)
and covered all key lines of business, including
corporate and consumer banking. He has also
served on a number of boards, including the Saudi
Stock Exchange (Tadawul) and King Fahd Causeway
Authority.

Mr. Al-Helaissi has 35 years’ banking and regulatory
experience and holds a BA in Economics from the
University of Texas in Austin, USA.

Mr. Sultan bin Abdul Malek Al-Sheikh

Director since 2018

Board of Directors biographies

Mr. Bander bin Abdulrahman bin Mogren
Director since 2018

Mr. Sultan bin Abdul Malek Al-Sheikh is a Senior
Director - Head of Financial Institutions Sector at the
MENA Investments Division at the Public Investment
Fund of Saudi Arabia (PIF). He is the Board Chairman
of Tawrid Company for Financing Solutions. He also
serves as a Board Member of Tahakom Investment
Company, Gulf International Bank - Saudi Arabia,
and Saudi Real Estate Refinance Company (SRC). In
addition, Mr. Al-Sheikh is a Board member, Member
of the Executive Board Committee and Member

of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee of
the Regional Voluntary Carbon Market Company
(RVCMCQ). Mr Al-Sheikh also serves as Board Director
at the Saudi Sports Company and as Member of the
Executive Board Committee at Al-Nasser Club Co.
Prior to joining PIF, Mr. Al-Sheikh held key positions

in reputable financial institutions. He served as an
Associate and Vice President of Investment Banking
at Saudi Fransi Capital. Mr. Al-Sheikh also worked as
an Officer in the Securities Listing Department at
the Saudi Capital Market Authority (CMA) and as a
Relationship Manager at the National Commercial
Bank (NCB) of Saudi Arabia. Additionally, he
previously served as a director at Al-Marai Company
and the Helicopter Company and as Chairman of
Saudi Company for Exchanging Digital Information
(Tabadul).

Mr. Al-Sheikh holds a MSc in Finance from the
George Washington University, USA, and a BSc in
Finance from King Fahd University of Petroleum and
Minerals, Saudi Arabia. He has 21 years’ professional
experience.

Mr. Bander bin Abdulrahman bin Mogren is a Senior
Managing Director, and the Chief Operating Officer
at the Saudi Arabia Public Investment Fund (PIF)
since 2016, where he leads the development of the
Shared Services function as well as the strategic
transformation of information technology systems
and infrastructure. He is also a Member of the PIF
Portfolio Companies Nomination Committee.

In his current role, Mr. Bander bin Mogren represents
PIF on a number of boards and board committees
including as Chair of the Board of Directors of SRJ
Sports Investment Company. In addition, Mr. Bander
bin Mogren is a Board Member of King Abdullah
Financial District Development Company and

the Chair of its Nomination and Remuneration
Committee. He is also a Board Member of both

Gulf International Bank Saudi Arabia and Bahrain
and a Member of each of its Nomination and
Remuneration Committees (NRC’s) and is a Member
of the Professional Fighters League (PFL) Board

and its Compensation Committee. Mr. Bander bin
Mogren serves as Chairman of Nomination and
Remuneration Committee in Riyadh Lake alongside
serving as a Member of the NRC’s of a number of
PIF portfolio companies, including NEOM; Qiddiya
Investment Company; ROSHN; Saudi Tadawul Group;
Newcastle United plc; Savvy Games Group; Riyadh
Air; the Royal Court Decision Support Centre; Sanabil
Investments and other companies.

Prior to joining PIF, Mr. Bander bin Mogren was
Managing Director of Human Resources and
Corporate Services at NCB Capital and before that
he held several other key positions at a number

of Saudi Arabia’s leading investment institutions,
including Head of Human Resources at Jadwa
Investments. He also served as Board member in
Tagnia and Noon Investments Company.

Mr. Bander bin Mogren holds a double major BA in
Human Resources and Business Administration
from Eastern Washington University, USA. He has
23 years’ professional experience.
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Dr. Khalid bin Abdulla Alsweilem
Director since 2021

Mr. Fahad bin Abdul-Jalil Al-Saif

Director since 2021

Mr. Nezar bin Mohammed Al Saie
Director since 2022

Mr. Rajeev Kakar
Director since 2018

Board of Directors biographies

Mr. Frank Schwab
Director since 2018

Dr. Khalid bin Abdulla Alsweilem is an accomplished
economist and successful business leader, with over
30 years’ experience in business and government.
He served as Director General of SAMA’s Investment
Department. He is one of the world’s longest

serving and most successful sovereign investment
practitioners.

Dr. Alsweilem is the Chairman of Ninety-One
Capital KSA and EFG Hermes Saudi Arabia, an
independent board director at Cenomi Centers, and
an Investment Committee Member at the Arab Gulf
Fund for Development.

He is a former fellow at the Belfer Center for Science
and International Affairs at the Harvard Kennedy
School and is currently a Visiting Scholar at Stanford
University and a Research Affiliate at MIT. Dr.
Alsweilem was a lead author of three major papers
on sovereign funds models and institutions that were
published as joint reports by the Belfer Center for
Science and International Affairs and the Center for
International Development at Harvard.

He also co-authored an important book in 2017
published by Columbia University Press on the role
of sovereign funds in resources economies while he
was at Stanford University Global Projects Center
(GPQ).

Dr. Alsweilem holds a BSc in Industrial Engineering
from the University of Arizona, an MA in Economics
from Boston University, a PhD in Economics from
the University of Colorado, and a Post-Doctoral
Fellowship from the Department of Economics at
Harvard University. He has 33 years’ professional
experience.
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Mr. Fahad Al-Saif is a Senior Managing Director, Head
of PIF’s Global Capital Finance Division, Head of
Investment Strategy and Economic Insights Division.

Mr. Al-Saif worked on developing PIF’s green
financing framework and obtaining an investment
grade inaugural credit rating by international rating
agencies, subsequently launching PIF’s debut
international bond program; issuing the first green
bond with a 100-year tranche, the first bond of its
kind globally by a Sovereign Wealth Fund, among
other efforts that support PIF and its portfolio
companies in diversifying the sources of capital
to fund transformational projects across different
sectors.

Mr. Al-Saif has several distinguished roles across
various boards. He is the Chairman of the board at
AvilLease, an aircraft leasing company, and at Emaar,
The Economic City. In addition, he serves as the Vice
Chairman of Bahri, the national shipping company

of Saudi Arabia. His extensive portfolio includes
serving as the Vice Chairman, Executive Committee
Member, and Nomination and Remuneration
Committee Member for the Saudi Real Estate
Refinance Company. Furthermore, he is a board
member of ACWA Power, a leading entity in the
renewable energy sector, and a board member in the
Voluntary Carbon Market Company. Mr. Al-Saif also
chairs the Audit and Risk Committee for King Salman
Airport Development Company and is a member

of its board. Beyond his contributions in the private
sector, he plays an active role in the government
sector, engaging in various initiatives, including his
board position with the Insurance Authority and the
Financial Sector Development Program.

Mr. Al-Saif holds more than 27 years of experience
in leading diverse functions including treasury,
investment, debt capital management, and
corporate finance. He started his career in the
private sector and served in senior positions in both
Saudi British Bank (SABB) and HSBC Saudi Arabia
for over a decade. Following his private-sector

stint, he then took on a public-sector role within
Saudi Arabia’s Ministry of Finance, where he served
as a senior advisor to the Minister, His Excellency
Minister of Finance, and established and headed the
ministry’s debt management function, later renamed
as National Debt Management Centre (NDMC),
where he served as the Chief Executive Officer and
Board member.

Mr.Al-Saif is an Information Systems graduate from
King Fahad University of Petroleum and Minerals.

Mr. Nezar Al Saie is the Vice Chairman of the Board
at Gulf Union Holding and is also an entrepreneur
who has founded several leading regional companies
in the telecom and building materials sectors in the
Kingdom of Bahrain, including Kalaam Telecom and
Polycon Bahrain, and is currently the Chairman of
both companies. Mr. Al Saie is also the Chairman of
Ahmed Al Saie & Bros and N. Al Saie W.L.L.
Previously, Mr. Al Saie spent 14 years at Investcorp
Bahrain, where he was a member of the
Management Committee and responsible for the
placement of alternative assets including private
equity, real estate, and hedge funds in the Gulf
region. Prior to that, he was a Vice President at
Chase Manhattan in Bahrain and London, where he
worked across the global bank’s credit, corporate
and private banking divisions. Mr. Al Saie served on
the Boards of several public and private financial
institutions, and as senior advisor to Lazard Brothers,
London, and Itau Bank, Brazil.

Mr. Al Saie holds a BSc in Civil Engineering from

the University of Texas, Austin, and a MSc in
Management from London Business School. He has
44 years’ professional experience.

Mr. Rajeev Kakar is a Board Member of Eurobank
Ergasias SA (Greece), Commercial International Bank
(Egypt) and is a Global Advisory Board member at
the University of Chicago’s Booth School of Business,
SP Jain School of Global Management and Indian
Institute of Management — Pan IIM Board (GCC). He
is also a Board Member at Gulf International Bank -
Saudi Arabia.

From 2006-2018, he was the Global Co-Founder
of Fullerton Financial Holdings, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Temasek Holdings, Singapore; and
served concurrently as the Global CEO of Consumer
Banking, Regional CEO for Central Europe, Middle
East and Africa; and as the founder, Managing
Director and CEO of Dunia Finance, Fullerton’s

UAE subsidiary. Prior to that, he was at Citibank
for 20 years, finishing as the Regional CEO &
Division Executive - Turkey, Middle East and Africa.
Additionally, he also served as Board Member of
Commercial International Bank (Kenya) and Unit
Trust of India Asset Management Co. Ltd.

Mr. Kakar holds an MBA, Finance & Marketing from
the Indian Institute of Management, and a B. Tech
in Mechanical Engineering from the Indian Institute
of Technology. He has 38 years’ professional
experience.

Mr. Frank Schwab is a strategic advisor, a co-founder
of FinTech Forum Frankfurt, and a member of the
Supervisory Boards of Addiko Bank in Vienna and
Hauck & Aufhaeuser Innovative Capital in Frankfurt.
Mr. Schwab is also a Board Member of Tawrid.

His main topics are innovation, crypto currencies,
blockchain, technology, transformation and banking.

Previously, Mr. Schwab was the CEO of GIZS GmbH
& Co KG (Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe / paydirekt),
MD of Token GmbH Germany, and CEO of Fidor
Solutions AG. He was also the Chairman of Hufsy
in Copenhagen, and a senior advisor to McKinsey
on banking transformation in Germany. He has held
numerous management roles at Deutsche Bank
AG, including Director for Strategy, Architecture,
Business Development and Innovation; Group
Technology & Operations; Private & Business
Clients; IT & Operations; as well as Head of Internet
& E-Commerce Technology. He also lectured for
several years at the Mannheim Business School
Creativity and Innovation Management. Additionally,
he also served as a member of the Risk Advisory
Committee at PayU (Amsterdam) and a Senior
Strategic Advisor at Nagarro.

Mr. Schwab holds an Executive MBA from Ashridge,
UK and completed a Bank Officer apprenticeship
with Deutsche Bank, Mannheim, Germany, and study
of Computer Science and Business Administration

at the University of Mannheim. He has 28 years’
professional experience.
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Abdulaziz Al-Helaissi

Group Chief Executive Officer and Board Member,
Chairman — Gulf International Bank (UK) Limited
Vice Chairman - Gulf International Bank - Saudi Arabia

Abdulaziz Al-Helaissi has 35 years of banking and
regulatory experience, holding leadership roles in major
financial institutions and regulatory bodies. His board
memberships span governmental, semi-governmental and
private sector entities. He holds a BA in Economics from
the University of Texas at Austin, USA.

Sara Abdulhadi

Chief Executive Officer, GIB B.S.C.
Non-Executive Director, Gulf International Bank (UK)
Limited

Khaled Abbas

Chief Executive Officer, GIB Saudi Arabia,
Non-Executive Board Member, GIB Capital

Katherine Garrett-Cox

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer,
Gulf International Bank (UK) Limited

Senior management biographies

Osamah Shaker
Chief Executive Officer and Board Member, GIB Capital

Sara Abdulhadi has more than 21 years of experience in global
markets activities and strategic planning with a background

in investments, derivative and FX trading; as well as liquidity
and funding management. She holds an MSc in Investment
Management from Bayes Business School, City University,
London, and a BSc in Accounting from King Saud University,
Riyadh. Sara has also completed the Advanced Management
Program (AMP) at Harvard Business School.
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Khaled Abbas has 28 years’ regional banking experience
in Saudi Arabia, Bahrain and the UAE. He holds a BSc in
Business Studies from Lebanese American University,
Beirut, Lebanon and has obtained executive education
degrees from Harvard Business School, Darden Business
School at the University of Virginia, and INSEAD, France.
Khaled has also completed the Advanced Management
Program (AMP) at Harvard Business School.

Katherine Garrett-Cox has over 35 years’ experience

in the global asset management industry, managing
institutional and retail funds across a broad range of
investment disciplines. Katherine holds a BA in History
from Durham University, UK and studied Leadership and
Public Policy for the 21°t Century at John F. Kennedy
School of Government, Harvard University, USA.

Osamah Shaker has over 26 years’ experience in
investment banking, asset management and banking
regulatory control and holds a MSc in Statistics from
Colorado State University, USA, and a Bachelor of
Administrative Science degree in Quantitative Methods,
from King Saud University, Riyadh.
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Mushari Al Otaibi

Group Chief Operating Officer and interim
Group Head of Retail Banking

Marwan Abiad
Group Chief Financial Officer

Arun Hari
Group Chief Risk Officer

Mushari Al Otaibi has over 33 years’
experience in back office operations,
human resources, retail banking and wealth
management. Mushari attended the High
Performers Leadership Programme at
INSEAD, France, and the Finance for Non-
Finance Executives Programme at London
Business School in UK.

Sridhar lyer

Group Chief Digital Officer and Deputy Head
of Retail

Marwan Abiad has 42 years of international
experience across banking, finance,
insurance, risk management, and operations.
He holds both a Bachelor’s and a Master’s
degree in Business Administration from

the American University of Beirut. He is a
Certified Public Accountant (CPA) and holds
the Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) and
Financial Risk Manager (FRM) certifications.

Sukhwinder Nijjar
Group Chief Transformation Officer

Arun Hari has over 33 years of experience in
corporate banking and risk management and
holds a BSc in Mathematics from Mahatma
Gandhi University, India and an MBA from
Southern New Hampshire University, USA.

Saleem Al Dabbagh
Group Chief Compliance Officer

Sridhar lyer has over 30 years of international
digital banking experience and holds a PGDM in
Finance and Marketing from the Indian Institute
of Management, Bangalore and a BE in Chemical
Engineering from the Birla Institute of Technology
and Science.
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Sukhwinder Nijjar has over 26 years of
international banking experience in business
development, strategic planning and operational
risk across the UK, Asia and the Middle East. He
holds BSc in Economics and Accounting from
City University in London and is a Fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Saleem Al Dabbagh has 31 years’ experience in
compliance and risk management, gained across
a range of financial institutions. He holds a Master
of Business Administration from Anglia Ruskin
University in London, along with several related
certifications, including Certified Anti-Money
Laundering Specialist (ACAMS), Certified ACAMS-
Audit, and Certified Enterprise Risk Management
Professional from the London School of Business
& Finance. He is also a graduate of the Next-Level
Leadership Program from London Business School.

Ali Abdulhadi
Group Chief Auditor

Senior management biographies

Helen Lloyd
Group Chief Human Resources Officer

Ali Abdulhadi has 33 years’ senior level
banking and audit experience. He has a
Bachelor of Accounting degree from King
Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia,
and is an associate member of the Institute
of Internal Auditors and the Institute of
Management Accountants.

Meshari Al-Mogbel
Group Chief Treasury and Investment Officer

Helen Lloyd has over 36 years’ international
experience in human resources development,
learning and cultural transformation and
holds an MBA from Heriot Watt University,
UK; and a BA from the University of

South Africa (UNISA). She attended the
Management Development Programme at
UNISA School of Business Leadership.

Sulaiman Balghonaim
Group Chief Wholesale Banking Officer

Meshari has more than two decades

of experience in global markets and
investments. He holds a BSc in Applied
Medical Sciences from King Saud University,
Saudi Arabia. He is also a graduate of the
Senior Executive Program at London Business
School.

Sulaiman has around 18 years’ experience
in corporate banking, with expertise in
corporate banking, financial institutions, and
global transaction banking. Sulaiman holds
a BSc in Finance and Economics from King
Fahd University of Petroleum and Minerals,
Saudi Arabia.
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Committee and have accountability to the Group CEO and the Entity CEO

+ Functional Heads who ‘double hat’ have reporting line into the entity CEOs for their respective mandate
+ Control Functions in subsidiary/branch (such as Compliance, Internal Audit, Risk Management, Finance, etc.) have a functional reporting to

Group Heads

+ Group Functions exercise adequate oversight over subsidiaries and branches. Group Control Functions report directly to the Board
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders

of Gulf International Bank B.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of Gulf International Bank B.S.C. (the “Bank”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at

31 December 2024, and the consolidated statements

of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity

and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and its consolidated financial performance
and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent

of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the

1. Impairment of loans and advances under IFRS 9

Key audit matter

The Group exercises significant judgment using
subjective assumptions over both when and how much
to record as loan impairment, and estimation of the
amount of the Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”) for loans
and advances.

Loans and advances form a major portion of the
Group’s assets, and due to the significance of the
judgments used in classifying loans and advances into
various stages stipulated in I-Rs 9 and determining
related ECL requirements, this audit area is considered
a key audit risk.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gross loans and
advances amounted to US$ 15,703.9 million and the
related impairment provisions amounted to US$ 301.6
million, comprising of US$ 182.9 million of provision
against Stage 1 and 2 exposures and US$ 118.7 million
against exposures classified under Stage 3.

The accounting policies relating to estimating ECL
are presented in the accounting policies, and the
associated credit risk disclosure is presented in Note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

consolidated financial statements in the Kingdom of Bahrain,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and IESBA Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024. These matters were addressed
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters.

Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

How the key audit matter was addressed in the audit

» We gained an understanding of the Group’s key credit

processes comprising granting, booking, monitoring and
provisioning, including an understanding of the design and
operating effectiveness of relevant controls over the ECL
model, including model build and approval, ongoing monitoring/
validation, governance and mathematical accuracy.

» We read the Group’s IFRS 9 based impairment provisioning

policy and compared it with the requirements of FRS 9 as well
as relevant regulatory guidelines and pronouncements.

» We assessed the soundness of the Group’s loan grading
processes.

Stage 1 and Stage 2 Provisions:
» For ECL against exposures classified as Stage 1 and Stage

2, we obtained an understanding of the Group’s provisioning
methodology, the underlying assumptions and the sufficiency
of the data used by management.

» We obtained an understanding of the Group’s internal rating

model for loans and advances.

= We have read the annual external validation report on the

internal rating model to assess the appropriateness of the
rating model.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders
of Gulf International Bank B.S.C. (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

1. Impairment of loans and advances under IFRS99 (continued)

Key audit matter How the key audit matter was addressed in the audit

= We checked the appropriateness of the Group’s determination
of significant increase in credit risk and the resultant basis for
classification of exposures into various stages.

= For forward looking assumptions used by the Group in its
ECL calculations, we held discussions with management and
corroborated the assumptions using publicly available information.

» For a sample of exposures, we checked the appropriateness of the
Group’s staging.

= For Probability of Default (“PD”) used in the ECL calculations we
checked the Through the Cycle (“TTC”) PDs with internal historical
data and checked the appropriateness of conversion of the TTC
PDs to Point in Time PDs.

= We checked the appropriateness of the Loss Given Default used
by the Group’s management in the ECL calculations.

= For a sample of exposures, we checked the appropriateness of
determining Exposure at Default, including the consideration
of repayments in the cash flows and the resultant arithmetical
calculations.

» We checked the completeness of loans and advances, and credit
related contingent Items included in the ECL calculations as of
31 December 2024.

= We involved Financial Services Risk Management and Information
System specialists to verify the appropriateness of the model.

= We considered the adequacy of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 9.
Refer to the material accounting policies, accounting judgements,
estimates and assumptions, disclosures of loans and advances
and credit risk management in notes 3, 5, 12 and 31 respectively
to the consolidated financial statements.

Stage 3 (Specific) Provisions:

» For a sample of exposures determined to be individually impaired,
we obtained an understanding of the latest developments in the
counterparty’s situation and examined management’s estimate of
future cash flows and checked the resultant provision calculations.

= For each exposure in the sample selected, we re-pertormed the
provision calculation by considering the appropriateness of the
management assumptions used and where possible benchmarked
the provision held to that across the industry.

CONTENTS O
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders
of Gulf International Bank B.S.C. (continued)

Other information included in the Group’s 2024 Annual Report Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated

ial
Other information consists of the information included financial statements

in the Group’s 2024 Annual Report, other than the Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
thereon. The Board of Directors is responsible for the other are free from material misstatement, whether due to
information. Prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes
obtained the Chairman’s Statement which will form part of our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of

the annual report, and the remaining sections of the annual assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
report are expected to be made available to us after that in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material

date. misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above when it becomes available
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed on the other information
obtained prior to the date of the auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the consolidated forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the

financial statements override of internal control.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with FRS Accounting Standards
and for such internal control as the Board of Directors
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of
Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to

the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

+ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.

= Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of

Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether

a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue
as a going concern.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders

of Gulf International Bank B.S.C. (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

= Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for the performance of the Group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Group’s Audit Committee
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We communicate with the Group’s Audit Committee
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Group’s Audit Committee with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate
to them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or the
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Group’s Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication..

CONTENTS O

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law
and Volume 1 of the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) Rule
Book, we report that:

a) the Bank has maintained proper accounting records, and
the consolidated financial statements are in agreement
therewith;

b) the financial information contained in the Chairman’s
Statement is consistent with the consolidated financial
statements;

c) we are not aware of any violations of the Bahrain
Commercial Companies Law, the Central Bank of
Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, the CBB Rule
Book (Volume 1 and applicable provisions of Volume
6) and CBB directives, or the terms of the Bank’s
memorandum and articles of association during the
year ended 31 December 2024 that might have had a
material adverse effect on the business of the Bank or
on its consolidated financial position; and

d) satisfactory explanations and information have been
provided to us by management in response to all our
requests.

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Nader Rahimi.

Samet ¥

Partner’s registration no.115
24 February 2025
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain
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31.12.24 31.12.23
Note US$ millions US$ millions
ASSETS
Cash and other liquid assets 7 9,882.6 17,006.5
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 975.4 743.9
Placements 7,266.6 7,077.4
Trading securities 10 3284 270.8
Investment securities 11 7,279.4 6,716.2
Loans and advances 12 15,402.3 13,624.6
Other assets 13 1,756.8 1,630.5
Total assets 42,891.5 47,069.9
LIABILITIES
Deposits from banks 15 1,665.2 883.9
Deposits from customers 15 28,195.2 34,5179
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 16 1,848.8 743.1
Other liabilities 17 1,692.6 1,535.7
Senior term financing 18 5,573.9 5,620.7
Subordinated term financing 19 399.3 400.0
Total liabilities 39,375.0 43,701.3
EQUITY
Share capital 20 2,000.0 2,000.0
Reserves 21 2229 237.3
Retained earnings 252.6 1313
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Bank 2,475.5 2,368.6
Non-controlling interest 44 1,041.0 1,000.0
Total equity 3,516.5 3,368.6
Total liabilities & equity 42,891.5 47,069.9

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

AT

Abdulla Mohammed Al Zamil
Chairman of the Board

Rajeev Kakar
Chairman of the Board Audit Committee

The notes on pages 53 to 108 from part of these consolidated financial statements

Abdulaziz A. Al-Helaissi
Group Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated Statement of Income Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31.12.24 31.12.23 31.12.24 31.12.23
Note US$ millions US$ millions Note US$ millions US$ millions
Interest income 23 2,673.2 2,198.9 Net income 180.2 169.4
Interest expense 23 2,151.0 1,700.4 Other comprehensive income:
Net interest income 522.2 498.5 Items that will be reclassified to consolidated statement of income:
Net fee and commission income 24 121.8 1025 Net changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 21 1.9 -
Trading income 25 19.2 60.9 Net change in fair value of debt instruments at fair value through other
Foreign exchange income 26 325 37.2 comprehensive income (FVOCI) (3-4) -
Other income 27 20.5 8.5 Net change in the allowance for expected credit losses of debt instruments at
FVOCI 0.4 -
Total operating income 716.2 707.6
(1.1) -
[tems that will not be reclassified to consolidated statement of income:
Staff expenses 271.8 249.5
) Net change in fair value of equity instruments at FVOCI (3.8) 135
Premises expenses 20.8 18.5
] Remeasurement of defined benefit pension fund (35.5) 2.6
Other operating expenses 157.4 128.8
Net changes in deferred tax reserves 21 8.1 1.1)
Total operating expenses 450.0 396.8
- . (31.2) 15.0
Net income before provisions and tax 266.2 310.8
Total other comprehensive (loss) / income (32.3) 15.0
o ) Total comprehensive income 147.9 184.4
Provision for expected credit losses 28 (54.9) (112.0)
Net income before tax 211.3 198.8
Taxation and zakat charges 29 (31.1) (29.4) Attributable to:
Net income 180.2 169.4 Shareholders of the Bank 106.9 147.0
Non-controlling interest 41.0 374
Attributable to: 147.9 184.4
Shareholders of the Bank 134.8 140.0
Non-controlling interest 45.4 29.4
180.2 169.4
Abdulla Mohammed Al Zamil Rajeev Kakar Abdulaziz A. Al-Helaissi
Chairman of the Board Chairman of the Board Audit Committee Group Chief Executive Officer
The notes on pages 53 to 108 from part of these consolidated financial statements The notes on pages 53 to 108 from part of these consolidated financial statements

CONTENTS O
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Bank

Non-
Share Retained controlling
capital Reserves earnings Total interest Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 1t January 2024 2,000.0 237.3 131.3 2,368.6 1,000.0 3,368.6
Net income for the year - - 134.8 134.8 45.4 180.2
Other comprehensive loss for the year - (27.9) - (27.9) (4.4) (32.3)
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for
the year - (27.9) 134.8 106.9 41.0 147.9
Transfers during the year - 13.5 (13.5) - - -
At 31t December 2024 2,000.0 2229 252.6 2,475.5 1,041.0 3,516.5
At 1* January 2023 2,500.0 450.6 (729.0) 2,221.6 962.6 3,184.2
Net income for the year - - 140.0 140.0 29.4 169.4
Other comprehensive income for the year - 7.0 - 7.0 8.0 15.0
Total comprehensive income for the year - 7.0 140.0 147.0 37.4 184.4
Transfers during the year - 8.7 (8.7) - - -
Share capital reduction (note 20) (500.0) (229.0) 729.0 - - -
At 31 December 2023 2,000.0 237.3 1313 2,368.6 1,000.0 3,368.6

The notes on pages 53 to 108 from part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended Year ended
31.12.24 31.12.23
Note US$ millions US$ millions
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the year 180.2 169.4
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 18.5 28.8
Provision for expected credit losses - net 54.9 112.0
Realised loss on debt investment securities - 0.2
Operating income before changes in operating assets and liabilities 253.6 310.4
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Statutory deposits with central banks (5.0) (56.8)
Certificates of deposit with original maturities of three months and more (482.4) (195.0)
Derivative valuation margin 31.0 (323.1)
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (231.5) (548.1)
Placements with original maturities of three months and more 215.5 (505.2)
Trading securities (57.6) (95.4)
Loans and advances (1,828.3) (2,235.4)
Interest receivable (27.0) (135.6)
Other assets (97.3) 179.4
Deposits from banks 781.3 374.8
Deposits from customers (6,322.7) 12,577.4
Securities sold under agreement to repurchase 1,105.7 205.7
Interest payable (27.5) 61.8
Other liabilities 180.8 (40.3)
Net cash (used in) /7 from operating activities (6,511.4) 9,574.6
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investment securities (2,855.7) (1,595.1)
Maturity / sale of investment securities 2,290.4 6733
Purchase of premises and equipment (51.6) (45.5)
Net cash used in investing activities (616.9) (967.3)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of financing 1,879.7 1,876.6
Maturity of financing (1,927.2) (796.8)
Net cash (used in) / from financing activities (47.5) 1,079.8
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (7,175.8) 9,687.1
Cash and cash equivalents at 1% January 19,126.5 9,439.4
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 7 11,950.7 19,126.5

Cash and cash equivalents at 31% December 2024 excludes statutory deposits with the Central Bank amounting to US$502.7
million (2023: US$497.7 million), certificates of deposit with original maturities of three months or more amounting to US$677.4
million (2023: US$195.0 million) and derivative valuation margin amounting to US$253.9 million (2023: US$283.9 million) and
includes placements with original maturities of less than three months amounting to US$3,501.1 million (2023: US$3,096.6 million).

The notes on pages 53 to 108 from part of these consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.2

2.3

Incorporation and registration

The parent company, Gulf International Bank B.S.C. (“the Bank”), is a Bahraini Shareholding Company incorporated in the
Kingdom of Bahrain by Amiri Decree Law No. 30 dated 24" November 1975 and is registered as a conventional wholesale
bank and a conventional retail bank with the Central Bank of Bahrain. The registered office of the Bank is located at Al-Dowali
Building, 3 Palace Avenue, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain.

The Bank and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of wholesale commercial, asset
management, investment banking and retail consumer banking services. The Group operates through subsidiaries, branch
offices and representative offices located in seven countries worldwide. The total number of staff at the end of the financial
year was 1,437 (2023:1,379).

Basis of preparation
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and in conformity with the Bahrain
Commercial Companies Law and the Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law.

Basis of measurement and presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation
of trading securities, equity investment securities, derivative financial instruments and pension assets and liabilities as
explained in more detail in the following accounting policies. Recognised assets and liabilities that are hedged by derivative
financial instruments are also stated at fair value in respect of the risk that is being hedged. The Group’s consolidated financial
statements are presented in United States Dollars (US$), which is also the Bank’s functional currency. All values are rounded-
off to the nearest million (US$ million), except where otherwise indicated.

Consolidation principles

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Gulf International Bank B.S.C. and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries
are companies and other entities, including special purpose entities, which the Bank controls. Control is achieved when the
Group has:

- Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee);
- Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

- The ability to use its power over the investee to affect those returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

- The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
- Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
- The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains
control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCl) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent
of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the
Bank loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interests
and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is
recognised at fair value at the date of loss of control.

The principal subsidiaries and the Group’s ownership of each are set out in note 43.
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3.1

a)

Material accounting policies
The material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below:

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities comprise all assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position,
excluding employee benefit plans and property and equipment.

Recognition and measurement

The Group recognises financial assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position when, and only when,
the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial instruments are classified at inception into one of the following categories, which then determine the subsequent
measurement methodology:

Financial assets are classified into one of the following three categories:

- financial assets at amortised cost;

- financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI); or

- financial assets at fair value through the profit or loss (FVTPL).

Financial liabilities are classified into one of the following two categories:

- financial liabilities at amortised cost; or

- financial liabilities at fair value through the profit or loss (FVTPL).

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value including transaction costs attributable to the financial asset, with the
exception of trade receivables which are recognised at fair value. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value,

representing the proceeds received net of premiums, discounts and transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
financial liability.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities classified as FVTPL are recognised on the trade date, i.e.
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the financial asset or liability. All regular way purchases and sales
of other financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the settlement date, i.e. the date on which the asset or liability is
received from or delivered to the counterparty. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Subsequent to initial measurement, financial assets and liabilities are measured at either amortised cost or fair value. The
classification and the basis for measurement are subject to the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets, as detailed below:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method if:
- theassets are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

If the first criteria is not met, the financial assets are classifled and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVTOCI). If both criteria are not met, the financial assets are classified and measured at fair value through the profit
or loss (FVTPL).

Additionally, even if a financial asset meets the amortised cost criteria, the Group may choose to designate the financial asset

at FVTPL. Such an election is irrevocable and applicable only if the FVTPL classification significantly reduces a measurement

or recognition inconsistency.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

At initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election to classify an equity investment that is not held for trading

as FVTOCI.

For this purpose, a financialasset is deemed to be held for trading if the equity investment meets any of the following conditions:

- it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term;

- on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which
there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profitability; or

- itis a derivative and not designated and effective as a hedging instrument or a financial guarantee.

The irrevocable election is on an instrument-by-instrument basis. If an equity investment is designated as FVTOCI, all gains

and losses, except for dividend income, are recognised in other comprehensive income and are not subsequently included in
the consolidated statement of income.
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3.  Material accounting policies (continued)
a) Recognition and measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through the profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets not otherwise classified above are classified and measured as FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All financial liabilities, other than those classified as financial liabilities at FVTPL, are classified as financial liabilities at amortised
cost and are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method as described in note 3.4(a).

Financial liabilities at fair value through the profit or loss

Financial liabilities not otherwise classified above are classified as financial liabilities at FVTPL. This classification includes
derivatives that are liabilities measured at fair value.

b)  Modification of assets and liabilities

Financial assets

Ifthe terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are substantially
different. If the cash flows are substantially different, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new financial asset
is recognised at either amortised cost or fair value. If the cash flows are not substantially different, then the modification
does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset and recognises the amount arising from adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in
the statement of income.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are
substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at either amortised cost
or fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the new financial liability
with modified terms is recognised in the statement of income.

3.2 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit loss (ECL) associated with its debt instruments assets
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and against the exposure arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts. The Group recognises an ECL for such losses on origination and reassess the expected credit losses at each reporting
date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

- Anunbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
- The time value of money; and

- Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

To calculate ECL, the Group estimates the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument during its expected life. ECLs
are estimated based on the present value of all cash shortfalls over the remaining expected life of the financial asset, i.e., the
difference between: the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group under the contract, and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate of the loan.

Measurement of ECL
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

- Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive);

- Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows; and

- Financial guarantee contracts: estimates the ECLs based on the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the guarantor expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party. If a loan is fully guaranteed, the ECL estimate for the financial guarantee contract would be the same as
the estimated cash shortfall estimate for the loan subject to the guarantee.

For the purposes of ECL calculation, the Group categorises its financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL into Stage
1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, based on the applied impairment methodology, as described below. Equity investments are not subject
to impairment assessments.
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Material accounting policies (continued)
3.2 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

- Stage 1: for financial instruments where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and
that are not credit-impaired on origination, the Group recognises an allowance based on the 12-month ECL.

- Stage 2:for financial instruments where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired, the Group recognises an allowance for the lifetime ECL.

- Stage 3: for credit-impaired financial instruments, the Group recognises the lifetime ECL.

12-month ECL is the portion of ECL that results from probable default events on a financial instrument within 12 months after
the reporting date.

Lifetime ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses and is determined based on the difference between the
present value of all cash shortfalls. The cash shortfall is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group and the present value of the recoverable amount at the reporting date. For Stage 3 financial instruments, the
recoverable amount is measured as the present value of expected future cash flows, including amounts recoverable from
guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the interest rate at the inception of the credit facility or, for debt instruments,
at the current market rate of interest for a similar financial asset.

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument
has increased significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. The Group takes into consideration the
economic forecasts published by the IMF and the Group formulates a fundamental view of the future direction of relevant
economic variables as well as a reasonable range of possible scenarios and its weights.

For the purposes of categorisation into above stages, the Group has established a policy to perform an assessment at the end
of each reporting period of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition by considering the change in
the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument as follows:

Stage 1

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount up to 12-month ECL for Stage 1 customers. All financial assets are
classified as Stage 1 on initial recognition date. Subsequently on each reporting date the Group classifies following as Stage 1:

- Debt type assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
- On which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition.

The Group applies the low credit risk presumption and considers all exposures to GCC sovereigns as low credit risk.
Stage 2

IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified in Stage 2 when their credit risk has increased significantly since their initial
recognition. For these assets, a loss allowance needs to be recognised based on their lifetime ECLs.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk of an asset by comparing the rating migration
upon initial recognition of the asset against the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the end of each reporting period.
In each case, this assessment is based on forward-looking assessment, in order to recognise the probability of higher losses
associated with more negative economic outlooks. Inaddition, a significant increase in credit risk is assumed if the borrower falls
more than 30 days past due in making its contractual payments, or if the Group expects to grant the borrower forbearance or
facility has been restructured owing to credit related reasons, or the facility is placed on the Group’s list of accounts requiring
close monitoring. Further, any facility having an internal credit risk rating of 7 are also subject to Stage 2 ECL calculation.

It is the Group’s policy to evaluate additional available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information as further
additional drivers.

For revolving facilities such as credit cards and overdrafts, the Group measures ECLs by determining the period over which it
expects to be exposed to credit risk, taking into account the credit risk management actions that it expects to take once the
credit risk has increased and that serve to mitigate losses.
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3.3

Material accounting policies (continued)
3.2 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)
Stage 3

Financial assets are included in Stage 3 when there is objective evidence that the loan is credit impaired. At each reporting
date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets carried at FVOCI are
credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- abreach of contract such as a default;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
- itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered to be credit impaired
unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other
indicators of impairment. In addition, a loan that is overdue for 90 days or more is considered impaired.

In making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-impaired, the Group considers the following
factors.

- The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields.
- The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness.
- The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.

- The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through voluntary or mandatory debt
forgiveness.

- Theinternational support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as ‘lender of last resort’ to that country, as
well as the intention, reflected in public statements, of governments and agencies to use those mechanisms. This includes
an assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of the political intent, whether there is the capacity to
fulfil the required criteria.

Financialassets which have beenrenegotiated or modified are no longer considered to be past due and are placed on performing
status when all principal and interest payments are up to date and future payments are reasonably assured. Financial assets
subject to individual impairment assessment and whose terms have been renegotiated, are subject to on-going review to
determine whether they remain impaired or should be considered past due. All renegotiated or modified facilities are classified
as Stage 2 or Stage 3 for a minimum period of 12 months from the date of renegotiation. The ECL on renegotiated financial
instruments is measured based on whether the terms of renegotiation resulted in the derecognition of an existing asset.

In general, loans are transferred out of Stage 3 if they no longer meet the criteria of credit-impaired and after satisfying the
curing criteria of the Bank.

Provisions for expected credit losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income and are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position in an allowance account against loans and advances, investment securities, and
placements (as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets).

Financial assets are written off after all restructuring and collection activities have taken place and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. Subsequent recoveries are included in other income.

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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3.4

a)

b)

)

d)

3.5

Material accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition
Interest income and interest expense

Interest income and interest expense for all interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities except those classified as FVTPL
are recognised using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the expected
life of the asset or liability. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows through
the expected life of the financial asset or liability or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset or liability. The application of the effective interest rate method has the effect of recognising interest income
and interest expense evenly in proportion to the amount outstanding over the period to maturity or repayment.

In calculating the effective interest rate, cash flows are estimated taking into consideration all contractual terms of the
financial asset or liability but excluding future credit losses. Fees, including loan origination fees and early redemption fees, are
included in the calculation of the effective interest rate to the extent that they are considered to be an integral part of the
effective interest rate.

Interest income is suspended when either interest or principal on a credit facility is overdue by more than 90 days whereupon
all unpaid and accrued interest is reversed from income. Interest on non-accrual facilities is included in income only when
received. Credit facilities are restored to accrual status only after all delinquent interest and principal payments have been
brought current and future payments are reasonably assured.

Fees and commissions

Fees and commissions that are integral to the effective interest rate of a financial asset or liability are included in the calculation
of the effective interest rate.

Other fees and commissions are recognised as the related services are performed or received, and are included in fee and
commission income.

Trading and foreign exchange income

Trading and foreign exchange income arise from earnings generated from customer business and market making, and from
changes in fair value resulting from movements in interest and exchange rates, equity prices and other market variables.
Changes in fair value and gains and losses arising on the purchase and sale of trading instruments are included in trading
income, together with the related interest income, interest expense and dividend income.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised as follows:

- dividends from equity instruments classified as FVTPL are recognised when the right to receive the dividend is established
and are included in trading income.

- dividends from equity instruments classified as FVTOCI are recognised when the right to receive the dividend is established
and are included in other income.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date are not derecognised from the statement of
financial position as the Group retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. The corresponding cash received
is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position as an asset with a corresponding obligation to return it,
including accrued interest as a liability within cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase agreements, reflecting the
transaction’s economic substance as a loan to the Group. The difference between the sale and repurchase prices is treated
as interest expense and is accrued over the life of agreement using the EIR. When the counterparty has the right to sell or
re-pledge the securities, the Group reclassifies those securities in its statement of financial position to FVTPL financial assets
pledged as collateral or to FVOCI financial investments pledged as collateral, as appropriate.

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified future date are not recognised in the statement of
financial position. The consideration paid, including accrued interest, is recorded in the statement of financial position, within
cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse repurchase agreements, reflecting the transaction’s economic substance
as a loan by the Bank. The difference between the purchase and resale prices is recorded in net interest income and is accrued
over the life of the agreement using the EIR.

If securities purchased under an agreement to resell are subsequently sold to third parties, the obligation to return the
securities is recorded as a short sale within financial liabilities held for trading and measured at fair value with any gains or
losses included in net trading income.
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3.7

3.8

Material accounting policies (continued)
Premises and equipment

Land is stated at cost. Other premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The residual values
and useful lives of premises and equipment are reviewed at each balance sheet date, and adjusted where appropriate.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over various periods. Where the carrying amount of premises or
equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount.

Generally, costs associated with the maintenance of existing computer software are recognised as an expense when
incurred. However, expenditure that enhances and extends the benefits of computer software programs beyond their original
specifications and lives is recognised as a capital improvement and capitalised as part of the original cost of the software.

Other provisions

Other provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated
statement of income net of any reimbursement.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments are contracts, the value of which is derived from one or more underlying financial instruments
or indices, and include futures, forwards, swaps and options in the interest rate, foreign exchange, equity and credit markets.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. Fair values are
derived from prevailing market prices, discounted cash flow models or option pricing models as appropriate.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, derivative financial instruments with positive fair values (unrealised gains)
are included in other assets and derivative financial instruments with negative fair values (unrealised losses) are included in
other liabilities.

The changes in the fair values of derivative financial instruments entered into for trading purposes or to hedge other trading
positions are included in trading income.

The recognition of changes in the fair values of derivative financialinstruments entered into for hedging purposes is determined
by the nature of the hedging relationship. For the purposes of hedge accounting, derivative financial instruments are designated
as a hedge of either: (i) the fair value of a recognised asset or liability (fair value hedge), or (i) the future cash flows attributable
to arecognised asset or liability or a firm commitment (cash flow hedge).

The Group’s criteria for a derivative financial instrument to be accounted for as a hedge include:

- the hedging instrument, the related hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged, and the risk management objective
and strategy must be formally documented at the inception of the hedge,

- it must be clearly demonstrated that the hedge is expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in fair values or
cash flows attributable to the hedged risk in the hedged item, including how the Group will address the hedge ratio,

- the effectiveness of the hedge must be capable of being reliably measured, and

- there is an economic relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item and the effect of credit risk does
not dominate the fair value changes of that relationship.

Changes in the fair values of derivative financial instruments that are designated, and qualify, as fair value hedges and that
prove to be highly effective in relation to the hedged risk, are included in trading income together with the corresponding
change in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the risk that is being hedged. Unrealised gains
and losses arising on hedged assets or liabilities which are attributable to the hedged risk are adjusted against the carrying
amounts of the hedged assets or liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position. If the hedge no longer meets
the criteria for hedge accounting, any adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged interest-bearing financial instrument is
amortised to income over the remaining period to maturity.

Changes in the fair values of derivative financial instruments that are designated, and qualify, as cash flow hedges and that
prove to be highly effective in relation to the hedged risk, are recognised in other comprehensive income. Unrealised gains or
losses recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) are transferred to the consolidated statement of income at the same
time that the income or expense of the corresponding hedged item is recognised in the consolidated statement of income and
are included in the same income or expense category as the hedged item. Unrealised gains or losses on any ineffective portion
of cash flow hedging transactions are included in trading income.

The interest component of derivatives that are designated, and qualify, as fair value or cash flow hedges is included in interest
income or interest expense relating to the hedged item over the life of the derivative instrument.
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3.9

3.10

3.11

Material accounting policies (continued)
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the derivative hedging instrument either expires or is sold, terminated or exercised,
or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Gains and losses arising on the termination of derivatives designated as cash flow
hedges are recognised in interest income or interest expense over the original tenor of the terminated hedge transaction.

Some hybrid instruments contain both a derivative and non-derivative component. In such cases, the derivative is categorised
as an embedded derivative. Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if
certain criteria are met. Where it is not practically possible to separate the embedded derivative, the entire hybrid instrument
is categorised as a financial asset at FVTPL and measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are included in trading income.

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specific debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial
guarantees are issued to financial institutions and other counterparties on behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and
other banking facilities, and to other parties in relation to the performance of customers under obligations related to contracts,
advance payments made by other parties, tenders and retentions.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised at fair value on the date the guarantee is issued. The guarantee liability is
subsequently measured at the higher of the initial measurement, less amortisation to recognise the fee income earned over
the period, or the present value of any expected payments to settle the liability when a payment under the contract has
become probable. The expected loss on financial guarantees is measured at the expected payment to reimburse the holder
less any amounts that the Group expects to recover.

Post retirement benefits

The majority of the Group’s employees are eligible for post retirement benefits under either defined benefit or defined
contribution pension plans which are provided through separate trustee-administered funds, insurance plans or are directly
funded by the Group. The Group also pays contributions to government managed pension plans in accordance with the legal
requirements in each location.

The Group’s contributions to defined contribution pension plans are expensed in the year to which they relate.

The calculation of obligations in respect of the defined benefit pension plans are performed by qualified actuaries using
the projected unit credit method. The Group’s net obligation is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of the plan
assets. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Group, the recognised asset is limited to a ceiling so that it
does not exceed the economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability or asset, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return of plan
assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling, are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of
other comprehensive income. The Group determines the net interest expense or income on the net defined benefit liability or
asset for the year by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year to
the opening net defined benefit liability or asset. Net interest expense and other expenses related to the defined benefit plans
are recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past service
or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of income. The Group recognises
gains and losses on the settlement of defined benefit plans when the settlement occurs.

Taxation and zakat

The Global Anti-Base Erosion Pillar Two Model Rules (“GloBE rules”) established by the Organization for Economic Cooperation
and Development (“OECD” apply to multinational enterprise (“MNE”) groups with total annual consolidated revenue exceeding
EUR 750 million in at least two of the four preceding fiscal years.

In line with the requirements of GloBE rules, the Kingdom of Bahrain has issued and enacted Decree Law No. (11) of 2024
(“Bahrain DMTT law”) on 1% September 2024 introducing a domestic minimum top-up tax (“DMTT”) of up to 15% on the
taxable income of the Bahrain resident entities within the Group for fiscal years beginning on or after 1°* January 2025.

The Group is currently preparing for compliance with Bahrain DMTT law and GloBE rules by upgrading the reporting system,
evaluating transfer pricing adjustments and aligning with domestic and international DMTT regulations. The Group’s
management has filed for the DMTT registration and is in the process of estimating the quantitative impact of the Bahrain
DMTT law and GloBE rules.

Taxation on income from foreign entities is provided for in accordance with the fiscal regulations of the countries in which the
respective entities operate.
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3.11

a)

b)

3.12

3.13

3.14

3.15

3.16

Material accounting policies (continued)
Taxation and zakat (continued)

Current tax

Current taxation is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted at the reporting date,
and includes any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, for temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which the unutilised tax losses and credits can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. Currently
enacted tax rates are used to determine deferred taxes.

The Group’s entities operating in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia are subject to Zakat in accordance with the regulations of the
Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority (“ZATCA”). Zakat expense is charged to the statement of income. Zakat is not accounted
for as income tax and as such no deferred tax is calculated relating to zakat.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents referred to in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise of cash and non-restricted
balances with central banks, deposits and placements with banks with maturities of less than three months.

Trading securities

Trading securities are initially recorded at fair value. Subsequent to initial measurement, gains and losses arising from changes
in fair values are included in the consolidated statement of income in the period in which they arise. Interest earned and
dividends received are included in ‘interest income’ and ‘other income’ respectively, in the consolidated statement of income.

Placements

Placements are initially measured at fair value and subsequently remeasured at amortised cost, net of any amounts written
off and provision for ECL. The carrying values of such assets which are being effectively hedged for changes in fair value
are adjusted to the extent of the changes in fair value being hedged, with the resultant changes being recognised in the
consolidated statement of income.

Deposits

All bank and customer deposits are initially measured at fair value and subsequently remeasured at amortised cost. An
adjustment is made to these, if part of an effective fair value hedging strategy, to adjust the value of the deposit for the fair
value being hedged with the resultant changes being recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Leases

At inception, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right
to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e, the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The right-of-use assets
are also subject to impairment. The Group discloses right of use assets under other assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (less any lease incentives receivable), variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.
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3.16

3.17

3.18

3.19

3.20

3.21

3.22

3.23

Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount
of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the

lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease
payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group discloses lease liabilities under other liabilities.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of
low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Segment reporting

An operating segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in business activities from which revenues
are earned and expenses are incurred, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s
other operating segments. All segments have discrete financial information which is regularly reviewed by the Group’s
Management Committee, being the Group’s chief operating decision maker, to make decisions about resources allocated
to the segment and to assess its performance. The Group’s Management Committee assesses the segments based on net
interest income which accounts for the majority of the Group’s revenues.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted to US Dollars at the spot rate of exchange prevailing at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into US Dollars at market rates of
exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date.

Fiduciary activities

The Group administers and manages assets owned by clients which are not reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Asset management fees are earned for providing investment management services and for managing mutual fund products.
Asset administration fees are earned for providing custodial services. Fees are recognised as the services are provided and are
included in fee and commission income.

Employee pension and other end of service benefits

Costs relating to employee pension and other end of service benefits are generally accrued in accordance with actuarial
valuations based on prevailing regulations applicable in each location.

Dividends

Dividends on issued shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by the Bank’s
shareholders.

Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year.

Capital management

The Group uses regulatory capital ratios and its economic capital framework to monitor its capital base. The Group manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments to the structure taking account of changes in economic conditions and strategic
business plans.

New and amended standards and interpretations
New and amended standards and interpretations issued and effective for the year

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those used in
the previous year except for the adoption of the following new and amended standards and interpretations, applicable to the
Group, and which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1t January 2024:

- Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants - Amendments to IAS 1.
- Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback — Amendments to IFRS 16
- Disclosures: Supplier Finance Arrangements -Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7.

None of these amendments will have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2024.
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4.
4.2

New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)
New and amended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

New and amended standards and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective are being assessed by the Group to
determine the impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Lack of exchangeability - Amendments to IAS 21

In August 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates to specify how
an entity should assess whether a currency is exchangeable and how it should determine a spot exchange rate when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments also require disclosure of information that enables users of its financial statements
to understand how the currency not being exchangeable into the other currency affects, or is expected to affect, the entity’s
financial performance, financial position and cash flows.

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Early adoption is
permitted, but will need to be disclosed. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments—Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

On 30* May 2024, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments (the Amendments). The Amendments include:

- A clarification that a financial liability is derecognised on the ‘settlement date’ and introduce an accounting policy choice
(if specific conditions are met) to derecognise financial liabilities settled using an electronic payment system before the
settlement date

- Additional guidance on how the contractual cash flows for financial assets with environmental, social and corporate
governance (ESG) and similar features should be assessed

- Clarifications on what constitute ‘non-recourse features’ and what are the characteristics of contractually linked
instruments

- The introduction of disclosures for financial instruments with contingent features and additional disclosure requirements
for equity instruments classified at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI)

The Amendments are effective for annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2026. Early adoption is permitted, with an
option to early adopt the amendments for classification of financial assets and related disclosures only. The Group is currently
not intending to early adopt the Amendments.

With respect to the amendments on the derecognition of financial liabilities that are settled through an electronic payment
system, the Group is currently performing an assessment of all material electronic payment systems utilised in the various
jurisdictions it operates, in order to assess whether the amendments will result in a material change with respect to current
practices and whether it meets the conditions to apply the accounting policy option to derecognise such financial liabilities
before the settlement date. Moreover, the Group is reviewing all its other payment systems (such as cheques, credit cards,
debit cards) to ensure that the corresponding financial assets are derecognised when the right to cash flows are extinguished
and that the corresponding financial liabilities are derecognised on settlement date.

In addition, the Group is assessing the impact of the Amendments on its financial assets that include environmental, social and
governance (ESG)-linked features and other similar contingent features, as wellas on non-recourse financing and contractually
linked instruments. Based on the initial assessment performed, the amendments in these areas are not expected to have a
material impact on the financial statements, however, the assessment is yet to be concluded.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

In April 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which replaces IAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements. IFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Furthermore, entities are required to classify all income and expenses within the statement of
profit or loss into one of five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations, whereof
the first three are new. There are specific presentation requirements and options for entities that have specified main business
activities (either providing finance to customers or investing in specific type of assets, or both).

It also requires disclosure of newly defined management-defined performance measures, which are subtotals of income and
expenses, and includes new requirements for aggregation and disaggregation of financial information based on the identified
‘roles’ of the primary financial statements and the notes.

Narrow-scope amendments have been made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, which include changing the starting point
for determining cash flows from operations under the indirect method, from ‘profit or loss’ to ‘operating profit or loss” and
removing the optionality around classification of cash flows from dividends and interest. In addition, there are consequential
amendments to several other standards.
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5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)
New and amended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 18, and the amendments to the other standards, are effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, but earlier application is permitted and must be disclosed. IFRS 18 will apply retrospectively.

The Group is currently working to identify all impacts the amendments will have on the primary financial statements and
notes to the financial statements.

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

In May 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 19, which allows eligible entities to elect to apply its reduced disclosure requirements while
still applying the recognition, measurement and presentation requirements in other IFRS accounting standards. To be eligible,
at the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in IFRS 10, cannot have public accountability and
must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements, available for public use, which
comply with IFRS accounting standards.

IFRS 19 will become effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early application permitted.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Accounting judgements estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of certain financial assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

The use of judgements, estimates and assumptions is principally limited to the determination of provisions for impairment,
the valuation of financial instruments, the valuation of the Group’s defined benefit pension plans, and in determining control
relationships over investees, as explained in more detail below:

Provisions for expected credit losses

Financial assets are evaluated for impairment on the basis set out in note 3.2. In determining impairment of financial assets,
judgement is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows as well as an assessment of whether
the credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and incorporation of forward-looking
information in the measurement of ECL.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Where the fair value of financial assets and liabilities cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety
of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The input to these models is derived from observable
markets where available, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in determining assumptions used in
the models. Changes in assumptions used in the models could affect the reported fair value of financial assets and liabilities.

Retirement benefit obligations

Management, in coordination with independent qualified actuaries, are required to make assumptions regarding the defined
benefit pension plans. The principal actuarial assumptions for the defined benefit pension plans are set out in note 14 and
include assumptions on the discount rate, return on pension plan assets, mortality, future salary increases, and inflation.
Changes in the assumptions could affect the reported asset, service cost and return on pension plan assets.

Determination of control over investees

The Group acts as fund manager to a number of investment funds. The determination of whether the Group controls an
investment fund is based on an assessment of the aggregate economic interests of the Group in the fund and includes an
assessment of any carried interests, expected management fees, and the investors’ rights to remove the Group as fund
manager.

Management are required to conclude whether the Group acts as an agent for the investors in the fund, or if the underlying
fund is controlled by the Group.

Going Concern

The Group’s management has performed an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied
that the Group has the resources to continue the business in the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the management is not
aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, these consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.
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6. Classification of assets and liabilities

The classification of assets and liabilities by accounting categorisation was as follows:

Non-financial

assets,
Amortised liabilities &
FVTPL FVTOCI cost equity Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions  US$ millions US$ millions
At 31 December 2024

Cash and other liquid assets - - 9,882.6 - 9,882.6

Securities purchased under agreements to
resell - - 975.4 - 975.4
Placements - - 7,266.6 - 7,266.6
Trading securities 3284 - - - 3284
Investment securities - 211.2 7,068.2 - 7,279.4
Loans and advances - - 15,402.3 - 15,402.3
Other assets 869.0 29.1 608.9 249.8 1,756.8
Total assets 1,197.4 240.3 41,204.0 249.8 42,891.5
Deposits from banks - - 1,665.2 - 1,665.2
Deposits from customers - - 28,195.2 - 28,195.2
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase - - 1,848.8 - 1,848.8
Other liabilities 644.4 28.5 873.2 146.5 1,692.6
Senior term financing - - 5,573.9 - 5,573.9
Subordinated term financing - - 399.3 - 399.3
Equity - - - 3,516.5 3,516.5
Total liabilities and equity 644.4 28.5 38,555.6 3,663.0 42,891.5

At 31 December 2023

Cash and other liquid assets - - 17,006.5 - 17,006.5

Securities purchased under agreements to
resell - - 743.9 - 743.9
Placements - - 7,077.4 - 7,077.4
Trading securities 270.8 - - - 270.8
Investment securities - 23.2 6,693.0 - 6,716.2
Loans and advances - - 13,624.6 - 13,624.6
Other assets 860.7 58.6 497.6 213.6 1,630.5
Total assets 1,131.5 81.8 45,643.0 2136 47,069.9
Deposits from banks - - 883.9 - 883.9
Deposits from customers - - 34,5179 - 34,5179
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase - - 743.1 - 743.1
Other liabilities 655.9 22.5 701.3 156.0 1,535.7
Senior term financing - - 5,620.7 - 5,620.7
Subordinated term financing - - 400.0 - 400.0
Equity - - - 3,368.6 3,368.6
Total liabilities and equity 655.9 225 42,866.9 3,524.6 47,069.9

Financial instruments classified as amortised cost include also financial instruments carried at fair value due to hedge

accounting refer note 35.6.

The other assets and other liabilities classified as financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL comprise the fair values of derivative
financial instruments. The fair value analysis of derivative financial instruments is set out in note 35.4.
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31.12.24 31.12.23

US$ millions US$ millions

Cash and balances with central banks 7,214.4 14,692.6
Cash and balances with banks 1,488.1 1,571.2
Certificates of deposit 677.4 245.0
Statutory deposits with central banks 502.7 497.7
Cash and other liquid assets 9,882.6 17,006.5

Statutory deposits with central banks are subject to local regulations which provide for restrictions on the deployment of

these funds.

Cash and balances with central banks include transitory client deposits related to cash management and payment services

(refer note 15).

Securities purchased under agreements to resell

The Group enters into collateralised lending transactions (reverse repurchase agreements) in the ordinary course of its
operating activities. The collateral is in the form of highly rated debt securities. The collateralised lending transactions are
conducted under standardised terms that are usual and customary for such transactions.

Placements
31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
Placements with central banks 1,820.4 1,490.2
Placements with banks 5,358.6 5,506.1
Other placements 88.1 81.8
Provisions for expected credit losses (0.5) ©.7)
Net placements 7,266.6 7,077.4
The placements with central banks represented the placement of surplus liquid funds.
Trading securities
31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
Managed funds 3211 262.3
Equity securities 7.3 8.5
328.4 270.8

Managed funds comprised funds placed for investment with specialist managers.
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11. Investment securities

11.1 Composition

31.12.24 31.12.23

US$ millions US$ millions
Investment securities at amortised cost
Gross debt securities 7,071.8 6,696.1
Provisions for expected credit losses (3.6) 3.1)
Net investment securities at amortised cost 7,068.2 6,693.0
Investment securities at FVOCI
Debt securities 190.6 -
Equity securities 20.6 23.2
Total investment securities at FVOCI 211.2 232
Total investment securities 7,279.4 6,716.2

Investment securities include securities that had been pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements (refer note 16).

Allinvestment securities were classified under Stage 1 as at 31 December 2024 and as at 31° December 2023.

The credit rating profile of investment securities, based on the lowest rating assigned by the major international rating

agencies, was as follows:

31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions % US$ millions %
AAAto A-/ Aaato A3 6,335.0 87.3 6,071.2 90.8
BBB+ to BBB- / Baal to Baa3 111.4 1.5 110.2 1.6
BB+ to B-/Bal to B3 812.4 11.2 5116 7.6
Total debt securities 7,258.8 100.0 6,693.0 100.0
Equity investments 20.6 232
7,279.4 6,716.2

Investment securities principally comprised investment-grade rated debt securities issued by major international financial

institutions and government-related entities.

Investment securities rated BB+ to B- / Bal to B3 at 31°* December 2024 and 31 December 2023 principally comprised GCC

sovereign debt securities.

11.2 Provisions for expected credit losses

The movements in the provisions for credit impairment of investment securities were as follows:

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions  US$ millions US$ millions  US$ millions US$ millions  US$ millions
At 1% January 3.1 - - 3.1 4.5 0.3 - 4.8
Net remeasurement
of loss allowance 0.5 - - 0.5 (1.4) 0.3) - 1.7)
At 31t December 3.6 - - 3.6 31 - - 31

The allowance for expected credit losses for debt securities at FVOCI amounted to $0.4 million (31t December 2023: nil).

The above provisions reflect the probability-weighted estimate of expected credit losses. The provisions comprise both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and taking into consideration
both internal and external indicators and including forward-looking information.
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12. Loans and advances

12.1 Composition

31.12.24 31.12.23

US$ millions US$ millions

Gross loans and advances 15,703.9 13,963.5
Provisions for expected credit losses (301.6) (338.9)
Net loans and advances 15,402.3 13,624.6

31t December 2024 31 December 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions  US$ millions US$ millions
Gross loans and 14,660.0 876.4 167.5 15,703.9 13,231.0 485.7 2468 13,9635
advances
ECL allowances (80.4)  (102.5)  (118.7) (301.6) (91.3) (68.2)  (179.4)  (338.9)
Net loans and
advances 14,579.6 773.9 48.8 15,402.3 13,139.7 417.5 67.4 13,6246

12.2 Provisions for expected credit losses

The movements in the provisions for expected credit losses during the year was as follows:

31t December 2024 31 December 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions US$ millions
At 1*t January 91.3 68.2 179.4 338.9 68.0 81.2 117.5 266.7
Transfer to Stage 1 1.2 (0.9) (0.3) - 4.4 (4.4) - -
Transfer to Stage 2 (1.9) 2.3 (0.4) - 1.3) 13 - -
Transfer to Stage 3 (0.6) (2.1) 2.7 - (2.4) (32.3) 34.7 -
Exchange rate
movements - - (0.3) (0.3) - - 0.3 0.3
Net
remeasurementof
loss allowance (9.6) 35.0 25.2 50.6 22.6 224 63.4 108.4
Write-offs - - (87.6) (87.6) - - (36.5) (36.5)
At 31t December 80.4 102.5 118.7 301.6 91.3 68.2 179.4 338.9

Amounts written-off during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 mainly represented provisions
on the transfer of the related loans to the memorandum records. Recovery efforts on these loans are still ongoing with the

intention to maximise potential recoveries.
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12. Loans and advances (continued)
12.3 Industrial classification

Consolidated Financial Statements

31.12.24 31.12.23

US$ millions US$ millions
Financial 2,870.7 2,538.3
Trading and services 2,167.5 2,434.7
Energy, oil and petrochemical 1,776.7 1,784.4
Government 1,616.4 1,764.9
Manufacturing 1,434.0 1,311.3
Transportation 1,160.7 1,032.3
Utilities 901.3 563.5
Real estate 848.5 778.3
Construction and engineering 784.7 5221
Technology, media and telecommunication 351.1 192.7
Retail 278.5 340.9
Agriculture and mining 130.4 193.0
Other 1,383.4 507.1
15,703.9 13,963.5

Provisions for expected credit losses (301.6) (338.9)
15,402.3 13,624.6

12.4 Past due but not credit impaired loans and advances
Below is an age analysis of past due but not credit impaired loans and advances:

Up to 30 days 31to 60 days 61 to 89 days Total

At 315t December 2024 US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Corporates - gross 133.1 35.8 8.8 177.7
Retail banking - gross 18.6 10.0 5.6 34.2
151.7 45.8 14.4 211.9

Up to 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 89 days Total

At 31 December 2023 US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions

Corporates - gross 144.7 4.1 52.6 201.4
Retail banking - gross 18.6 13.4 2.7 347
163.3 175 553 236.1

Gross past due loans at 31°*t December 2024 included exposures of US$91.5 million (2023: US$97.9 million) which were fully

collateralised.

12.5 Credit impaired loans and advances

The gross and carrying amounts of loans for which either principal or interest was over 90 days past due were as follows:

31.12.24 31.12.23

Carrying Carrying

Gross Amount Gross Amount

US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions

Corporates 162.6 48.4 239.2 65.2
Retail banking 4.9 0.4 7.6 2.2
167.5 48.8 246.8 67.4
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12.
12.6

12.7

13.

14.

Loans and advances (continued)
Restructured and modified loans

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group modified the contractual terms of a number
of facilities for commercial purposes. Such modifications did not result in the derecognition of any assets or modification gains.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group restructured and modified US$48.6 million gross loans (2023: US$108.7
million) with no significant additional impact on ECL during the year (2023: same).

Collateral

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held collateral relating to credit impaired loans and advances that are classified under
Stage 3 amounting to US$55.1 million (2023: US$81.5 million).

The Group did not take possession of any collateral during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31° December 2023.

Other assets
31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
Derivative financial instruments 869.0 860.7
Accrued interest, fees and commissions 431.8 404.8
Premises and equipment 152.3 76.4
Prepayments 59.8 51.2
Right-of-use assets 37.7 86.0
Deferred items 35.2 28.1
Pension asset 29.1 58.6
Other, including accounts receivable 141.9 64.7
1,756.8 1,630.5

Derivative financial instruments represent the positive fair values of derivative financial instruments entered into for trading
purposes, or designated as fair value hedges and cash flow hedges. An analysis of the fair value of derivative financial
instruments is set out in note 35.4.

Below are the carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and movements during the year recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated statement of income:

31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
At 1% January 86.0 75.8
New leases 0.9 19.2
Terminated leases (40.4) -
Depreciation (9.1) (8.5)
Others (including foreign exchange movements) 0.3 (0.5)
At 31t December 37.7 86.0

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group mutually agreed with the landlord to terminate the lease agreement
for the office building located in AlKhobar, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and purchased the land and building for a total price of
US$55.9 million (including real estate transaction tax (RETT)).

Post retirement benefits

The Group contributes to defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans which cover substantially all of its employees.

The Bank maintains pension plans for the majority of its employees. Contributions are based on a percentage of salary. The
amounts to be paid as retirement benefits are determined by reference to the amounts of the contributions and investment
earnings thereon. The total cost of contributions to defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans for the year ended
31 December 2024 amounted to US$18.7 million (2023: US$15.0 million).
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14.

14.1

a)

b)

Post retirement benefits (continued)

The Bank’s subsidiary, Gulf International Bank (UK) Limited (GIBUK), maintains a funded defined benefit scheme, whilst the
Saudi Arabian subsidiaries, Gulf International Bank — Saudi Arabia (GIB KSA) and GIB Capital C.J.S.C. (GIB Capital), maintain
unfunded defined benefit schemes. Both pension schemes are covered in more detail in this note.

Gulf International Bank (UK) Limited (GIBUK)

The Bank’s UK-based subsidiary, Gulf International Bank (UK) Limited (GIBUK), maintains a funded defined benefit final salary
pension plan for a number of its employees. The assets of the plan are held independently of the subsidiary’s assets in a
separate trustee administered fund. The fund is subject to the UK regulatory framework for pensions.

The fund exposes the Group to the risk of paying unanticipated contributions in times of adverse experience. Such events
could be members living for longer than expected, higher than expected inflation or salary growth, and the risk that increases
in the fund’s obligations are not met by a corresponding improvement in the value of the fund’s assets.

The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position is analysed as follows:

31.12.24 31.12.23

US$ millions US$ millions

Fair value of plan assets 153.3 184.9
Present value of fund obligations (124.2) (126.3)
Net asset in the consolidated statement of financial position 29.1 58.6

The net liability or asset is a valuation measure derived using an actuarial mathematical model. The modelling is performed
by an independent actuary based upon the measurement criteria stipulated by the accounting standard IAS19 - Employee
Benefits. A pension asset does not indicate a realisable receivable from the pension plan and a liability does not indicate a
funding requirement to the pension plan in the short term.

The valuation measure indicates a point in time view of the fair value of the plan’s assets less a discounted measure of the
plan’s future obligations over a duration of 19 years.

The movements in the fair value of plan assets were as follows:

31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
At 1t January 184.9 172.9
Included in the consolidated statement of income:
- Interest income on the plan assets 8.3 8.5
Included in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income:
- Remeasurements:
- Return on plan assets excluding interest income (31.3) ©.5)
Other movements:
- Exchange rate movements (3.0) 9.1
- Contributions paid by the Group - 0.5
- Benefits paid by the plan (6.0) (5.6)
- Other adjustments 0.4 -
At 31 December 153.3 184.9

The plan assets at 31° December 2024 comprised 0% (2023: 13.5%) exposure to multi-asset funds, 6% (2023: 66.7%)
exposure to liability-driven investing (LDI) funds, 81% exposure to insurance contracts (2023:0%) and 1% (2023: 1.8%)
exposure to equity securities. The plan assets have a quoted price in an active market and the hedging funds are designed to
hedge the majority of inflation and interest rate risk.
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14. Post retirement benefits (continued)
14.1 Gulf International Bank (UK) Limited (GIBUK) (continued)

c) The movements in the present value of fund obligations were as follows:

Consolidated Financial Statements

31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
At 1% January 126.3 117.7
Included in the consolidated statement of income:
- Current service cost - 0.4)
- Interest cost on the fund obligations 5.6 5.8
Included in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income:
- Remeasurements due to changed actuarial assumptions:
- Financial assumptions (14.2) 2.7
- Demographic assumptions (0.1) (2.2)
- Experience 14.8 1.8
- Other adjustments - 1.7)
Other movements:
- Exchange rate movements (2.2) 6.5
- Benefits paid by the plan (6.0) (5.6)
- Other adjustments - 17
At 31t December 124.2 126.3
d) The movements in the net asset recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position were as follows:
31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
At 1t January 58.6 55.2
Net income included in consolidated statement of income 2.7 31
Remeasurement included in consolidated statement of comprehensive income (31.8) 1.1)
Contributions paid by the Group - 0.5
Other adjustments 0.4 1.7)
Exchange rate movements (0.8) 2.6
At 31t December 29.1 58.6

The Group made nil contributions to the plan during 2024 (2023: US$0.5 million) and does not expect to pay any contributions

to the Scheme in 2025.

e) The principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes were as follows:

31.12.24 31.12.23
Discount rate (per cent) 5.5 4.6
Retail price inflation (per cent) 3.1 3.1
Consumer price inflation (per cent) 2.3 2.2
Pension increase rate (per cent) 2.0 2.2
Salary growth rate (per cent) 3.0 3.0
Average life expectancy (years) 90 89
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14. Post retirement benefits (continued)
14.1 Gulf International Bank (UK) Limited (GIBUK) (continued)

f) Sensitivity information

Consolidated Financial Statements

The present value of the fund’s obligations, which has a weighted average duration of 14 years, was calculated based on
certain actuarial assumptions. Should any one of the key assumptions change by an amount that is probable whilst holding the
other assumptions constant, the present value of the fund’s obligations would increase as follows:
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14. Post retirement benefits (continued)
14.2 Gulf International Bank - Saudi Arabia (GIB KSA) (continued)

c) The principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes were as follows:

Consolidated Financial Statements

31.12.24 31.12.23

US$ millions US$ millions

Life expectancy increased by 1 year 3.7 3.8
Discount rate decreased by 0.5 per cent 7.9 8.7
Inflation increased by 0.5 per cent 4.7 4.2

d)

31.12.24 31.12.23
Discount rate 5.3% 4.3%
Salary growth rate 4.8% 4.2%

Sensitivity information

The present value of the fund’s obligations, which has a weighted average duration of 6.7 years (2023: 5.7 years), was calculated
based on certain actuarial assumptions. Should any one of the key assumptions change by an amount that is probable whilst
holding the other assumptions constant, the present value of the fund’s obligations would increase / (decrease) as follows:

14.2 Gulf International Bank - Saudi Arabia (GIB KSA)

Gulf International Bank - Saudi Arabia (GIB KSA) and GIB Capital C.J.S.C. (GIB Capital) maintain unfunded defined benefit
schemes based on the prevailing Saudi Arabia Labour Laws.

The schemes expose the Group to the risk of paying unanticipated contributions in times of adverse experience. Such events
include members living for longer than expected, higher than expected inflation or salary growth, and the risk that withdrawals
may be higher than assumed.

a) The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position is analysed as follows:
31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
Present value of fund obligations 28.5 225
Net liability in the consolidated statement of financial position 28.5 225

The net liability or asset is a valuation measure derived using an actuarial mathematical model. The modelling is performed
by an independent actuary based upon the measurement criteria stipulated by the accounting standard IAS19 - Employee
Benefits. A pension liability does not indicate a funding requirement to the pension plan in the short term.

The valuation measure indicates a point in time view of the discounted measure of the plan’s future obligations over a duration

31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
Discount rate increased by 0.5 per cent (1.1) ©.7)
Discount rate decreased by 0.5 per cent 0.9 0.7
Long term salary increased by 0.5 per cent 1.1 0.5
Long term salary decreased by 0.5 per cent (0.9) (0.5)
15. Deposits
The geographical composition of total deposits was as follows:
31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
GCC countries 19,849.8 25,956.2
Other Middle East and North Africa countries 699.5 425.8
Other countries 9,311.1 9,019.8
29,860.4 35,401.8

of 11 years for GIB KSA and 10 years for GIB Capital.

b) The movements in the present value of fund obligations were as follows:

31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
At 1%t January 225 22.2
Included in the consolidated statement of income:
- Current service cost 3.5 3.4
- Interest cost on the fund obligations 1.1 1.0
Included in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income:
- Remeasurements due to changed actuarial assumptions:
- Demographic assumptions 1.0 -
- Financial assumptions 0.7 -
- Experience 1.4 (1.6)
Other movements:
- Exchange rate movements - (1.1)
- Benefits paid by the plan (1.5) 1.4)
- Transferred to related parties (0.2) -
At 31t December 28.5 225
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16.

GCC deposits comprise deposits from the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) country governments and central banks and other
institutions headquartered in the GCC states.

Deposits include transitory client deposits related to the Group’s cash management and payment services, which are placed
back-to-back with central banks, other banks, and short-term securities. A considerable portion of the Group’s deposits is
derived from a concentrated number of customers, reflecting a wholesale funding profile (refer note 7).

At 31 December 2024, GCC deposits represented 66.5% of total deposits (2023: 73.3%).

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase

The Group enters into collateralised borrowing transactions (repurchase agreements) in the ordinary course of its financing
activities. Collateralis provided in the form of securities held within the investment securities portfolio. At 31°* December 2024,
the fair value of investment securities that had been pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements was US$1,846.5
million (2023: US$838.8 million). The collateralised borrowing transactions are conducted under standardised terms that are
usual and customary for such transactions.
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17. Other liabilities

Consolidated Financial Statements

31.12.24 31.12.23

US$ millions US$ millions

Derivative financial instruments 644.4 655.9
Accrued interest 318.6 346.1
Deferred items 146.5 156.0
Lease liabilities 43.0 96.0
Contingent provisions 53.1 49.6
Pension liabilities 28.5 22.5
Other, including accounts payable and accrued expenses 458.5 209.6
1,692.6 1,535.7

Below are the carrying amounts of the Group’s lease liabilities and movements during the year recognised in the consolidated

statements of financial position and profit or loss:

31.12.24 31.12.23

US$ millions US$ millions

At 1t January 96.0 84.0

New leases 0.9 19.7
Terminated leases (47.7) -

Interest expense 4.2 4.5

Payments (9.9) (11.6)

Others (including foreign exchange movements) (0.5) ©.6)

At 31t December 43.0 96.0

Derivative financial instruments represent the negative fair values of derivative financial instruments entered into for trading
purposes, or designated as fair value or cash flow hedges. An analysis of the fair value of derivative financial instruments is set

out in note 35.4.

Deferred items represent amounts received, e.g. loan origination fees, that are being amortised to income over the period of

the related financial asset.

An analysis of the pension liabilities is set out in note 14. Further, details of contingent provisions is set out in note 36.

18. Senior term financing

Maturity 31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
Fixed rate loans 2025 16.5 95.6
Floating rate loans 2025 - 2029 4,090.4 4,397.4
Floating rate repurchase agreements 2026 - 2029 340.5 498.6
Floating rate note 2025 130.7 1291
Fixed rate note 2025 -2029 995.8 500.0
5,573.9 5,620.7
19. Subordinated term financing

Maturity 31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions

Floating rate loans 2033 399.3 400.0

399.3 400.0

The subordinated term financing facilities represent unsecured obligations of the Group and are subordinated in right of
payment to the claims of depositors and other creditors of the Group that are not also subordinated. The subordinated
financing facilities have been issued under Tier 2 Sukuk programme which are restricted to qualified institutional clients
maturing in ten years callable in five years from the date of origination.
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20.

21.

22,

Share capital
31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
Authorised — 3,000 million shares of US$1 each
(2023: 3,000 million shares of US$1 each) 3,000 3,000
Issued and fully paid — 2,000 million shares of US$1 each
(2023: 2,000 million shares of US$1 each) 2,000 2,000

On 30" March 2023, the Group held an extra-ordinary general meeting (EGM) during which it was resolved to adjust the Group’s
capital against its accumulated losses as of 31 December 2022 after having received regulatory approvals. The Shareholders
have approved the set-off of accumulated retained losses of US$729.0 million against capital and reserves. In doing so, the
Bank has decreased its capital by US$500.0 million through a 20% reduction in shares as well as using its voluntary reserves
and share premium in full, and the reduction of legal reserves by US$42.4 million. After the restructuring, total shareholders’
equity remains unchanged. The Ministry of Industry and Commerce (MOIC) have published the announcement relating to
capital reduction in the Official Gazette as part of their final approval process and was reflected in the Bank’s Commercial
Registration (CR) issued on 15™ May 2023.

Reserves
Investment Deferred
Cash flow securities Defined tax
Share Compulsory Voluntary hedge revaluation pension and other
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 1% January 2024 - 213.1 - - (9.1) 44.4 (11.1) 237.3
Net fair value changes:
Securities at FVOCI - - - - (4.4) - - (4.4)
Cash flow hedges - - - 1.9 - - - 1.9
ECL on debt securities at
FVOCI - - - - - - 0.4 0.4
Transfers from retained
earnings - 135 - - - - - 135
Other movements during
the year - - - - - (33.9) 8.1 (25.8)
Net increase / (decrease) - 135 - 19 (4.4) (33.9) 85 (14.4)
At 31 December 2024 - 226.6 - 1.9 (13.5) 10.5 (2.6) 222.9
At 1°t January 2023 7.6 241.5 179.0 - (10.1) 42.6 (10.0) 450.6
Net fair value changes:
Securities at FVOCI - - - - 6.3 - = 6.3
Transfers from / to retained
earnings - 14.0 - - (5.3) - - 8.7
Share capital reduction
(note 20) (7.6) (42.4) (179.0) - - - - (229.0)
Other movements during
the year - - - - - 1.8 1.1 0.7
Net (decrease) / increase (7.6) (28.4) (179.0) - 1.0 1.8 (1.1) (213.3)
At 31% December 202 - 2131 - - 9.1) 44.4 (11.1) 2373
Dividends

No dividends were proposed in respect of the financial years ended 31 December 2024 and 31° December 2023.
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23.

24,

Net interest income

Year ended Year ended
31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
Interest income

Zicéi;nents, securities purchased under agreements to resell and other liquid 1,202.4 9382
Loans and advances 1,062.4 926.1
Investment securities 408.4 334.6
Total interest income 2,673.2 2,198.9

Interest expense
Deposits from customers 1,090.0 911.7
Deposits from banks 623.3 440.1
Term financing 375.7 308.2
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 62.0 40.4
Total interest expense 2,151.0 1,700.4
Net interest income 522.2 498.5

Interest income on loans and advances includes loan origination fees that form an integral part of the effective interest rate
of the loan.

Net fee and commission income

Year ended Year ended
31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions

Fee and commission income
Commissions on letters of credit and guarantee 47.7 388
Investment banking and management fees 33.0 323
Loan agency, underwriting and distribution fees 17.8 14.6
Loan commitment fees 114 11.7
Retail banking fees 9.0 3.9
Other fee and commission income 8.4 8.4
Total fee and commission income 127.3 109.7
Fee and commission expense (5.5) (7.2)
Net fee and commission income 121.8 102.5

Investment banking and management fees comprise fees relating to the provision of investment management and financial
services, including asset and fund management, underwriting activities, and services relating to structured financing,
privatisations, initial public offerings, and mergers and acquisitions.

Investment banking and management fees for the year ended 31 December 2024 included fee income relating to the Group’s
fiduciary activities amounting to US$21.0 million (2023: US$17.0 million).

Fee and commission expense principally comprises security custody fees and bank charges and commissions.
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25.

26.

27.

28.

Trading income

Year ended Year ended

31.12.24 31.12.23

US$ millions US$ millions

Managed funds 20.9 336
Interest rate derivatives 7.5 10.5
Commodity options and swaps 0.4 0.4
FX arbitrage (9.6)] 16.4
19.2 60.9

Trading income comprises gains and losses arising both on the purchase and sale, and from changes in the fair value of trading
instruments, together with the related interest income, interest expense and dividend income. Trading income accordingly
incorporates all income and expenses related to the Group’s trading activities.

Gains and losses on interest rate derivatives principally comprises customer-initiated contracts which have been offset in the
market with matching contracts. There is no remaining market risk associated with these contracts.
Foreign exchange income

Foreign exchange income principally comprises customer-initiated foreign exchange contracts which have been offset in the
market with matching contracts. There is no remaining market risk associated with these offset customer-related foreign
exchange contracts.

Foreign exchange includes spot and forward foreign exchange contracts, and currency futures and options.

Other income

Year ended Year ended

31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions

Recoveries on previously written off assets 16.7 8.5
Dividends on equity investments classified as FVTOCI 0.6 1.2
Sundry income / (loss) 3.2 (1.0)
Net realised loss on investment debt securities - 0.2)
20.5 8.5

Recoveries on previously written off assets comprise recoveries on assets that had previously been either written off or
transferred to the memorandum records.

Net realised loss on investment debt securities principally relates to the sale of securities for liquidity management.

Provision for expected credit losses

31t December 2024
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Loans and advances (note 12.2) (9.6) 35.0 25.2 50.6
Investment securities 0.9 - - 0.9
Placements (note 9) (0.2) - - (0.2)
Credit-related contingent items (note 36) 1.2 (1.1) 3.5 3.6
(7.7) 33.9 28.7 54.9
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28.

29.

30.

30.1

Provision for expected credit losses (continued)

31t December 2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Loans and advances (note 12.2) 226 22.4 63.4 108.4
Investment securities (1.4) (0.3) - (1.7)
Placements (note 9) 0.6 - - 0.6
Credit-related contingent items (note 36) 0.6) - 53 4.7
21.2 221 68.7 112.0
Taxation and zakat
31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
Consolidated statement of financial position
Deferred tax asset 0.7 2.4
0.7 2.4
Current tax liability 249 193
Deferred tax liability 7.3 14.5
32.2 338
31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
Consolidated statement of income
Current tax charge on foreign operations 9.6 16.8
Zakat expense arising from subsidiary operations 21.5 12.6
311 29.4

Segmental information

Segmental information is presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments. The primary reporting
format, business segments, reflects the manner in which financial information is evaluated by the Board of Directors and the
Group Management Committee.

Business segments
For financial reporting purposes, the Group is organised into four main operating segments:

- Wholesale banking: the provision of wholesale commercial financing and other credit facilities for corporate and institutional
customers.

- Treasury: the provision of a broad range of treasury and capital market products and services to corporate and financial
institution clients, money market, proprietary investment and trading activities and the management of the Group’s
balance sheet, including funding.

- Asset management and investment banking: the provision of asset and fund management services, and of financial advisory
services relating to structured financing, privatisations, initial public offerings, and mergers and acquisitions.

- Head office and support units: income arising on the investment of the Group’s trading securities and net free capital funds
and expenses incurred by support units.

The results reported for the business segments are based on the Group’s internal financial reporting systems, which report
interest revenue and interest expense on a net basis. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those applied
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements and are set out in note 3. Transactions between business
segments are conducted on normal commercial terms and conditions. Transfer pricing between the business units is based
on the market cost of funds.
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30.
30.1

Segmental information (continued)
Business segments (continued)

Effective 2024, the Group entities provided services to subsidiaries and business units under a comprehensive transfer pricing
framework that adheres to internationally recognised standards, including the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines. This policy
ensures that intercompany transactions are conducted on an arm’s length basis and are fully documented. It is reviewed
annually to maintain alignment with evolving international best practices and local regulatory requirements.

Segment results, assets and liabilities comprise items directly attributable to the business segments. Liabilities reported for
head office and support units comprise retail-related deposits and senior term finance facilities and related accrued interest,
the cost of which is recharged to the relevant operating business segments.

The business segment analysis is as follows:

Asset
management Head office
Wholesale and investment and support
banking Treasury banking units Total

US$ millions  US$ millions US$ millions  US$ millions US$ millions

For the year ended
31 December 2024

Net interest income 267.6 155.9 2.4 96.3 522.2

Total income 365.2 192.1 40.7 118.2 716.2

Segment result 130.3 74.6 11.9 (5.5) 2113

Taxation and zakat charges (31.1)
Net income after tax 180.2

At 31t December 2024

Segment assets 15,296.7 26,692.2 167.6 735.0 42,891.5

Segment liabilities 14,385.6 17,230.6 - 7,758.8 39,375.0

Total equity 3,516.5

Total liabilities and equity 42,891.5

For the year ended
315 December 2023

Net interest income 268.3 154.7 1.0 74.5 498.5
Totalincome 346.0 216.0 435 102.8 708.3
Segment result 191.9 197.8 17.6 (208.5) 198.8
Taxation and zakat charges (29.4)
Net income after tax 169.4
At 31 December 2023

Segment assets 13,457.4 32,7125 135.8 764.2 47,069.9
Segment liabilities 12,705.4 23,335.2 6.0 7,654.7 43,701.3
Total equity 3,368.6
Total liabilities and equity 47,069.9
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30.
30.2

31.

31.1

Segmental information (continued)
Geographical segments

Although the Group’s four main business segments are managed on a worldwide basis, they are considered to operate in two
geographical markets: the GCC and the rest of the world.

The geographical composition of total income and total assets based on the location in which transactions are booked and
income is recorded was as follows:

At 31t December 2024 At 31 December 2023
Total income Total assets Total income Total assets
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
GCC 613.7 27,103.6 592.5 24,333.0
Other countries 102.5 15,787.9 1151 22,736.9
716.2 42,891.5 707.6 47,069.9

The geographical analyses of deposits and risk assets are set out in notes 15 and 32 respectively.

Risk management

The principal risks associated with the Group’s businesses are credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk. The
Group has a comprehensive risk management framework in place for managing these risks which is constantly evolving as the
business activities change in response to credit, market, product and other developments. The risk management framework
is guided by a number of overriding principles including the formal definition of risk management governance, an evaluation of
risk appetite expressed in terms of formal risk limits, risk oversight independent of business units, disciplined risk assessment
and measurement including portfolio stress testing and risk diversification. The Board of Directors set the Group’s overall
risk parameters and risk tolerances, and the significant risk management policies. A Board Risk Policy Committee reviews
and reports to the Board of Directors on the Group’s risk profile and risk taking activities, including approving obligor limits
by rating, industry and geography, and the review of rating back-testing exercises. A Management Committee, chaired by
the Group Chief Executive Officer, has the primary responsibility for sanctioning risk taking activities and risk management
policies within the overall risk parameters and tolerances defined by the Board of Directors. A Group Risk Committee, under
the chairmanship of the Chief Risk Officer and comprising the Group’s most senior risk professionals, provides a forum for the
review and approval of risk measurement methodologies, risk control processes and the approval of new products, including
approval of LGDs and eligible collateral for ECL calculations. The Group Risk Committee also reviews all risk policies and limits
that require the formal approval of the Management Committee. The risk management control process is based on a detailed
structure of policies, procedures and limits, and comprehensive risk measurement and management information systems
for the control, monitoring and reporting of risks. The Provisioning Committee approves the categorisation of an exposure
as Stage 1, Stage 2 or Stage 3. Periodic reviews by internal auditors and regulatory authorities subject the risk management
processes to additional scrutiny which help to further strengthen the risk management environment.

The principal risks associated with the Group’s businesses and the related risk management processes are described in detail
in the Basel 3 Pillar 3 disclosure report in the Annual Report, and are summarised below together with additional quantitative
analyses:

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that counterparties will be unable to meet their obligations to the Group. Credit risk arises principally
from the Group’s lending and investment activities in addition to other transactions involving both on- and off-balance sheet
financial instruments, including the specific risk for equity instruments. Disciplined processes are in place at both the business
unit and corporate level that are intended to ensure that risks are accurately assessed and properly approved and monitored.
Formal credit limits are applied at the individual transaction, counterparty, country and portfolio levels. Overall exposures
are also evaluated to ensure a broad diversification of credit risk. The credit management process involves the monitoring of
concentrations by product, industry, single obligor, risk grade and geography, and the regular appraisal of counterparty credit
quality through the analysis of qualitative and quantitative information.

Credit risk is actively managed and rigorously monitored in accordance with well-defined credit policies and procedures. Prior
to the approval of a credit proposal, a detailed credit risk assessment is carried out which includes an analysis of the obligor
financial condition, market position, business environment and quality of management. The risk assessment generates an
internal credit risk rating for each exposure, which affects the credit approval decision and the terms and conditions of the
transaction. For cross border transactions an analysis of country risk is also conducted. The Group bases its credit decision for
an individual counterparty on the aggregate Group exposure to that counterparty and all its related entities. Groupwide credit
limit setting and approval authorisation requirements are conducted within Board approved guidelines, and the measurement,
monitoring and control of credit exposures are done on a Groupwide basis in a consistent manner.

CONTENTS O

82

GIB B.S.C. Annual Report 2024 Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

31.
311

Risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The Group also mitigates its credit exposures on foreign exchange and derivative financial instruments through the use of
master netting agreements and collateral arrangements.

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and taking into
consideration both internal and externalindicators and expert credit assessment and inclusion of forward-looking information.

The Group considers all counterparties internally rated 2 and above, between 2- and 3+, between 3 and 4+, between 4 and 5-,
between 6+ and 6 and 6- to be significantly deteriorated where they have been downgraded 6 notches, 5 notches, 4 notches,
3 notches, 2 notches and 1 notch respectively since initial recognition, and where the current pricing has not been adjusted to
reflect the new risk profile of the counterparty.

Debt investment securities are considered to have low credit risk when their credit risk rating is equivalent to an investment
grade rating or a debt investment security with similar credit risk characteristics.

The criteria for determining whether credit risk has increased significantly vary by portfolio and include quantitative and
qualitative factors, including whether the exposure has been watch-listed, whether the exposure is more than 30 days past
due and as a backstop based on delinquency.

Definitions of default and curing

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in
full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as liquidating collateral; or the borrower is past due more than 90 days on
any credit obligation to the Group. In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Group considers both qualitative factors
such as breaches of covenants and quantitative factors such as overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the
same issuer to the Group.

The Group considers a financial asset to be cured, and accordingly reclassified from Stage 3 to Stage 2 when none of the
default criteria have been present for a period of at least 12 consecutive months. The financial asset is then transferred from
Stage 2 to Stage 1 after a cure period of a further six months. However, if the payment frequency is semi-annual or annual,
curing period will be 12 months for movement from Stage 2 to Stage 1.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument
has increased significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. The Group takes into consideration the
economic forecasts published by the IMF and the Group formulates a fundamental view of the future direction of relevant
economic variables as well as a reasonable range of possible scenarios and its weights.

Given the nature of the Group’s exposures and availability of historical information, the Group derives the point-in-time (PIT)
probability of default (PD) using the through-the-cycle (TTC) PD data for each rating category. The Group uses the Regression
based model for the Wholesale Corprate Loans portfolio and Vasicek models for the Investments securities and placements
portfolio to link the TTC PDs with forward looking economic factors to derive PIT PD estimates for each rating category. The
Regression as well as the Vasicek models takes into consideration forward looking economic forecasts under three scenarios
(base case, negative case, and positive case), historical economic data and TTC PDs for deriving PIT PDs. The relationship
between the economic factors and default and loss rates have been developed using historical default data and relevant
macroeconomic data.

Measurement of ECL

The key input parameters into the measurement of ECL are the probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and
exposure at default (EAD). These parameters are derived from internally developed statistical models, historical data or
benchmarks using both internal and external factors, and incorporates forward-looking information.

PD estimates are estimates at a certain date., For corporate exposures, corporate TTC PD estimates are internally derived
using the Bank’s central default tendency for the Corporate portfolio, For Banks/Fls exposures, the Bank applies a separate
set of TTC PDs that are developed based on external rating data of global financial institutions. Furthermore, for Sovereign
exposures, the Bank applies a separate set of TTC PDs that are based on external rating data of Sovereigns rated by Standard
& Poor’s (S&P).

The TTC PD estimates are converted to PIT PDs using the Regression model for the Loans portfolio and Vasicek model for the
Investments securities and placements portfolio. For exposures that have tenors in excess of one year and that are assessed
on lifetime PDs, Cumulative lifetime PDs are calculated by compounding the 12-month PIT PDs.
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a)

Risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD parameters based on the regulatory
estimates.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to
the counterparty and potential changes to the current amounts allowed under the contract including amortisation. The EAD
of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount. For lending commitments and financial guarantees, the EAD is converted to
balance sheet equivalents.

Subject to a maximum of 12-month PD for financial assets for which credit risk has not significantly increased, the Group
measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period over which it is exposed to credit risk.

Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of
shared risk characteristics including instrument type, credit risk ratings and geographic location of the borrower.

The Group calculates PIT PD estimates under three scenarios, a base case, negative case and positive case. A probability
weighted ECL is then calculated by assigning probabilities, based on current market conditions, to each scenario. The
probabilities assigned to the base case, negative case and positive case scenarios are 50:45:5, respectively (2023: 50:45:5).

Modified financial assets

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons including changing market conditions, and other
factors not related to the current or potential credit deterioration of a customer. When the terms of a financial asset are
modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, the determination of whether the asset’s credit risk has
increased significantly reflects a comparison of its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on modified terms, with
the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data at initial recognition and the original contractual terms.

The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties to maximise collection opportunities and minimise the risk
of default. The Group grants forbearance on a selective basis if there is evidence that the customer has made all reasonable
efforts to honour the original contractual terms and the customer is expected to be able to meet the revised terms. Forbearance
is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk, and a customer would need to demonstrate consistently good
payment behaviour over a period of time before the exposure is no longer considered to be credit-impaired, or in default, or
the PD has decreased such that the provision for credit-impairment reverts to being measured at an amount equal to the
12-month ECL.

Maximum exposure to credit risk

The gross maximum exposure to credit risk before applying collateral, guarantees and other credit enhancements was as
follows:

31.12.24 31.12.23
Balance sheet items: US$ millions US$ millions
Cash and other liquid assets 9,882.6 17,006.5
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 975.4 743.9
Placements 7,266.6 7,077.4
Investment securities 7,258.8 6,693.0
Loans and advances 15,402.3 13,624.6
Accrued interest, fees and commissions 431.8 404.8
Total on-balance sheet credit exposure 41,217.5 45,550.2
Off-balance sheet items:
Credit-related contingent items 8,616.1 8,322.2
Foreign exchange-related items 1354 1179
Derivative-related items 1,065.5 1,111.6
Equity and commodity contracts 1.6 12.8
Total off-balance sheet credit exposure 9,818.6 9,564.5
Total gross credit exposure 51,036.1 55,114.7

Financial instruments recorded at fair value balances included above represent the current credit risk exposure but not the
maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values.
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Risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk profile

The Group monitors, manages and controls credit risk exposures based on an internal credit rating system that rates individual
obligors based on a rating scale from 1 to 10, subject to positive (+) and negative (-) modifiers for rating grades 2 to 6. The
internal credit rating is a measure of the credit-worthiness of a single obligor, based on an assessment of the credit risk relating
to senior unsecured, long-term, foreign currency credit exposure. The primary objectives of the internal credit rating system
are the maintenance of a single uniform standard for credit quality measurement, and to serve as the primary basis for Board-
approved risk parameters and delegated credit authority limits.

The internal credit rating system also serves as a key input into the Group’s risk-adjusted performance measurement system.

The internal ratings map directly to the external rating grades used by the international credit rating agencies as follows:

Internal Fitch and
Internal rating grade classification Standard & Poor's Moody's
Investment grade
Rating grade 1 Standard AAA Aaa
Rating grade 2 Standard AA Aa
Rating grade 3 Standard A A
Rating grade 4 Standard BBB Baa
Sub-investment grade
Rating grade 5 Standard BB Ba
Rating grade 6 Standard B B
Rating grade 7 Standard CccC Caa
Classified
Rating grade 8 Substandard cCc Ca
Rating grade 9 Doubtful C C
Rating grade 10 Loss D -
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b)

Credit risk profile (continued)

Consolidated Financial Statements

Placements, 31.12.24
reverse repos Credit-related
& other liquid Loans and contingent
assets Securities advances items
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Stage 1
Rating grades 1 to 4- 17,874.2 6,446.4 9,345.2 4,702.8
Rating grades 5+ to 5- 241.7 812.4 4,670.3 1,402.2
Rating grades 6+ to 6- 8.7 - 564.1 84.5
Carrying amount (net) 18,124.6 7,258.8 14,579.6 6,189.5
Stage 2
Rating grade 4- - - 41.7 46.0
Rating grades 5+ to 5- - - 350.8 532.5
Rating grades 6+ to 6- - - 211.8 45.2
Rating grade 7 - - 169.6 7.3
Carrying amount (net) - - 773.9 631.0
Stage 3
Rating grade 8 - - 215 9.7
Rating grade 9 - - 25.0 17.3
Rating grade 10 - - 23 11.6
Carrying amount (net) - - 48.8 38.6
Other credit risk exposures
Performance bonds - - - 1,757.0
Carrying amount - - - 1,757.0
18,124.6 7,258.8 15,402.3 8,616.1
The above analysis is reported net of the following provisions for expected credit losses:
Stage 1 (0.5) (3.6) (80.4) (9.4)
Stage 2 - - (102.5) (3.8)
Stage 3 - - (118.7) (39.9)
Total (0.5) (3.6) (301.6) (53.1)
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Credit risk profile (continued)

Consolidated Financial Statements

Placements, 31.12.23
reverse repos Credit-related
& other liquid Loans and contingent
assets Securities advances items
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Stage 1
Rating grades 1 to 4- 24,4242 6,181.4 8,651.0 5,453.7
Rating grades 5+ to 5- 385.4 511.6 4,028.8 647.8
Rating grades 6+ to 6- 18.2 - 459.9 16.2
Carrying amount (net) 24,827.8 6,693.0 13,139.7 6,117.7
Stage 2
Rating grade 4- - - 4.9 271
Rating grades 5+ to 5- - - 220.1 653.5
Rating grades 6+ to 6- - - 1379 211
Rating grade 7 - - 54.6 0.8
Carrying amount (net) - - 417.5 702.5
Stage 3
Rating grade 8 - - 393 9.9
Rating grade 9 - - 281 28.8
Rating grade 10 - - - 0.5
Carrying amount (net) - - 67.4 39.2
Other credit risk exposures
Performance bonds - - - 1,462.8
Carrying amount - - - 1,462.8
24,827.8 6,693.0 13,624.6 8,322.2
The above analysis is reported net of the following provisions for expected credit losses:
Stage 1 0.7) 3.1) (91.3) (6.9)
Stage 2 - - (68.2) 6.2)
Stage 3 - - (179.4) (36.5)
Total ©.7) 3.1 (338.9) (49.6)

Stage 3 financial assets represent assets for which there is objective evidence that the Group will not collect all amounts due,
including both principal and interest, in accordance with the contractual terms of the obligation.

The Group holds collateral against loans and advances in the form of physical assets, cash deposits, securities and guarantees.
The amount and type of collateral is dependent upon the assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. The market / fair
value of the collateral is actively monitored on a regular basis and requests are made for additional collateral in accordance
with the terms of the underlying agreements. Collateral is not usually held against securities or placements and no such

collateral was held at either 31t December 2024 or 31t December 2023.

An analysis of the credit risk in respect of foreign exchange and derivative financial instruments is set out in note 35 while the
notional and risk-weighted exposures for off-balance sheet credit-related contingent items are set out in note 36.
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Risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk concentration

The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by geographic location. The industrial classification of loans
and advances is set out in note 12.3. The geographical distribution of risk assets is set out in note 32. An analysis of the credit
risk in respect of foreign exchange and derivative financial instruments is set out in note 35.

Settlement risk

Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities, or
other assets as contractually agreed.

For certain types of transactions, the Group mitigates this risk by conducting settlements through a settlement or clearing
agenttoensurethat atradeis settled only when both parties have fulfilled their contractual settlement obligations. Settlement
limits form part of the credit approval and limit monitoring process.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss due to adverse changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and market
conditions, such as liquidity. The principal market risks to which the Group is exposed are interest rate risk, foreign exchange
risk and equity price risk associated with its trading, investment and asset and liability management activities. The portfolio
effects of holding a diversified range of instruments across a variety of businesses and geographic areas contribute to a
reduction in the potential negative impact on earnings from market risk factors.

Trading market risk

The Group’s trading activities principally comprise trading in debt and equity securities, foreign exchange and derivative
financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments include futures, forwards, swaps and options in the interest rate, foreign
exchange, equity, credit and commodity markets.

IBOR reform

Following the decision by global regulators to phase out IBORs and replace them with alternative reference rates, the Bank has
transitioned the IBOR benchmark interest rates during the year 2023 to RFRs successfully.

Non-trading market risk

Structural interest rate risk arises in the Group’s core balance sheet as a result of mismatches in the repricing of interest rate
sensitive financial assets and liabilities. The associated interest rate risk is managed through the use of models to evaluate
the sensitivity of earnings to movements in interest rates. The repricing profile and related interest rate sensitivity of the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities are set out in note 34. The Group does not maintain material foreign currency exposures.
In general, the Group’s policy is to match financial assets and liabilities in the same currency or to mitigate currency risk
through the use of currency swaps. Movements in the fair value of equity investment securities are accounted for in other
comprehensive income. At 31° December 2024, a 5.0% change in the market price of equity investments accounted for at
FVTOCI would have resulted in an increase/decrease in equity of US$1.0 million (2023: US$1.2 million).

The more significant market risk-related activities of a non-trading nature undertaken by the Group, the related risks
associated with those activities, and the types of derivative financial instruments used to manage and mitigate such risks are
summarised as follows:

Activity Risk Risk mitigant

Management of the return on variable
rate assets funded by shareholders'
funds

Reduced profitability due to a fallin
short-term interest rates

Receive fixed interest rate swaps

Fixed rate assets funded by floating
rate liabilities

Sensitivity to increases in short-term
interest rates

Pay fixed interest rate swaps

Investment in foreign currency assets

Sensitivity to strengthening of US$
against other currencies

Currency swaps

CONTENTS O

88

GIB B.S.C. Annual Report 2024 Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

31.
313

Risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that sufficient funds are not available to meet the Group’s financial obligations on a punctual basis as
they fall due.

Liquidity management policies are designed to ensure that funds are available at all times to meet the funding requirements of
the Group, even in adverse conditions. In normal conditions the objective is to ensure that there are sufficient funds available
not only to meet current financial commitments but also to facilitate business expansion. These objectives are met through
the application of prudent liquidity controls. These controls provide security of access to funds without undue exposure to
increased costs from the liquidation of assets or the aggressive bidding for deposits. The Group’s liquidity controls ensure that,
over the short-term, the future profile of cash flows from maturing assets is adequately matched to the maturity of liabilities.
Liquidity controls also provide for the maintenance of a stock of liquid and readily realisable assets and a diversified deposit
base in terms of both maturities and range of depositors.

The management of liquidity and funding is primarily conducted in the Group’s individual geographic entities within limits set
and approved by the Board of Directors. The limits take account of the depth and liquidity of the market in which the entity
operates. It is the Group’s general policy that each geographic entity should be self-sufficient in relation to funding its own
operations.

The Group’s liquidity management policies include the following:

- the monitoring of (i) future contractual cash flows against approved limits, and (i) the level of liquid resources available in
astress event;

- the monitoring of balance sheet liquidity ratios;

- the monitoring of the sources of funding in order to ensure that funding is derived from a diversified range of sources;
- the monitoring of depositor concentrations in order to avoid undue reliance on individual depositors;

- the maintenance of a satisfactory level of term financing;

- the maintenance of appropriate standby funding arrangements; and

- the maintenance of liquidity and funding contingency plans. These plans identify early indicators of stress conditions and
prescribe the actions to be taken in the event of systemic or other crisis, while minimising adverse long-term implications
for the Group’s business activities.

The Group has established approved limits which restrict the volume of liabilities maturing in the short-term. An independent
risk management function monitors the future cash flow maturity profile against approved limits on a daily basis. The cash
flows are monitored against limits applying to both daily and cumulative cash flows occurring over a 30 day period. The
liquidity limits ensure that the net cash outflows over a 30 day period do not exceed the eligible stock of available liquid
resources. The cash flow analysis is also monitored on a weekly basis by the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO).

Customer deposits form a significant part of the Group’s funding. The Group places considerable importance on maintaining
the stability of both its customer and interbank deposits. The stability of deposits depends on maintaining confidence in the
Group’s financial strength and financial transparency.

The Group is also required to comply with Basel 3 liquidity ratio requirements as stipulated by its lead regulator, the Central
Bank of Bahrain (CBB). The LCR is calculated as a ratio of the stock of High Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA) to the net outflows
over the next 30 calendar days. The NSFR is calculated as a ratio of ‘available stable funding’ to ‘required stable funding'.
At 31 December 2024, the Group’s LCR and NSFR were 149.4% and 142.8% respectively, (2023: 137.8% and 143.0%
respectively). The Group’s total capital adequacy as of 31 December 2024 was 15.6% (2023:18.9%) (refer note 38).

The maturity profile of assets and liabilities is set out in note 33. An analysis of debt investment securities by rating classification
is set out in note 31.1.
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Liquidity risk (continued)

The below table provides the Group’s disclosure of its consolidated NSFR as at 31t December 2024 in the manner prescribed
by the CBB:

Total Total
No specified Within 6 6 months Over unweighted weighted
maturity months to 1 year 1 year value value
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 31 December 2024
Available Stable Funding (ASF):
Capital
Regulatory Capital 3,176.6 - - - 3,176.6 3,176.6
Other Capital Instruments 339.9 - - 399.3 739.2 739.2
Retail deposits and deposits from small
Stable deposits - - - - - -
Less stable deposits 164.2 956.9 82.9 - 1,204.0 1,083.6

Wholesale funding:

Operational deposits - - - - - -
Other wholesale funding 13,982.7 13,992.9 3,918.5 4,428.6 36,322.7 15,592.1
Other liabilities:

NSFR derivative liabilities - - - - - -

All other liabilities not included in the above

categories - - - - - -
Total ASF 20,591.5
Required Stable Funding (RSF):
Total NSFR high-quality liquid assets (HQLA) 1,274.6

Deposits held at other financial institutions for
operational purposes - -

Performing loans and securities:

Performing loans to financial institutions
secured by Level 1 HQLA - 62.5 15.0 - 77.5 13.8

Performing loans to financial institutions
secured by non-Level 1 HQLA and unsecured

performing loans to financial institutions 1,281.5 3,938.0 1,023.0 441.5 6,684.0 1,736.0

Performing loans to non- financial corporate
clients, loans to retail and small business
customers, and loans to sovereigns, central
banks and PSEs, of which: - 7,797.7 1,276.0 4,261.0 13,334.7 8,158.7

- With a risk weight of less than or equal to
35% as per the CBB Capital Adequacy Ratio
guidelines - - - 2,216.0 2,216.0 1,440.4

Performing residential mortgages, of which:

- With a risk weight of less than or equal to
35% under the CBB Capital Adequacy Ratio
guidelines - - - - - -

Securities that are not in default and do not
qualify as HQLA, including exchange- traded

equities 185.1 123 1.9 340.8 540.1 529.2
Other assets:
Physical traded commuodities, including gold - - - - - -
Assets posted as initial margin for derivative

contracts and contributions to default funds

of CCPs - 107.0 - - 107.0 90.9
NSFR derivative assets - 289.2 - - 289.2 289.2
NSFR derivative liabilities before deduction of

variation margin posted - 64.6 - - 64.6 64.6
All other assets not included in the above

categories 2553 - - - 2553 2553
OBS items - 2,797.7 2,450.7 6,105.5 11,353.9 567.7
Total RSF 14,420.4
NSFR (%) 142.8%
At 31 December 2023
NSFR (%) 143.0%
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Risk management (continued)
Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of unexpected losses resulting from inadequate or failed internal controls or procedures, systems
failures, fraud, business interruption, compliance breaches, human error, management failure or inadequate staffing.

A framework and methodology has been developed to identify and control the various operational risks. While operational
risk cannot be entirely eliminated, it is managed and mitigated by ensuring that the appropriate infrastructure, controls,
systems, procedures, and trained and competent people are in place throughout the Group. A strong internal audit function
makes regular, independent appraisals of the control environment in all identified risk areas. Adequately tested contingency
arrangements are also in place to support operations in the event of a range of possible disaster scenarios.

Capital management

The Group’s lead regulator, the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB), sets and monitors capital requirements for the Group as a
whole. The parent company and individual banking operations are directly supervised by their local regulators.

As referred to in more detail in note 38, the Group adopted the Basel 3 capital adequacy framework with effect from 1
January 2015 as required by the CBB.

Inapplying current capital requirements, the CBB requires the Group to maintain a prescribed minimum ratio of total regulatory
capital to total risk-weighted assets. The CBB’s minimum risk asset ratio is 12.5 per cent compared to a minimum ratio of 8
per cent prescribed by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. The Group calculates regulatory capital requirements
for general market risk in its trading portfolios using the standardised approach and uses the CBB'’s prescribed risk-weightings
under the standardised approach to determine the risk-weighted amounts for credit risk and specific market risk. Operational
risk is calculated in accordance with the standardised approach as well. The regulatory capital requirement for operational
risk is calculated by applying the CBB’s prescribed range of beta coefficients, ranging from 12 to 18 per cent, to the average
gross income for the preceding three financial years for each of eight predefined business lines.

The Group’s regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers:

- Tier 1 capital, comprising issued share capital, share premium, retained earnings and reserves, adjusted to exclude
revaluation gains and losses arising on the remeasurement to fair value of derivative cash flow hedging transactions.

- Tier 2 capital, comprising eligible subordinated term debt and expected credit losses Stage 1 and Stage 2 impairment
provisions, after applicable haircuts and ceiling limitations.

The CBB applies various limits to elements of the regulatory capital base including the contributions of innovative Tier 1
securities and qualifying Tier 2 capital towards the minimum total capital ratios.

The Group’s risk exposures are categorised as either trading book or banking book, and risk-weighted assets are determined
according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels of risk attached to assets and off-balance sheet
exposures.

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to
sustain the future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also recognised
as well as the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to the structure taking account of changes in economic conditions and strategic business plans. The capital structure may be
adjusted through the dividend payout and the issue of new shares.

The Group complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the years ended 31t December 2024 and
31 December 2023.

A new Tier 2 subordinated term debt of US$399.3 million in the Group was issued during the twelve months ended 31
December 2023. The Tier 2 Sukuk issuance was by way of a private placement in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia by the Bank’s
subsidiary, Gulf International Bank — Saudi Arabia in December 2023. Under the CBB capital adequacy framework, subsidiaries
reporting under a Basel 3 framework in other regulatory jurisdictions may, at the bank’s discretion, be consolidated based
on that jurisdiction’s Basel 3 framework, rather than based on the CBB’s guidelines. Under this aggregation consolidation
methodology, the capital and risk-weighted assets of subsidiaries are consolidated with those of the rest of the Group based
on the guidelines of their respective regulator to determine the Group’s total capital adequacy ratio.

There have been no material changes in the Group’s management of capital during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023.

The capital adequacy ratio calculation is set out in note 38.
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32. Geographical distribution of assets

The distribution of assets and contingent liabilities on behalf of customers by geographic region was as follows:

Placements, Credit-

reverse repos related
& other liquid Loansand  contingent 31.12.24
assets Securities advances items Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions  US$ millions
GCC 4,.818.2 5,721.5 14,321.5 7,558.8 32,420.0
Other Middle East & North Africa 119 3.1 336.9 184.5 536.4
Europe 8,832.3 234.8 510.5 455.6 10,033.2
North America 3,785.7 854.2 2334 403.7 5,277.0
Asia (excluding GCC) 676.5 794.2 - 13.5 1,484.2
18,124.6 7,607.8 15,402.3 8,616.1 49,750.8

Placements, Credit-

reverse repos related
& other liquid Loans and contingent 31.12.23
assets Securities advances items Total
US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions
GCC 5,263.3 5,192.9 12,794.5 7,575.5 30,826.2
Other Middle East & North Africa 14.7 - 381.1 75.0 470.8
Europe 7,521.9 293.6 215.4 183.3 8,214.2
North America 11,706.5 7495 231.8 473.0 13,160.8
Asia (excluding GCC) 3214 751.0 1.8 15.4 1,089.6
24,827.8 6,987.0 13,624.6 8,322.2 53,761.6

At 31t December 2024, on-balance sheet risk exposures to customers and counterparties in the GCC represented 60.4%
(2023: 51.2%) of total risk assets. The risk asset profile reflects the Group’s strategic focus on wholesale banking activities in

the GCC states.

An analysis of derivative and foreign exchange instruments is set out in note 35.
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33.

Maturities of assets and liabilities

The maturity profile of the carrying amount of assets, liabilities and equity, based on the contractual maturity dates, was as

follows:
Within 4 months Years Years Over5 years
3 months to 1 year 2and 3 4and 5 andundated Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 315t December 2024
Cash and other liquid assets 8,852.8 527.1 - - 502.7 9,882.6
Securities purchased under
agreemeEts to resell 2125 762.9 . ) B 975.4
Placements 5,069.5 1,882.9 3111 3.1 - 7,266.6
Trading securities - - - - 3284 3284
Investment securities 861.5 725.0 1,799.1 1,510.1 2,383.7 7,279.4
Loans and advances 6,071.6 3,064.7 2,738.9 2,051.2 1,475.9 15,402.3
Other assets 423.5 314.3 99.0 2283 691.7 1,756.8
Total assets 21,491.4 7,276.9 4,948.1 3,792.7 5,382.4 42,891.5
Deposits 23,603.8 6,214.4 - 29 39.3 29,860.4
Sig‘iggﬁfcﬂge””der agreements 887.1 807.7 154.0 - - 1,848.8
Other liabilities 495.1 2325 73.4 169.3 7223 1,692.6
Senior term financing 156.6 1,238.1 2,220.5 1,958.7 - 5,573.9
Subordinated term financing - - - - 399.3 399.3
Equity - - - - 3,516.5 3,516.5
Total liabilities and equity 25,142.6 8,492.7 2,447.9 2,130.9 4,677.4 42,891.5
Net liquidity gap (3,651.2) (1,215.8) 2,500.2 1,661.8 705.0
Cumulative liquidity gap (3,651.2) (4,867.0) (2,366.8) (705.0) -
Within 4 months Years Years Over 5 years
3 months to 1 year 2and 3 4and5 andundated Total
US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions
At 31t December 2023
Cash and other liquid assets 16,313.8 195.0 - - 4977 17,006.5
Securities purchased under
agreemeEts to resell 3439 4000 ) ) ) 7439
Placements 5,206.4 1,538.1 3311 1.8 - 7,077.4
Trading securities - - - - 270.8 270.8
Investment securities 722.6 1,568.3 718.9 1,360.6 2,345.8 6,716.2
Loans and advances 47739 2,451.6 3,675.8 1,523.7 1,199.6 13,624.6
Other assets 354.4 3313 120.9 130.8 693.1 1,630.5
Total assets 27,715.0 6,484.3 4,846.7 3,016.9 5,007.0 47,069.9
Deposits 29,223.2 6,170.2 8.4 - - 35,401.8
Secures soldunderagreements 3161 4270 : : : 7431
Other liabilities 316.5 266.0 92.1 99.7 761.4 1,535.7
Senior term financing 5253 1,395.1 2,407.1 1,293.2 - 5,620.7
Subordinated term financing - - - - 400.0 400.0
Equity - - - - 3,368.6 3,368.6
Total liabilities and equity 30,381.1 8,258.3 2,507.6 1,392.9 4,530.0 47,069.9
Net liquidity gap (2,666.1) (1,774.0) 2,339.1 1,624.0 477.0
Cumulative liquidity gap (2,666.1) (4,440.1) (2,101.0) (477.0) -

The asset and liability maturities presented in the table above are based on contractual repayment arrangements and as
such do not take account of the effective maturities of deposits as indicated by the Group’s deposit retention records. Formal
liquidity controls are nevertheless based on contractual asset and liability maturities.
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33.

Maturities of assets and liabilities (continued)

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted

repayment obligations:

Within 4 months Years Years Over 5 years
3 months to 1 year 2and 3 4and5 andundated
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions  US$ millions
At 31 December 2024
Deposits 23,904.7 6,596.8 - 3.1 43.2
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 904.6 815.8 160.2 - -
Senior term financing 159.7 1,269.1 2,309.3 2,115.4 -
Subordinated term financing - - - - 439.2
Total non-derivative financial liabilities 24,969.0 8,681.7 2,469.5 2,118.5 482.4
Derivative financial instruments 101.0 122.1 76.4 182.8 201.9
Credit-related contingent items 4,265.8 2,663.5 1,380.6 442.4 108.1
Within 4 months Years Years  Over 5 years
3 months to 1 year 2and 3 4and5 andundated
At 31° December 2023
Deposits 29,519.4 6,706.3 8.8 - -
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 326.5 436.4 - - -
Senior term financing 535.8 1,430.0 2,503.4 1,396.7 -
Subordinated term financing - - - - 440.0
Total non-derivative financial liabilities 30,381.7 8,572.7 2,512.2 1,396.7 440.0
Derivative financial instruments 68.3 1451 95.8 107.7 281.0
Credit-related contingent items 4,782.0 2,132.0 1,189.7 168.6 279.3

The figures in the table above do not agree directly to the carrying amounts in the consolidated statement of financial position
as they incorporate all cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, related to both principal as well as those associated with future
coupon and interest payments. Coupons and interest payments for periods for which the interest rate has not yet been
determined have been calculated based on the relevant forward rates of interest prevailing at the balance sheet date.

A maturity analysis of derivative and foreign exchange instruments based on notional amounts is set out in note 35.3.
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34.

Interest rate risk

The repricing profile of assets and liabilities categories and equity were as follows:

Non-interest

Within Months Months Over bearing
3 months 4to06 7to12 1 year items Total
US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions
At 315t December 2024
Cash and other liquid assets 9,396.2 - - - 486.4 9,882.6
Securities purchased under
agreements to resell 2125 250.0 5129 - - 975.4
Placements 5,114.2 1,052.9 1,099.5 - - 7,266.6
Trading securities - - - - 328.4 328.4
Investment securities
- Fixed rate 899.8 74.7 575.1 2,111.4 - 3,661.0
- Floating rate 3,366.5 46.6 - 184.7 - 3,597.8
- Equities - - - - 20.6 20.6
Loans and advances 12,974.5 1,576.0 437.2 320.2 94.4 15,402.3
Other assets - - - - 1,756.8 1,756.8
Total assets 31,963.7 3,000.2 2,624.7 2,616.3 2,686.6 42,891.5
Deposits 23,079.8 2,774.3 2,310.9 - 1,695.4 29,860.4
Securities sold under agreements
to repurchase 1,318.3 338.0 1925 - - 1,848.8
Other liabilities - - - - 1,692.6 1,692.6
Senior term financing 5,174.2 - 399.7 - - 5,573.9
Subordinated term financing 399.3 - - - - 399.3
Equity - - - - 3,516.5 3,516.5
Total liabilities & equity 29,971.6 3,112.3 2,903.1 - 6,904.5 42,891.5
Interest rate sensitivity gap 1,992.1 (112.1) (278.4) 2,616.3 (4,217.9) -
Cumulative interest rate
sensitivity gap 1,992.1 1,880.0 1,601.6 4,217.9 - -




95 GIB B.S.C. Annual Report 2024 Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

34. Interest rate risk (continued)

Non-interest
Within Months Months Over bearing
3 months 4106 7to12 1 year items Total

US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions
At 31t December 2023

Cash and other liquid assets 16,806.8 - 195.0 - 4.7 17,006.5
Securities purchased under

agreements to resell 3439 - 400.0 - - 7439
Placements 5,540.4 798.0 739.0 - - 7,077.4
Trading securities - - - - 270.8 270.8
Investment securities

- Fixed rate 761.9 411.4 909.3 1,386.4 - 3,469.0

- Floating rate 3,164.0 46.7 - 133 - 3,224.0

- Equities - - - - 23.2 23.2
Loans and advances 8,232.3 1,951.3 3,441.0 - - 13,624.6
Other assets - - - - 1,630.5 1,630.5
Total assets 34,8493 3,207.4 5,684.3 1,399.7 1,929.2 47,069.9
Deposits 28,781.0 1,759.8 3,132.8 - 1,728.2 35,401.8
Securities sold under

agreements to repurchase 582.2 92.4 68.5 - - 743.1
Other liabilities - - - - 1,535.7 1,535.7
Senior term financing 5,130.6 - 737 416.4 - 5,620.7
Subordinated term financing 400.0 - - - - 400.0
Equity - - - - 3,368.6 3,368.6
Total liabilities & equity 34,8938 1,852.2 3,275.0 416.4 6,632.5 47,069.9
Interest rate sensitivity gap (44.5) 1,355.2 2,409.3 983.3 (4,703.3) -

Cumulative interest rate
sensitivity gap (44.5) 1,310.7 3,720.0 4,703.3 - -

The repricing profile is based on the remaining period to the next interest repricing date. Derivative financial instruments that
have been used for asset and liability management purposes to hedge exposure to interest rate risk are incorporated in the
repricing profiles of the related hedged assets and liabilities.

The majority of assets and liabilities reprice within one year. Accordingly, there is limited exposure to interest rate risk. The
interest rate risk beyond one year, as set out in the asset and liability repricing profile, mainly represents the investment of
the Group’s net free capital in fixed rate government securities. At 31 December 2024, the modified duration of these fixed
rate securities was 4.14 (2023: 4.92). Modified duration represents the approximate percentage change in the portfolio value
resulting from a 100 basis point change in yield. More precisely in dollar terms, the price value of a basis point of the fixed rate
securities was US$ 816,867 (2023: US$ 653,665). The Bank also has a US$171.4 million (2023: nil) of unhedged FVOCI bonds
with various maturities contributing to a DVO1 of US$97,516 (2023: nil).

Based on the repricing profile at 315 December 2024, and assuming that the financial assets and liabilities were to rollover
upon maturity or settlement with while maintaining a constant balance sheet, an immediate and sustained two per cent
increase in interest rates across all maturities would result in an increase in net income before tax for the following year by
approximately US$55.6 million (2023: US$68.0 million) and a decrease in the Group’s equity by US$153.1 million (2023:
US$102.1 million). The impact on the Group’s equity represents the cumulative effect of the increase in interest rates over the
entire duration of the mismatches in the repricing profile of the interest rate sensitive financial assets and liabilities.

The Value-at-Risk by risk class for the Group’s trading positions is set out in note 31. The market risk relating to derivative and
foreign exchange instruments classified as FVTPL is set out in note 35.
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35.

Derivatives and foreign exchange instruments

The Group utilises derivative and foreign exchange instruments to meet the needs of its customers, to generate trading
revenues and as part of its asset and liability management (ALM) activity to hedge its own exposure to market risk. Derivative
instruments are contracts whose value is derived from one or more financial instruments or indices. They include futures,
forwards, swaps and options in the interest rate, foreign exchange, equity, credit and commodity markets. Derivatives and
foreign exchange are subject to the same types of credit and market risk as other financial instruments. The Group has
appropriate and comprehensive Board-approved policies and procedures for the control of exposure to both market and
credit risk from its derivative and foreign exchange activities.

In the case of derivative transactions, the notional principal typically does not change hands. It is simply a quantity which
is used to calculate payments. While notional principal is a volume measure used in the derivative and foreign exchange
markets, it is neither a measure of market nor credit risk. The Group’s measure of credit exposure is the cost of replacing
contracts at current market rates should the counterparty default prior to the settlement date. Credit risk amounts represent
the gross unrealised gains on non-margined transactions before taking account of any collateral held or any master netting
agreements in place.

The Group participates in both exchange traded and over-the-counter (OTC) derivative markets. Exchange traded instruments
are executed through a recognised exchange as standardised contracts and primarily comprise futures and options. OTC
contracts are executed between two counterparties who negotiate specific agreement terms, including the underlying
instrument, notional amount, maturity and, where appropriate, exercise price. In general, the terms and conditions of these
transactions are tailored to the requirements of the Group’s customers although conform to normal market practice. Industry
standard documentation is used, most commonly in the form of a master agreement. The existence of a master netting
agreement is intended to provide protection to the Group in the event of a counterparty default.

The Group’s principal foreign exchange transactions are forward foreign exchange contracts, currency swaps and currency
options. Forward foreign exchange contracts are agreements to buy or sell a specified quantity of foreign exchange on a
specific future date at an agreed rate. A currency swap involves the exchange, or notional exchange, of equivalent amounts
of two currencies and a commitment to exchange interest periodically until the principal amounts are re-exchanged on a
specified future date. Currency options provide the buyer with the right, but not the obligation, either to purchase or sell a
fixed amount of a currency at a specified exchange rate on or before a specified future date. As compensation for assuming
the option risk, the option seller (or writer) receives a premium at the start of the option period.

The Group’s principal interest rate-related derivative transactions are interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements, futures
and options. An interest rate swap is an agreement between two parties to exchange fixed rate and floating rate interest by
means of periodic payments based upon a notional principal amount and the interest rates defined in the contract. Certain
agreements combine interest rate and foreign currency swap transactions, which may or may not include the exchange of
principal amounts. In a forward rate agreement, two parties agree a future settlement of the difference between an agreed
rate and a future interest rate, applied to a notional principal amount for an agreed period. The settlement, which generally
occurs at the start of the contract period, is the discounted present value of the payment that would otherwise be made at the
end of that period. An interest rate future is an exchange traded contract for the delivery of a standardised amount of a fixed
income security or time deposit at a future specified date. Interest rate options, including caps, floors and collars, provide the
buyer with the right, but not the obligation, either to purchase or sell an interest rate financial instrument at a specified price
or rate on or before a specified future date.

The Group’s principal equity-related derivative transactions are equity and stock index options. An equity option provides the
buyer with the right, but not the obligation, either to purchase or sell a specified stock or index at a specified price or level on
or before a specified future date.

The Group buys and sells credit protection through credit default swaps. Credit default swaps provide protection against
the decline in value of a referenced asset as a result of credit events such as default or bankruptcy. It is similar in structure
to an option whereby the purchaser pays a premium to the seller of the credit default swap in return for payment related to
the deterioration in value of the referenced asset. Credit default swaps purchased and sold by the Group are classified as
derivative financial instruments.
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35. Derivatives and foreign exchange instruments (continued)

35.1 Product analysis

Consolidated Financial Statements

The table below summarises the aggregate notional and credit risk amounts of foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity

contracts.
Notional
amounts Credit risk
Trading Hedging total amounts
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 31 December 2024
Foreign exchange contracts:
Unmatured spot, forward and futures contracts 8,289.1 594.1 8,883.2 135.4
Options purchased 424.1 - 4241 -
Options written 424.1 - 424.1 -
9,137.3 594.1 9,731.4 135.4
Interest rate contracts:
Interest rate swaps 17,138.7 6,800.4 23,939.1 991.1
Cross currency swaps 401.8 - 401.8 1.8
Futures 107.6 - 107.6 -
Options, caps and floors purchased 2,878.0 - 2,878.0 72.6
Options, caps and floors written 2,878.0 - 2,878.0 -
23,404.1 6,800.4 30,204.5 1,065.5
Equity and commodity contracts:
Options and swaps purchased 60.5 - 60.5 1.6
Options and swaps written 60.5 - 60.5 -
121.0 - 121.0 1.6
Credit default swaps:
Protection purchased 28.7 - 28.7 -
Protection sold 28.7 - 28.7 -
57.4 - 57.4 -
32,719.8 7,394.5 40,114.3 1,202.5
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35.
35.1

35.2

Derivatives and foreign exchange instruments (continued)

Product analysis (continued)

Consolidated Financial Statements

Notional
amounts Credit risk
Trading Hedging total amounts
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 31 December 2023
Foreign exchange contracts:
Unmatured spot, forward and futures contracts 6,616.7 - 6,616.7 1179
Options purchased 383.2 - 383.2 -
Options written 383.2 - 383.2 -
7,383.1 - 7,383.1 117.9
Interest rate contracts:
Interest rate swaps 15,461.1 6,908.4 22,369.5 1,021.5
Cross currency swaps 492.5 - 492.5 8.5
Futures 101.7 - 101.7 -
Options, caps and floors purchased 2,436.5 - 2,436.5 81.6
Options, caps and floors written 2,436.5 - 2,436.5 -
20,9283 6,908.4 27,836.7 1,1116
Equity and commodity contracts:
Options and swaps purchased 51.0 - 51.0 12.8
Options and swaps written 51.0 - 51.0 -
102.0 - 102.0 12.8
Credit default swaps:
Protection purchased 41.9 - 41.9 -
Protection sold 41.9 - 41.9 -
83.8 - 83.8 -
28,497.2 6,908.4 35,405.6 1,242.3

There is no credit risk in respect of options written as they represent obligations of the Group.

At 31 December 2024, the Value-at-Risk of the foreign exchange, interest rate and equity trading contracts analysed in
the table above was US$0.26 million, US$0.25 million and US$8.57 million respectively (2023: US$0.75 million, US$0.70
million and US$5.54 million respectively). Value-at-Risk is a measure of market risk exposure and represents an estimate,
with a 99 per cent level of confidence, of the potential loss that might arise if the positions were to be held unchanged for ten
consecutive business days. The estimate is based on a twelve-month historical observation period of unweighted data.

Counterparty analysis

31.12.24

Financial sector Corporates Total

US$ millions  US$ millions US$ millions

OECD countries 819.5 39.6 859.1
GCC countries 246.8 93.1 339.9
Other countries 3.5 - 35
1,069.8 132.7 1,202.5

31.12.23

Financial sector Corporates Total

US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions

OECD countries 510.3 72.3 582.6
GCC countries 547.5 107.3 654.8
Other countries 4.9 - 49
1,062.7 179.6 1,242.3
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35.
353

35.4

35.5

Derivatives and foreign exchange instruments (continued)

Maturity analysis
Years Years Over
Year 1 2&3 4&5 5 years Total
US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions US$ millions
At 31t December 2024
Foreign exchange contracts 9,407.4 324.0 - - 9,731.4
Interest rate contracts 4,032.3 4,246.4 10,497.5 11,428.3 30,204.5
Equity and commodity contracts 121.0 - - - 121.0
Credit default swaps 16.6 - 40.8 - 57.4
13,577.3 4,570.4 10,538.3 11,428.3 40,114.3
Years Years Over
Year 1 2&3 4&5 5 years Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 31 December 2023
Foreign exchange contracts 7,145.8 2373 - - 7,383.1
Interest rate contracts 3,970.2 4,719.1 5,357.3 13,790.1 27,836.7
Equity and commodity contracts 102.0 - - - 102.0
Credit default swaps 433 16.5 24.0 - 83.8
11,2613 49729 5,381.3 13,790.1 35,405.6

The Group’s derivative and foreign exchange activities are predominantly short-term in nature. Transactions with maturities
over one year principally represent either fully offset trading transactions or transactions that are designated, and qualify, as
fair value hedges.

Fair value analysis

31.12.24 31.12.23
Positive Negative Positive Negative
fair value fair value fair value fair value
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Derivatives held for trading:
Foreign exchange contracts 25.4 (23.1) 10.1 (11.6)
Interest rate contracts 631.8 (616.8) 655.8 (640.0)
Equity and commodity contracts 0.9 (0.7) 11 (1.0
658.1 (640.6) 667.0 (652.6)
Derivatives held for hedging:
Foreign exchange contracts 51.9 - - -
Interest rate contracts 159.0 (3.8) 193.7 3.3)
210.9 (3.8) 193.7 (3.3)
Amount included in other assets / (other liabilities) 869.0 (644.4) 860.7 (655.9)

Significant net open positions

There were no significant derivative trading or foreign currency net open positions at either 31t December 2024 or at 31
December 2023.
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35.
35.6

a)

Derivatives and foreign exchange instruments (continued)
Hedge accounting

The Group offers fixed rate liability and asset products to clients in the normal course of business. The interest rate received or
paid is fixed for the term of the transaction, exposing the Group to interest rate risk during the life of the transaction.

In order to mitigate this interest rate market risk exposure, the Group uses interest rate swaps in one-to-one, one-to-many and
many-to-many relationships. The derivative products effectively tie a floating interest rate to the fixed rate client transaction.
The hedging item is executed at the same time that the client-related transaction, the hedged item, is booked.

Generally, the hedging item executed exactly matches the critical terms of the hedged item, that being the nominal value,
currency, trade date and maturity date and hence the hedge ratio is expected to remain close to 100 per cent. The hedging
relationship is generally highly effective because the critical terms of the instruments match at inception and will remain
effective throughout the contractual term of the derivative until maturity. The critical terms are reviewed every reporting date
to ensure that the match persists.

The Group’s derivative instruments are also subject to credit risk. Credit risk can arise on both the hedging instrument and
the hedged item in the form of counterparty credit risk or the Group’s own credit risk. The Group mitigates its credit exposure
through the use of master netting arrangements and collateral arrangements as set out in note 31.1 and credit risk is therefore,
unlikely to dominate the change in fair value of such hedging instruments.

The hedging relationship is tested at each reporting date by comparing the fair value of the hedging instrument with that of the
hedged instrument. If, as a result of the testing, there is a deviation to the hedge ratio then ineffectiveness is recognised in the
consolidated statement of income. The hedging relationship is subsequently either rebalanced or discontinued in accordance
with the Group’s Board-approved policies and procedures.

Fair value hedges

The hedging instruments comprise hedges of fixed rate asset and fixed rate liability products with the following maturity
profile:
Years Years Over
Year 1 2and 3 4and5 5 years Total
US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions

Notional amounts

At 315t December 2024

Fixed rate asset products 798.6 1,557.9 1,015.5 1,460.8 4,832.8
Fixed rate liability products 1,447.6 20.0 500.0 - 1,967.6

At 31 December 2023
Fixed rate asset products 1,595.2 1,088.3 1,078.9 15215 5,283.9
Fixed rate liability products 1,476.1 148.4 - - 1,624.5

Gains and losses recognised in the consolidated statement of income relating to fair value hedging relationships were as
follows:

31.12.23 31.12.22

US$ millions US$ millions

Net gain / (loss) on derivatives fair value hedging instruments 23.7 (72.9)
Net (loss) / gain on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk (23.7) 72.9
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35.
35.6
a)

Derivatives and foreign exchange instruments (continued)
Hedge accounting (continued)
Fair value hedges (continued)

The notional amount, fair values, and changes in fair values of hedging instruments used as the basis for recognising hedge
ineffectiveness were as follows:

Notional Fair Changes in
amount value fair value
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 31 December 2024
Financial assets
Interest rate contracts 5,661.3 221.4 20.1
Financial liabilities
Interest rate contracts 1,139.1 (6.1) 3.6
6,800.4 215.3 23.7
At 31°t December 2023
Financial assets
Interest rate contracts 55825 201.3 (80.6)
Financial liabilities
Interest rate contracts 1,3259 (9.7) 7.7
6,908.4 191.6 (72.9)

The carrying amount, accumulative changes in fair values, and changes in fair values of hedging instruments for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 31t December 2023 used as the basis for recognising hedge ineffectiveness were as follows:

Notional Fair Changes in
amount value fair value
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 31t December 2024
Financial assets
Placements and securities purchased under agreement to resell 916.2 3.2 2.5
Loans and advances 280.6 (6.5) 0.9
Investment securities 3,636.0 (210.0) (19.2)
4,832.8 (213.3) (15.8)
Financial liabilities
Deposits and securities sold under agreement to repurchase 1,327.6 (0.5) (0.2)
Senior term financing 640.0 (1.4) (7.7)
1,967.6 (1.9) (7.9)
6,800.4 (215.2) (23.7)
At 31 December 2023
Financial assets
Placements and securities purchased under agreement to resell 1,643.6 0.7 11.2
Loans and advances 2292 (7.4) 5.5
Investment securities 3411.1 (190.8) 63.0
5,283.9 (197.5) 79.7
Financial liabilities
Deposits and securities sold under agreement to repurchase 1,484.5 ©.3) (4.0)
Senior term financing 140.0 6.3 (2.8)
1,624.5 6.0 6.8)
6,908.4 (191.5) 729

There were no ineffective portions of derivative fair value hedging transactions recognised in the consolidated statement of
income in either the years ended 31 December 2024 or 31 December 2023.
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35.
35.6

b)

36.

Derivatives and foreign exchange instruments (continued)
Hedge accounting (continued)

Cash flow hedges

The notional amount, fair values, and changes in fair values of hedging instruments used as the basis for recognising hedge
ineffectiveness were as follows:

Gain / (loss)
Notional Changes in recognised
amount Asset fair value in OCI
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 315t December 2024
Foreign exchange risk
FX swaps 594.1 51.9 2.6 2.6

The carrying amount, accumulative changes in fair values, and changes in fair values of hedging instruments used as the basis
for recognising hedge ineffectiveness were as follows:

Notional Changes in
amount fair value
US$ millions US$ millions
At 31t December 2024
Financial assets
Investment securities (debt securities at amortised cost) 594.1 2.6

Gains and losses recognised in the consolidated statement of income and other comprehensive income relating to cash flow
hedging relationships were as follows:

31.12.24

US$ millions

Gain recognised in OCI (effective portion) 2.6
Taxation charge (0.7)
1.9

There were no cash flow hedges as at 31°* December 2023.

Credit-related contingent items

Credit-related contingent items include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and guarantees which are
designed to meet the financing requirements of customers. The credit risk on these transactions is generally less than the
contractual amount. The notional principal amounts of outstanding credit-related contingent items and the risk-weighted
exposures calculated in accordance with the CBB'’s Basel 3 guidelines were as follows:

Notional 31.12.24 Notional 31.12.23
principal Risk-weighted principal  Risk-weighted
amount exposure amount exposure
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Direct credit substitutes 1,379.1 1,264.3 840.1 744.2
Transaction-related contingent items 4,017.0 1,698.9 3,369.8 1,392.6
SIjort—term self-liquidating trade-related contingent 893.3 175.9 8533 1556
items
Commitments, including undrawn loan commitments
and underwriting commitments under note
issuance and revolving facilities 2,326.7 1,142.0 3,259.0 1,639.3
8,616.1 4,281.1 8,322.2 3,931.7

The notional principal amounts reported above are stated gross before applying credit risk mitigants, such as cash collateral,
guarantees and counter-indemnities. At 31° December 2024, the Group held cash collateral, guarantees, counter-indemnities or
other high quality collateralin relation to credit-related contingent items amounting to US$479.9 million (2023: US$429.0 million).
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36.

37.

38.

Credit-related contingent items (continued)

Direct credit substitutes at 31% December 2024 included financial guarantees amounting to US$690.0 million (2023:
US$498.3 million). Financial guarantees may be called on demand.

Provisions in relation to credit-related contingent items at 31 December 2024 amounted to US$ 53.1 million (2023: US$49.6
million). The movement in the provisions for expected credit losses during the year is as follows:

31t December 2024 31t December 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
us$ us$ us$ us$ us$ us$ us$ us$
millions millions millions millions millions millions millions millions
At 1%t January 6.9 6.2 36.5 49.6 7.1 6.6 311 44.8
Transfer to Stage 1 1.5 (1.5) - - 0.5 (0.5) - -
Transfer to Stage 2 (0.2) 0.2 - - 0.1) 0.1 - -
Exchange rate - - ©0.1) ©.1) - - 0.1 0.1
movements
EISE ;‘Tgfvii‘ifme”t of 1.2 (1.1) 35 3.6 (0.6) - 5.3 4.7
At 315t December 9.4 3.8 39.9 53.1 6.9 6.2 36.5 49.6

Contingent liabilities and commitments

The Bank and its subsidiaries are engaged in litigation in various jurisdictions. Such litigation involves claims by and against
Group companies which have arisen in the ordinary course of business. The management of the Bank, after reviewing the
claims pending against the Group companies and based on the advice of relevant professional legal advisors, are satisfied that
the outcome of these claims will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Group.

Capital adequacy

The Group adopted the Basel 3 capital adequacy framework with effect from 1** January 2015. The CBB’s Basel 3 guidelines
became effective on 1°* January 2015 as the common framework for the implementation of the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision’s (Basel Committee) Basel 3 capital adequacy framework for banks incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain. The
Group complied with all externally imposed capital requirements for the years ended 31t December 2024 and 31°* December
2023.

31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions

Regulatory capital base
CET1 3,074.6 3,316.8
Additional Tier 1 capital 102.0 -
Total Tier 1 capital 3,176.6 3,316.8
Tier 2 capital 472.9 576.4
Total capital base 3,649.5 3,893.2

Risk-weighted exposure
Credit risk-weighted exposure 21,429.9 18,993.5
Market risk-weighted exposure 941.1 7447
Operational risk-weighted exposure 1,031.5 818.1
Total risk-weighted exposure 23,402.5 20,556.3
Tier 1 risk asset ratio 13.6% 16.1%
Total risk asset ratio 15.6% 18.9%

As at 31t December 2024, all banks incorporated in Bahrain are required to maintain a minimum capital adequacy ratio of
12.5% and a Tier 1 ratio of 10.5%.
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38.

39.

40.

Capital adequacy (continued)

Effective June 2024, the calculation of the Eligible Capital for Capital Adequacy has been updated in accordance with the
Central Bank of Bahrain directives. This update changes the method of eligible capital from full aggregation to applying
regulatory consolidation rules, particularly concerning minority interests held by third parties. As a result, the Group’s Capital
Adequacy Ratio starting from 30" June 2024 has been adjusted to reflect this revised approach mandated by the regulator.

In accordance with the capital adequacy guidelines of the CBB, revaluation gains and losses arising on the remeasurement
to fair value of derivative cash flow hedging transactions are excluded from Tier 1 capital, while unrealised gains and losses
arising on the remeasurement to fair value of equity investment securities classified as fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVTOCI) are included in Tier 1 capital.

The regulatory capital requirement for operational risk is calculated by the Group in accordance with the standardised approach.
The regulatory capital requirement is calculated based on a range of beta coefficients, ranging from 12 to 18 per cent, applied
to the average gross income for the preceding three financial years for each of eight predefined business lines.

Fiduciary activities

The Group conducts investment management and other fiduciary activities on behalf of clients. Assets held in trust or in a
fiduciary capacity are not assets of the Group and accordingly have not beenincluded in the consolidated financial statements.
The aggregate amount of the funds concerned at 31t December 2024 was US$ 8,193.4 million (2023: US$8,114.9 million).

The Group acts as fund manager to a number of investment funds. In its capacity as fund manager, the Group is entitled to
performance and management fees. The Group maintains an investment in the funds.

The maximum exposure to loss is equal to the carrying amount of the investment in the funds, which at 31° December 2024
amounted to US$ 321.1 million (2023: US$262.3 million).
Related party transactions

The Group enters into transactions with major shareholders, senior management and companies which are controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by such parties in the ordinary course of business at arm’s length. All the loans and
advances to related parties are performing and are subject to ECL assessments.

Theincome, expense and the period end balances in respect of related parties included in the consolidated financial statements
were as follows:

Directors
and senior

Shareholders Affiliates management Total

US$ millions  US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
As at 31 December 2024
Cash and other liquid assets - 0.3 - 0.3
Placements - 1,215.0 - 1,215.0
Investment securities - 590.0 - 590.0
Loans and advances - 1,517.0 221 1,539.1
Other assets 2.3 199.5 - 201.8
Deposits 2,041.8 3,570.6 211 5,633.5
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase - - - -
Other liabilities 0.2 50.0 - 50.2
Senior term financing - 979.9 - 979.9
Commitments and contingent liabilities - 1,214.5 2.9 1,217.4
For the year ended 31 December 2024
Net interest expense (76.1) (53.0) - (129.1)
Fee and commission income 2.3 6.5 - 8.8
Trading and foreign exchange gain - 2.4 - 2.4
Other income - 0.4 - 0.4
Short term employee benefits - - (38.2) (38.2)
Post-employment benefits - - (2.2) (2.2)
Directors' fees and related expenses - - (5.0) (5.0)
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40.

41.

41.1

41.2

41.3

Related party transactions (continued)

Directors
and senior
Shareholders Affiliates  management Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
As at 31 December 2023
Cash and other liquid assets - 0.1 - 0.1
Placements - 1,547.8 - 1,547.8
Investment securities - 3757 - 3757
Loans and advances - 7731 125 785.6
Other assets 2.2 1356 - 137.8
Deposits 1,596.9 3,273.3 10.4 4,880.6
Other liabilities 1.2 64.3 - 65.5
Senior term financing - 960.0 - 960.0
Commitments and contingent liabilities 46.1 1,582.7 1.9 1,630.7
For the year ended 31 December 2023
Net interest expense (75.4) (119.0) - (194.4)
Fee and commission income 2.7 7.7 - 10.4
Trading and foreign exchange gain - 4.5 - 4.5
Other income - 11 - 11
Short term employee benefits - - (31.9) (31.9)
Post-employment benefits - - (1.9) 1.9)
Directors' fees and related expenses - - (4.2) (4.2)

Senior management personnel comprise the Group Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers of the Group.

Post-employment benefits principally comprise compensation paid to personnel on retirement or resignation from the
services of the Group.

Fair value of financial instruments

The Group’s financial instruments are accounted for under the historical cost method with the exception of trading securities,
equity investment securities, derivative financial instruments and financial instruments hedged for fair value, which are
accounted foratfair value. The fair value represents the price that would be received to sellan asset, or paid to transfer aliability,
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Differences therefore can arise between
book values under the historical cost method and fair value estimates. Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption
that the Group is a going concern without any intention or requirement to curtail materially the scale of its operation or to
undertake a transaction on adverse terms. Generally accepted methods of determining fair value include reference to quoted
prices (level 1 measurement) or to the pricing prevailing for similar financial instruments (level 2 measurement) and the use of
unobservable inputs in estimation techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis (level 3 measurement).

The valuation methodologies applied are outlined below.

Trading securities

The fair values of trading securities are based on quoted prices (level 1) or valuation techniques (level 2 or 3).
Investment securities

The fair values of equity investment securities are based on quoted prices (level 1) or valuation techniques (level 2 or 3). The
fair values of debt investment securities that are hedged are based on valuation based on observable market data (level 2)
and approximate the carrying values.

Loans and advances

The fair values (level 2) of loans on a floating interest rate basis are principally estimated at book value. The fair values (level
3) of impaired loans are estimated at the recoverable amount, measured as the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted based on the Group’s weighted average discount rate. The fair values of fixed rate loans are estimated on a
discounted cash flow basis utilising discount rates equal to prevailing market rates of interest in the respective currencies for
loans of similar residual maturity and credit quality. The fair values (level 2) approximate the carrying values.
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41.
41.4

41.5

41.6

41.7

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
Term financing

The fair value of term financing is based on observable market data, including quoted market prices for debt instruments
issued by similarly rated financial institutions and with similar maturities, or estimated on a discounted cash flow basis utilising
currently prevailing spreads for borrowings with similar maturities. The fair values (level 2) of senior term financing at 31
December 2024 approximate the carrying values.

Other on-balance sheet items

The fair values of foreign exchange and derivative financial instruments are based on market prices, discounted cash
flow techniques or option pricing models as appropriate. The fair values of all other on-balance sheet assets and liabilities
approximate their respective book values due to their short-term nature.

Credit-related contingent items

There was no material fair value excess or shortfall in respect of credit-related off-balance sheet financial instruments, which
include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and guarantees, as the related future income streams reflected
contractual fees and commissions actually charged at the balance sheet date for agreements of similar credit standing and
maturity. Impairment provisions made in respect of individual transactions where a potential for loss has been identified are
included in other liabilities.

Valuation basis

The valuation basis for financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value was as follows:

Valuation based Other
Quoted on observable valuation
prices market data techniques
(level 1) (level 2) (level 3)
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 31t December 2024
Financial assets:
Trading securities 327.9 0.5 -
Investment securities - FVOCI 195.7 - 15.5
Derivative financial instruments - 869.0 -
Financial liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments - 644.4 -
At 31t December 2023
Financial assets:
Trading securities 270.1 0.7 -
Investment securities - FVOCI 7.1 - 16.1
Derivative financial instruments - 860.7 -
Financial liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments - 655.9 -

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the consolidated
statement of financial position date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it
is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.
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41.

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

41.7 Valuation basis (continued)

42.

43.

44.

Transfers between level 1 and level 2

There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

Consolidated Financial Statements

Sensitivity of the movement in the fair value of financial instruments in the level 3 category is assessed as not significant to

other comprehensive income or total equity.

The movements in the level 3 category is as follows:

31.12.24 31.12.23

US$ millions US$ millions

At 1 January 16.1 15.5
Purchases 0.2 -

Sales \ write-off - 0.1)

Fair value movement (0.8) 0.7

At 31 December 15.5 16.1

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to the shareholders by the weighted average

number of shares in issue during the year.

31.12.24 31.12.23

US$ millions US$ millions

Net income attributable to shareholders of the Bank (US$ millions) 134.8 140.0
Weighted average number of shares in issue (millions) 2,000 2,125
Basic earnings per share (US cents) 6.74 6.59

The diluted earnings per share is equivalent to the basic earnings per share set out above.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Shareholders have approved the set-off of accumulated retained losses

against capital and reserves (refer note 20).

Principal subsidiaries

The principal subsidiary companies were as follows:
Principal activities

Country of incorporation Ownership interest

31.12.24 31.12.23
Gulf International Bank - Wholesale commercial . . o 5
Saudi Arabia C.J.S.C. and retail banking Saudi Arabia 0% 20%
GuIf International Bank (UK) Limited ~ ~\SSetmanagementand ;w4 kinadom 100% 100%
treasury
GIB Markets Limited Treasury-related Cayman Islands 100% 100%

Non-controlling interest

The non-controlling interest arose on the purchase by the Bank’s majority shareholder, the Public Investment Fund, of
50 per cent of the shares issued on the incorporation of Gulf International Bank — Saudi Arabia on 3™ April 2019, a new
subsidiary of the Bank.

The activities of the Bank in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia were previously conducted through a foreign branch of the Bank. On
34 April 2019, the foreign branch was converted to a Saudi closed joint stock company, Gulf International Bank — Saudi Arabia.
Upon the incorporation of the Saudi closed joint stock company, the net assets of the foreign branch were converted to Gulf
International Bank — Saudi Arabia. Gulf International Bank - Saudi Arabia was incorporated with an issued and fully paid share
capital of SAR 7.5 billion that was equally subscribed by the Bank, and the Bank’s majority shareholder, the Public Investment
Fund (PIF). PIF’s investment in the share capital of Gulf International Bank — Saudi Arabia is designated as a non-controlling
interest in the Group.

The summarised financial information of the subsidiary is provided below. The information is based on amounts before inter-
company eliminations.
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44. Non-controlling interest (continued)

Summarised statement of financial position

Consolidated Financial Statements

31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
Total assets 15,456.8 12,427.4
Total liabilities 13,374.8 10,427.4
Total equity 2,082.0 2,000.0
Equity attributable to non-controlling interest 1,041.0 1,000.0
31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
Totalincome 390.2 3599
Total operating expenses (242.2) (237.6)
Provision charge (35.7) (50.9)
Zakat charge (21.5) (12.6)
Net income 90.8 58.8
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest 45.4 29.4
Total comprehensive income 82.0 74.8
Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest 41.0 37.4
45. Average consolidated statement of financial position
The average consolidated statement of financial position was as follows:
31.12.24 31.12.23
US$ millions US$ millions
ASSETS
Cash and other liquid assets 16,497.4 12,356.5
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 1,130.0 6479
Placements 6,234.8 6,936.3
Trading securities 304.8 2355
Investment securities 7,188.0 6,490.0
Loans and advances 13,820.5 12,399.6
Other assets 1,726.9 1,803.6
Total assets 46,902.4 40,869.4
LIABILITIES
Deposits from banks 1,203.0 1,234.6
Deposits from customers 33,536.0 28,713.7
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 1,126.3 741.7
Other liabilities 1,680.8 1,676.0
Senior term financing 5,480.2 5,165.5
Subordinated term financing 399.8 333
Total liabilities 43,426.1 37,564.8
Total equity 3,476.3 3,304.6
Total liabilities & equity 46,902.4 40,869.4
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Executive summary

The Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) Basel 3 guidelines prescribe the capital adequacy framework for banks incorporated in the
Kingdom of Bahrain. Gulf International Bank B.S.C. (“the Bank” or “GIB”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) adopted Basel 3
from 1% January 2015 as required by the CBB.

This Risk Management and Capital Adequacy report encompasses the Pillar 3 disclosure requirements prescribed by the CBB based
on the Basel Committee’s Pillar 3 guidelines. The report contains a description of GIB’s risk management and capital adequacy
policies and practices, including detailed information on the capital adequacy process.

For regulatory reporting purposes, GIB has adopted the standardised approach for credit risk, market risk and operational risk.

The disclosed Tier 1 and total capital adequacy ratios comply with the minimum capital requirements under the CBB'’s Basel 3
framework.

GIB'’s total risk-weighted assets as at 31% December 2024 amounted to US$23,402.5 million (31°* December 2023: US$20,556.3
million). GIB’s credit risk accounted for 91.6% (31 December 2023: 92.4%), market risk accounted for 4.0% (31°* December 2023:
3.6%) and operational risk accounted for 4.4% (31" December 2023: 4.0%) of the total risk-weighted assets. Tier 1 and total
regulatory capital were US$3,176.6 million (31%* December 2023: US$3,316.8 million) and US$3,649.5 million (31° December 2023:
US$3,893.2 million), respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, GIB’s Tier 1 and total capital adequacy ratios were 13.6% (31 December 2023: 16.1%) and 15.6%
(31°*December 2023: 18.9%), respectively. GIB’s internal target is to maintain a Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio above 11.5% and a
total capital adequacy ratio in excess of 15.0%.

GIB views the Pillar 3 disclosures as an important contribution to increased risk transparency within the banking industry, and
particularly important during market conditions characterised by high uncertainty. In this regard, GIB has provided more disclosure
in this report than is required in accordance with the CBB’s Pillar 3 guidelines in order to provide the level of transparency that is
believed to be appropriate and relevant to the Group’s various stakeholders and market participants.

All figures presented in this report are as at 31t December 2024 unless otherwise stated.
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1. The Basel 3 framework

The CBB’s Basel 3 framework is based on three pillars, consistent with the Basel 3 framework developed by the Basel
Committee, as follows:

- Pillar 1: the calculation of the risk-weighted assets (RWAs) and capital requirement.

- Pillar 2: the supervisory review process, including the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP).

- Pillar 3: the disclosure of risk management and capital adequacy information.

1.1 Pillar1

Pillar 1 prescribes the basis for the calculation of the regulatory capital adequacy ratio. Pillar 1 sets out the definition and
calculations of the RWAs, and the derivation of the regulatory capital base. The capital adequacy ratio is calculated by dividing
the regulatory capital base by the total RWAs.

With the introduction of Pillar 2, the CBB implemented a minimum ratio threshold to be determined for each institution
individually, as described in more detail in the Pillar 2 section of this report. As at 31 December 2024, all banks incorporated
in Bahrain are required to maintain a minimum capital adequacy ratio of 12.5% and a Tier 1 ratio of 10.5%.

In the event that the capital adequacy ratio falls below 12.5%, additional prudential reporting requirements apply and a formal
action plan setting out the measures to be taken to restore the ratio above the target level is to be formulated and submitted
to the CBB.

The table below summarises the approaches available for calculating RWAs for each risk type in accordance with the CBB'’s
Basel 3 capital adequacy framework:

Approaches for determining regulatory capital requirements

Credit risk Market risk Operational risk

Standardised approach Standardised approach Standardised approach

The approach applied by GIB for each risk type is as follows:

a)  Creditrisk
For regulatory reporting purposes, GIB applies the standardised approach for credit risk.

The RWAs are determined by multiplying the credit exposure by a risk weight factor dependent on the type of counterparty
and the counterparty’s external rating, where available.

b)  Market risk

For regulatory reporting purposes, GIB applies the standardised approach for market risk.

c)  Operational risk

Under the CBB’s Basel 3 capital adequacy framework, all banks incorporated in Bahrain are required to apply the basic
indicator approach for operational risk unless approval is granted by the CBB to use the standardised approach. The CBB’s
Basel 3 guidelines do not permit the use of the advanced measurement approach (AMA) for operational risk. The standardised
approach for the calculation of regulatory operational risk capital has been approved by the CBB.

Under the standardised approach, the regulatory capital requirement is calculated based on a range of beta coefficients,
ranging from 12% to 18%, applied to the average gross income for the preceding three financial years for each of the eight
Basel predefined business lines.
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1. The Basel 3 framework (continued)

1.2 Pillar 2
Pillar 2 defines the process of supervisory review of an institution’s risk management framework and, ultimately, its capital
adequacy.
Under the CBB’s Pillar 2 guidelines, each bank is to be individually assessed by the CBB and an individual minimum capital
adequacy ratio is to be determined for each bank. All banks incorporated in Bahrain are required to maintain a 12.5% minimum
capital adequacy ratio and a Tier 1 ratio of 10.5%.
Pillar 2 comprises two processes:
- an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), and
- asupervisory review and evaluation process.
The ICAAP incorporates a review and evaluation of risk management and capital relative to the risks to which the bank is
exposed. GIB’s capital assessment has been developed around its economic capital framework which is designed to ensure
that the Group has sufficient capital resources available to meet regulatory and internal capital requirements, even during
periods of economic or financial stress. The capital assessment addresses all components of GIB’s risk management, from the
daily management of more material risks to the strategic capital management of the Group.
The supervisory review and evaluation process represents the CBB’s review of the Group’s capital management and an
assessment of internal controls and corporate governance. The supervisory review and evaluation process is designed to
ensure that institutions identify their material risks and allocate adequate capital and employ sufficient management
processes to support such risks.
The supervisory review and evaluation process also encourages institutions to develop and apply enhanced risk management
techniques for the measurement and monitoring of risks in addition to the credit, market and operational risks addressed in
the core Pillar 1 framework. Other risk types which are not covered by the minimum capital requirements in Pillar 1 include:
- liquidity risk
- concentration risk
- interest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB)
- pension obligation risk
- reputational risk
- information technology risk
- macroeconomic risk
- legalrisk
- strategic risk
These are covered either by capital, or risk management and mitigation processes under Pillar 2.

1.3 Pillar3

Inthe CBB'’s Basel 3 framework, the third pillar prescribes how, when, and at what level information should be disclosed about
an institution’s risk management and capital adequacy practices.

The disclosures comprise detailed qualitative and quantitative information. The purpose of the Pillar 3 disclosure requirements
is to complement the first two pillars and the associated supervisory review process. The disclosures are designed to enable
stakeholders and market participants to assess an institution’s risk appetite and risk exposures and to encourage all banks, via
market pressures, to move toward more advanced forms of risk management.

Under the current regulations, partial disclosure consisting mainly of quantitative analysis is required during half year reporting,
whereas full disclosure is required to coincide with the financial year end reporting.

In this report, GIB’s disclosures are beyond the minimum regulatory requirements and provide disclosure of the risks to which
it is exposed, both on- and off-balance sheet. The disclosures in this report are in addition to the disclosures set out in the
consolidated financial statements presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
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2.1

2.2

Group structure, overall risk and capital management

This section sets out the consolidation principles and the capital base of GIB as calculated in accordance with the Pillar 1
guidelines, and describes the principles and policies applied in the management and control of risk and capital.

Group structure

The Group’s financial statements are prepared and published on a full consolidation basis, with all subsidiaries being
consolidated in accordance with IFRS. For capital adequacy purposes, all subsidiaries are included within the Gulf International
Bank B.S.C. Group structure. However, the CBB’s capital adequacy methodology accommodates both normal and aggregation
forms of consolidation.

Under the CBB capital adequacy framework, subsidiaries reporting under a Basel 3 framework in other regulatory jurisdictions
may, at the bank’s discretion, be consolidated based on that jurisdiction’s Basel 3 framework, rather than based on the CBB'’s
guidelines. Under this aggregation consolidation methodology, and risk-weighted assets of subsidiaries are consolidated with
those of the rest of the Group based on the guidelines of their respective regulator to determine the Group’s total capital
adequacy ratio.

GIB’s subsidiary, Gulf International Bank — Saudi Arabia (GIBKSA), is regulated by the Saudi Central Bank (SAMA) and has
calculated its risk-weighted assets in accordance with SAMA’s guidelines which consolidates the balances of GIB Capital
(regulated by Capital Market Authority).

GIB’s subsidiary, Gulf International Bank (UK) Limited (GIBUK), is regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and the
Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) of the United Kingdom and has calculated its risk-weighted assets in accordance with
the PRA’s guidelines.

The principal subsidiaries and basis of consolidation for capital adequacy purposes are as follows:

Subsidiary Domicile Ownership Consolidation basis
Gulf International Bank — Saudi Arabia Saudi Arabia 50% Aggregation

Gulf International Bank (UK) Limited United Kingdom 100% Aggregation

GIB Markets Limited Cayman Islands 100% Full Consolidation

No investments in subsidiaries are treated as a deduction from the Group’s regulatory capital.

Risk and capital management

GIB maintains a prudent and disciplined approach to risk taking by upholding a comprehensive set of risk management policies,
processes, and limits, employing professionally qualified people with the appropriate skills, investing in technology and training,
and actively promoting a culture of sound risk management at all levels. A key tenet of this culture is the clear segregation
of duties and reporting lines between personnel transacting business and personnel processing that business. The Group’s
risk management is underpinned by its ability to identify, measure, aggregate and manage the different types of risk it faces.

The Board of Directors has created from among its members a Board Risk Policy Committee to review the Group’s risk-
taking activities and report to the Board in this regard. The Board has the ultimate responsibility for setting the overall risk
parameters and tolerances within which the Group conducts its activities, including responsibility for setting the capital ratio
targets. The Board reviews the Group’s overall risk profile and significant risk exposures as well as the Group’s major risk
policies, processes and controls.

The Management Committee, chaired by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), has the primary responsibility for sanctioning risk-
taking policies and activities within the tolerances defined by the Board. The Group Risk Committee assists the Management
Committee in performing its risk related functions.

The Group Risk Committee, under the management of the Chief Risk Officer (CRO) and comprising the Group’s most senior
risk professionals, provides a forum for the review and approval of new products, risk measurement methodologies and risk
control processes. The Group Risk Committee also reviews all risk policies and limits that require approval by the Management
Committee. The Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO), chaired by the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), provides a forum for the
review of asset and liability activities within GIB. It co-ordinates the asset and liability functions and serves as a link between
the funding sources and usage in the different business areas.
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2.  Group structure, overall risk and capital management (continued)
2.2 Risk and capital management (continued)
From a control perspective, the process of risk management is facilitated through a set of independent functions, which
report directly to senior management. These functions include Credit Risk, Market Risk, Operational Risk, Financial Controland
Internal Audit. This multi-faceted approach aids the effective management of risk by identifying, measuring and monitoring
risks from a variety of perspectives.
Internal Audit is responsible for carrying out a risk-based programme of work designed to provide assurance that assets are
being safeguarded. This involves ensuring that controls are in place and working effectively in accordance with Group policies
and procedures as well as with laws and regulations. The work carried out by Internal Audit includes providing assurance on
the effectiveness of the risk management functions, as well as that of controls operated by the business units. The Board Audit
Committee approves the annual audit plan and also receives regular reports of the results of audit work.
The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to
sustain future business development. The Group manages its capital structure and adjusts the structure taking account of
changes in economic conditions and strategic business plans. The capital structure may be adjusted through the dividend
pay-out or the issue of new shares.
The CFO is responsible for the capital planning process. Capital planning includes capital adequacy reporting and the Internal
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP). The CFO is also responsible for the balance sheet management framework.
The governance structure for risk and capital management is set out in the table below:
Board of Directors
Board Audit Committee Board Risk Policy Committee
Chief Executive Officer
Management Committee Group Risk Committee Assets and Liabilities Committee
(Chairman: CEO) (Chairman: CRO) (Chairman: CFO)
The risk, liquidity and capital management responsibilities are set out in the table below:
Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer Chief Risk Officer
(CFO) (CRO)
Balance sheet management framework Risk management framework and policies
Capital management framework Group credit control
Credit risk
Market risk
Operational risk
Liquidity risk
2.3 Risktypes
The major risks associated with the Group’s business activities are credit, market, operational and liquidity risk. These risks
together with a commentary on the way in which the risks are managed and controlled are set out in the following sections,
based on the Basel 3 Pillar 1 which the risks are addressed.
2.4 RiskinPillar 1

Pillar 1, which forms the basis for the calculation of the regulatory capital requirement, addresses three specific risk types:
credit, market and operational risk.
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Group structure, overall risk and capital management (continued)

Risk in Pillar 1 (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer, counterparty or an issuer of securities or other financial instruments fails to perform
under its contractual payment obligations thus causing the Group to suffer a loss in terms of cash flow or market value. Credit
risk is the predominant risk type faced by the Group in its banking, investment and treasury activities, both on- and off-balance
sheet. Where appropriate, the Group seeks to minimise its credit exposure using a variety of techniques including, but not
limited to, the following:

- entering netting agreements with counterparties that permit the offsetting of receivables and payables
- obtaining collateral

- seeking third party guarantees of the counterparty’s obligations

- imposing restrictions and covenants on borrowers

Credit risk is actively managed and rigorously monitored in accordance with well-defined credit policies and procedures. Prior
to the approval of a credit proposal, a detailed credit risk assessment is undertaken which includes an analysis of the obligor’s
financial condition, market position, business environment and quality of management. The risk assessment generates an
internal credit risk rating for each counterparty, which affects the credit approval decision and the terms and conditions of the
transaction. For cross-border transactions, an analysis of country risk is also conducted. The credit decision for an individual
counterparty is based on the aggregate Group exposure to that counterparty and all its related entities. Groupwide credit
limit setting and approval authorisation requirements are conducted within Board approved guidelines, and the measurement,
monitoring and control of credit exposures are done on a Groupwide basis in a consistent manner. Overall exposures are
evaluated to ensure broad diversification of credit risk. Potential concentration risks by product, industry, single obligor, credit
risk rating and geography are regularly assessed with a view to improving overall portfolio diversification. Established limits and
actual levels of exposure are regularly reviewed by the Chief Risk Officer (CRO), Chief Credit Officer (CCO) and other members
of senior management. All credit exposures are reviewed at least once a year. Credit policies and procedures are designed to
identify, at an early stage, exposures which require more detailed monitoring and review. The credit risk associated with foreign
exchange and derivative instruments is assessed in a manner similar to that associated with on-balance sheet activities.
The Group principally utilises derivative transactions to facilitate customer transactions and for the management of interest
and foreign exchange risks associated with the Group’s longer-term lending, borrowing and investment activities. Unlike
on-balance sheet products, where the principal amount and interest generally represent the maximum credit exposure, the
notional amount relating to a foreign exchange or derivative transaction typically exceeds the credit exposure by a substantial
margin. The measure of credit exposure for foreign exchange and derivative instruments is therefore more appropriately
considered to be the replacement cost at current market rates plus an add-on amount commensurate with the position’s size,
volatility and remaining life. Derivative contracts may also carry legal risk; the Group seeks to minimise these risks by the use
of standard contract agreements.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss of value of a financial instrument or a portfolio of financial instruments as a result of adverse
changes in market prices and rates, and market conditions such as liquidity. Market risk arises from the Group’s trading, asset
and liability management, and investment activities.

The categories of market risk to which the Group is exposed are as follows:

Interest rate risk results from exposure to changes in the level, slope, curvature and volatility of interest rates and credit
spreads. The credit spread risk is the risk that the interest yield for a security will increase, with a reduction in the security
price, relative to benchmark yields as a result of the general market movements for that rating and class of security. Interest
rate risk is the principal market risk faced by the Group and arises from the Group’s investment activities in debt securities,
asset and liability management, and the trading of debt and off-balance sheet derivative instruments.

Foreign exchange risk results from exposure to changes in the price and volatility of currency spot and forward rates. The
principal foreign exchange risk arises from the Group’s foreign exchange forward and derivative trading activities.

Equity risk arises from exposures to changes in the price and volatility of individual equities or equity indices.

The Group seeks to manage exposure to market risk through the diversification of exposures across dissimilar markets and the
establishment of hedges in related securities or off-balance sheet derivative instruments. To manage the Group’s exposures,
in addition to the exercise of business judgement and management experience, the Group utilises limit structures including
those relating to positions, portfolios, maturities and maximum allowable losses.
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a)

Group structure, overall risk and capital management (continued)

Risk in Pillar 1 (continued)

Market risk (continued)

The Group is exposed to equity risk in its trading position and investment portfolio, primarily in its core international and GCC

markets.

Equity position Amount
US$ millions

Quoted equities 320.7

Unquoted equities 16.0
336.7

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external
events, whether intentional, unintentional or natural. It is an inherent risk faced by all businesses and covers a large number of
potential operational risk events including business interruption and systems failures, internal and external fraud, employment
practices and workplace safety, customer and business practices, transaction execution and process management, and
damage to physical assets.

Operational risk is a distinct risk category which the Group manages within acceptable levels through sound operational risk
management practices that are part of the day-to-day responsibilities of management at all levels. Whilst operational risk
cannot be eliminated in its entirety, the Group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that a strong control infrastructure is in
place throughout the organisation.

The objective in managing operational risk is to ensure control of the Group’s resources by protecting the assets of the
Group and minimising the potential for financial loss. The Group’s risk management approach involves identifying, assessing,
managing, mitigating, monitoring and measuring the risks associated with all areas of the Group. Control assessments are
performed on all services of the Group with the participation of representatives from the relevant businesses, internal audit,
legal and the risk and finance departments. Various policies, procedures and processes are used to manage operational risk
and include effective staff training, appropriate controls to safeguard assets and records, regular reconciliation of accounts
and transactions, appropriate budgeting, target setting and performance review, compliance to regulations, close monitoring
of risk limits, segregation of duties, and financial management and reporting. In addition, policies have been put in place to
manage other control mitigation strategies for business continuity planning, insurance and legal risk (which includes regular
reporting to management on legal matters).

Qualitative and quantitative methodologies and tools are used to identify and assess operational risk and to provide
management with information for determining appropriate mitigating factors. These tools include a database of operational
risk events categorised according to business lines and operational risk event types; a record of key risk indicators, which can
provide an early warning of possible risk; and a risk and control assessment process to analyse business activities and identify
operational risks related to those activities. The management of operational risk has a key objective of minimising the impact
of losses suffered in the normal course of business (expected losses) and to avoid or reduce the likelihood of suffering a large
extreme (unexpected) loss. There is a dedicated Operational Risk function for the Group which reports into the Operational
Risk Management Committee and Group Risk Committee. The Board meets on a quarterly basis and is updated on all relevant
aspects of the business including operational risk management matters. High impact risks and issues of critical importance
are reported to the Board.

Risk in Pillar 2

Other risk types are measured and assessed in Pillar 2. GIB measures and manages these risk types although they are not
included in the calculation of the regulatory capital adequacy ratio. Most of the Pillar 2 risks are included in GIB’s calculation
of internal economic capital. Pillar 2 risk types include liquidity risk, interest rate risk in the banking book, concentration risk,
pension obligation risk, and reputational risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that sufficient funds are not available to meet the Group’s financial obligations on a punctual basis as
they fall due. The risk arises from the timing differences between the maturity profiles of the Group’s assets and liabilities. It
includes the risk of losses arising from the following:

- forced sale of assets at below normal market prices
- raising of deposits or borrowing funds at excessive rates
- the investment of surplus funds at below market rates



117

GIB B.S.C. Annual Report 2024 Risk Management and Capital Adequacy Report

Risk Management and Capital Adequacy Report

31t December 2024

2.5

a)

b)

©)

d)

e)

Group structure, overall risk and capital management (continued)
Risk in Pillar 2 (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity management policies are designed to ensure that funds are available at all times to meet the funding requirements of
the Group, even in adverse conditions. In normal conditions, the objective is to ensure that there are sufficient funds available
not only to meet current financial commitments but also to facilitate business expansion. These objectives are met through
the application of prudent liquidity controls. These controls provide access to funds without undue exposure to increased
costs from the liquidation of assets or the aggressive bidding for deposits.

The Group’s liquidity controls ensure that, over the short-term, the future profile of cash flows from maturing assets is
adequately matched to the maturity of liabilities. Liquidity controls also provide for the maintenance of a stock of liquid and
readily realisable assets and a diversified deposit base in terms of both maturities and range of depositors.

The management of liquidity and funding is primarily conducted in the Group’s individual geographic entities within approved
limits. The limits ensure that contractual net cash flows occurring over the following 30-day period do not exceed the eligible
stock of available liquid resources.

It is the Group’s general policy that each geographic entity should be self-sufficient in relation to funding its own operations.

The Group’s liquidity management policies include the following:

- the monitoring of (i) future contractual cash flows against approved limits, and (ii) the level of liquid resources available in
a stress event

- the monitoring of balance sheet liquidity ratios

- the monitoring of the sources of funding in order to ensure that funding is derived from a diversified range of sources
- the monitoring of depositor concentrations in order to avoid undue reliance on individual depositors

- the maintenance of a satisfactory level of term financing; and

- the maintenance of liquidity and funding contingency plans. These plans identify early indicators of stress conditions and
prescribe the actions to be taken in the event of a systemic or other crisis, while minimising adverse long-term implications
for the Group’s business activities.

Interest rate risk in the banking book

Structural interest rate risk arises in the Group’s core balance sheet as a result of mismatches in the repricing of interest rate
sensitive financial assets and liabilities. The associated interest rate risk is managed through the use of models to evaluate the
sensitivity of earnings to movements in interest rates. Interest rate risk in the banking book is captured in GIB’s Pillar 2 capital
framework by gauging the impact of stress tests on the Group’s interest rate exposure in the banking book.

Concentration risk

Concentration risk is the risk related to the degree of diversification in the credit portfolio, i.e. the risk inherent in doing business
with large customers or not being equally exposed across industries and regions.

Concentration risk is captured in GIB’s Pillar 2 capital framework which considers single-name concentrations and sector
concentrations in the credit portfolio.

Potential concentration risks by product, single obligor, and geography are regularly assessed with a view to improving overall
portfolio diversification. Established limits and actual levels of exposure are regularly reviewed by senior management and the
Board of Directors.

Pension obligation risk

Pension obligation risk is the risk that there may be a shortfall with respect to pension benefits due to employees/former
employees within the funded defined benefit scheme of the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary.

As part of GIB’s ICAAP framework, an adverse scenario is applied to the scheme’s assets and liabilities on a level of severity
expected no more than once in every 200 years, i.e.,, @2 99.5% one-year confidence level.

Reputational risk

Reputational risk is the risk of losses resulting from adverse perceptions about the Group, its brand and franchise by its various
stakeholders that is caused by a variety of internal and external factors. Preventive measures, including controls and processes
have been deployed to manage reputational risk. These include a robust and comprehensive governance structure, which is
based on set of well-defined policies and procedures.

The Group uses a reputational risk scorecard to quantify the amount of capital required for reputational risk under the ICAAP
framework.
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2.6

Group structure, overall risk and capital management (continued)
Risk in Pillar 2 (continued)
Information Technology (IT) risk

Technology continues to play a critical role in the Bank’s operations and in the fulfilment of its strategic objectives. The Group
has in place a sound IT and Information Security governance framework that aligns its IT strategy and Information & Cyber
Security Strategy with its overall business objectives.

Macroeconomic risk

Macroeconomic risk relates to the risk of increasing stress levels in the principal economies in which the Group operates.
These risks can be triggered by political uncertainties, social unrests, high/low commodity prices, excessive leverage in the
financial system or an uncompetitive business environment. Due to the systemic nature of these macroeconomic triggers
there will be an adverse impact on the Group’s profitability and capital positions and the extent of loss would depend on the
severity of the stress event.

Macroeconomic risk is captured in GIB’s ICAAP framework through the use of stressed macroeconomic forecast to gauge the
impact of potential losses that the Group could incur.

Legal risk

In the ordinary course of its business, as a participant in the financial services industry, the Group may pursue litigation claims
against third parties and may also have litigation claims and/or regulatory proceedings filed against it. The Bank has an in-
house legal department comprising of qualified legal professionals. The department has put in place adequate policies &
procedures and uses assistance of professional legal firms on need basis, to ensure effective and efficient management of
legal risk.

Strategic risk

Strategic risk refers to the risk to earnings and profitability arising from strategic decisions, changes in the business conditions
and improper implementation of decisions. Thus, a strategic risk arises due to adopting wrong strategies and choices that can
cause loss to the Group in the form of a reduction in shareholder value and loss of earnings.

Strategic risk is identified, managed, mitigated and monitored jointly by the business (as the 1°t line of defence) and the
Economics and Strategy Management Unit. The Economics and Strategy Management Unit is responsible for the monitoring
and reporting of the Group’s strategic initiatives and provides the Management Committee, Board Risk Policy Committee
(BRPC), and the Board of Directors a regular update on all the Group’s strategic initiatives, including the strategic risks facing
the Group. The Management Committee, the BRPC, and the Board review the strategic risks of the Group and ensure that
adequate mitigating strategies are in place for the Group’s strategic initiatives to be successfully implemented.

Strategic risk is identified, managed, mitigated and monitored jointly by the business (as the 1 line of defence) and the Financial
Planning Unit. A strategy refresh is currently underway, and the Financial Planning Unit will be responsible for monitoring
and reporting on the Group’s and divisional strategic initiatives and providing the Management Committee and Board with
regular updates on strategic risks facing the Group. The Management Committee and Board will review the strategic risks of
the Group and ensure that adequate mitigating strategies are in place for the Group’s strategic initiatives to be successfully
implemented.

Monitoring and reporting

The monitoring and reporting to risk is conducted on a daily basis for market and liquidity risk, and on a monthly or quarterly
basis for credit and operational risk.

Risk reporting is regularly made to senior management and the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors receives internal risk
reports covering market, credit, operational and liquidity risks.

Capital management, including regulatory and internal economic capital ratios, is reported to senior management and the
Board of Directors on a monthly basis.
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3. Regulatory capital requirements and the capital base
This section describes the Group’s regulatory capital requirements and capital base.
The composition of the total regulatory capital requirement was as follows:
4.3%
4.8%

@ Credit risk capital

© Operational risk capital

@ Market risk capital

90.9%
Group’s total capitaladequacy ratio as at 31 December 2024 was 15.6% compared with the minimum regulatory requirement
of 12.5%. The Tier 1 ratio was 13.6% for the Group. The composition of the total regulatory capital requirement was as follows:
Risk Weighted Assets (RWA) Amount
US$ millions
Credit Risk 21,4299
Market Risk 9411
Operational Risk 1,031.5
Total risk-weighted exposure 23,402.5
Tier 1 ratio 13.6%
Capital adequacy ratio 15.6%
3.1 Capital requirements for credit risk

For regulatory reporting purposes, GIB calculates the capital requirements for credit risk based on the standardised approach.
Under the standardised approach, on and off-balance sheet credit exposures are assigned to exposure categories based
on the type of counterparty or underlying exposure. The exposure categories are referred to in the CBB’s Basel 3 capital
adequacy framework as standard portfolios. The primary standard portfolios are claims on sovereigns, claims on banks and
claims on corporates. Following the assignment of exposures to the relevant standard portfolios, the RWAs are derived
based on prescribed risk-weightings. Under the standardised approach, the risk-weightings are provided by the CBB and are
determined based on the counterparty’s external credit rating. The external credit ratings are derived from eligible external
rating agencies approved by the CBB. GIB uses ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch.

An overview of the exposures, RWAs and capital requirements for credit risk analysed by standard portfolio is presented in
the table below:

Rated Unrated Total Average Capital

exposure exposure exposure risk weight RWA  requirement

US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions % US$ millions  US$ millions

Sovereigns 16,739.9 - 16,739.9 3.3% 545.2 68.2
PSEs 710.9 13.6 7245 40.0% 289.6 36.2
Banks 11,369.4 55.6 11,425.0 24.9% 2,840.5 355.1
Corporates 3,931.5 15,443.4 19,374.9 84.5% 16,379.1 2,047.4
Equities 247.0 20.1 267.1 110.3% 294.7 36.8
Past due loans 0.7 47.9 48.6 79.0% 384 4.8
Other assets 94.3 1,029.7 1,124.0 92.7% 1,042.3 130.3
33,093.7 16,610.3 49,704.0 43.1% 21,429.8 2,678.7

Exposures are stated after taking account of credit risk mitigants where applicable. The treatment of credit risk mitigation is
explained in more detail in section 4.4(g) of this report.

The definitions of each standard portfolio and the related RWA requirements are set out in section 4 of this report.
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3. Regulatory capital requirements and the capital base (continued)
3.2 Capital requirements for market risk
The Group computes the regulatory capital for general market risk and specific market risk based on the standardised
approach. The RWAs and capital requirements for market risk are presented in the table below:
Capital Capital
Capital  requirement requirement -
RWA requirement minimum* maximum*
US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions
Interest rate risk 21 0.3 0.2 1.4
Equities 867.7 108.5 89.3 108.5
Foreign exchange risk 71.3 8.9 1.0 40.1
Total Risk Weighted Exposure for Market Risk 941.1 117.7 90.5 150.0
*The information in these columns shows the minimum and maximum capital charge of each of the market risk categories
during the year ended 31 December 2024.
3.3 Sensitivity analysis — interest rate risk
The impact of a 200bps interest rate shock on the value of assets, liabilities and equity as of 31 December 2024 is presented
in the table below:
Assets Liabilities Equity
US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions
At 200bps - increase (+) (286.2) 133.2 (153.1)
At 200bps - decrease (-) 286.2 (133.2) 153.1
3.4 Capital requirements for operational risk
Forregulatory reporting purposes, the capital requirement for operationalrisk is calculated in accordance with the standardised
approach. Under this approach, the Group’s average gross income over the preceding three financial years is multiplied by a
range of beta coefficients. The beta coefficients are determined based on the business line generating the gross income and
are prescribed in the Basel 3 capital adequacy framework. The capital requirement for operational risk at 31 December 2024
amounted to US$128.9 million.
3.5 Capital base
The Group’s regulatory capital base and risk weighted assets are set out in the table below:
Total
US$ millions
Regulatory capital base
Tier 1 capital:
CET1 3,074.6
AT 1 102.0
Tier 1 capital 3,176.6
Tier 2 capital 472.9
Total regulatory capital base 3,649.5
Risk-weighted exposure
Credit risk-weighted exposure 21,4299
Market risk-weighted exposure 941.1
Operational risk-weighted exposure 10315
Total risk-weighted exposure 23,402.5
Tier 1 risk asset ratio 13.6%
Total risk asset ratio 15.6%

Common equity Tier 1 (CET 1) and Tier 1 capital is defined as capital of the same or close to the character of paid-up capital
and comprises share capital, share premium, retained earnings and eligible reserves. Eligible reserves exclude revaluation gains
and losses arising on the remeasurement to fair value of derivative cash flow hedging transactions, although include unrealised
gains and losses arising on the remeasurement to fair value of equity investment securities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI). Regulatory capital deductions are applied to Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital with respect to
investment exposures for entities where the Group does not own more than 10% of the issued share capital of the entity, and
to Tier 1 capital to exclude any outstanding cash flow hedge reserves.
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3.5

4.1

Regulatory capital requirements and the capital base (continued)

Capital base (continued)

The issued and paid-up share capital of the bank is US$2,000 million at 31t December 2024, comprising 2,000 million shares
of US$1 each.

Tier 2 capital, comprising eligible subordinated term debt and expected credit losses Stage 1 and Stage 2 impairment
provisions, after applicable haircuts and ceiling limitations.

The CBB applies various limits to elements of the regulatory capital base. The amount of innovative Tier 1 securities cannot
exceed 15% of total Tier 1 capital; qualifying Tier 2 capital cannot exceed Tier 1 capital; and qualifying subordinated term
finance cannot exceed 50% of Tier 1 capital. There are also restrictions on the amount of collective impairment provisions that
may be included as part of Tier 2 capital.

There are no impediments on the transfer of funds or regulatory capital within the Group other than restrictions over transfers
of statutory deposits with central banks and safeguards to ensure minimum regulatory capital requirements are met for
subsidiary companies.

Credit risk — Pillar 3 disclosures

This section describes the Group’s exposure to credit risk and provides detailed disclosures on credit risk in accordance with
the CBB’s Basel 3 framework in relation to Pillar 3 disclosure requirements.

Definition of exposure classes

GIB has a diversified on- and off-balance sheet credit portfolio, the exposures of which are divided into the counterparty
exposure classes defined by the CBB’s Basel 3 capital adequacy framework for the standardised approach for credit risk.
A high-level description of the counterparty exposure classes, referred to as standard portfolios in the CBB’s Basel 3 capital
adequacy framework, and the generic treatments, i.e. the risk weights to be used to derive the RWAs, are as follows:

Sovereigns portfolio

The sovereigns portfolio comprises exposures to governments and their respective central banks. The risk weights are 0% for
exposures in the relevant domestic currency, or in any currency for exposures to GCC governments. Foreign currency claims
on other sovereigns are risk-weighted based on their external credit ratings.

Certain multilateral development banks as determined by the CBB may be included in the sovereigns portfolio and treated as
exposures with a 0% risk-weighting.

PSE portfolio

Public sector entities (PSEs) are risk-weighted according to their external ratings with the exception of Bahrain PSEs, and
domestic currency claims on other PSEs which are assigned a 0% risk weight by their respective country regulator.

Banks portfolio

Claims on banks are risk-weighted based on their external credit ratings. A preferential risk weight treatment is available for
qualifying short-term exposures. Short-term exposures are defined as exposures with an original tenor of three months or less.

The Banks portfolio also includes claims on investment firms, which are risk-weighted based on their external credit ratings
although without any option for preferential treatment for short-term exposures. A regulatory deduction is applied to
investment exposures for entities where the Group does not own more than 10% of the issued share capital of the bank.

Corporates portfolio

Claims on corporates are risk-weighted based on their external credit ratings. A 100% risk weight is assigned to unrated
corporate exposures. A preferential risk weight treatment is available for certain corporates owned by the Government of
Bahrain, as determined by the CBB, which are assigned a 0% risk weight.

Equities portfolio

The equities portfolio comprises equity investments in the banking book, i.e. in the investment securities portfolio and non-
qualifying equities and funds in the trading portfolio. The credit (specific) risk for qualifying equities in the trading book is
included in market risk RWAs for regulatory capital adequacy calculation purposes. A regulatory deduction is applied to
investment exposures for entities where the Group does not own more than 10% of the issued share capital of the entity.

A 100% risk weight is assigned to listed equities and funds. Unlisted equities and funds are risk-weighted at 150%. Investments
in rated funds are risk-weighted according to their external credit rating.

In addition to the standard portfolios, other exposures are assigned to the following exposure classes:
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4.3

4.4

a)

Credit risk - Pillar 3 disclosures (continued)
Definition of exposure classes (continued)

Past due exposures

All past due loan exposures, irrespective of the categorisation of the exposure if it were performing, are classified separately
under the past due exposures asset class. A risk-weighting of either 100% or 150% is applied depending on the level of
provision maintained against the loan.

Other assets and holdings of securitisation tranches

Cash balances are risk-weighted at 0%, other assets are risk-weighted at 100%. A credit valuation adjustment (CVA) is
applied to applicable derivative exposures.

Securitisation tranches are risk-weighted based on their external credit ratings and tenor. Risk-weightings range from 20%
to 1250%.

External rating agencies

GIB uses ratings issued by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch to derive the risk-weightings under the CBB’s Basel 3 capital
adequacy framework. Where ratings vary between rating agencies, the highest rating from the lowest two ratings is used to
derive the risk-weightings for regulatory capital adequacy purposes.

Credit risk presentation under Basel 3

The credit risk exposures presented in this report may differ from the credit risk exposures reported in the consolidated
financial statements. Differences arise due to the application of different methodologies, as illustrated below:

- Under the CBB’s Basel 3 framework, off-balance sheet exposures are converted into credit exposure equivalents by
applying a credit conversion factor (CCF). The off-balance sheet exposure is multiplied by the relevant CCF applicable
to the off-balance sheet exposure category. Subsequently, the exposure is treated in accordance with the standard
portfolios referred to in section 4.1 of this report in the same manner as on-balance sheet exposures.

- Credit risk exposure reporting under Pillar 3 is frequently reported by standard portfolios based on the type of
counterparty. The financial statement presentation is based on asset class rather than the relevant counterparty. For
example, a loan to a bank would be classified in the Banks standard portfolio under the capital adequacy framework
although is classified in loans and advances in the consolidated financial statements.

- Certain eligible collateral is applied to reduce exposure under the Basel 3 capital adequacy framework, whereas no such
collateral netting is applicable in the consolidated financial statements.

- Based on the CBB’s Basel 3 guidelines, certain exposures are either included in, or deducted from, regulatory capital rather
than treated as an asset as in the consolidated financial statements.

- Under the CBB'’s Basel 3 capital adequacy framework, external rating agency ratings are based on the highest rating from
the lowest two ratings, while for internal credit risk management purposes the Group uses the lowest rating.

Credit exposure

Gross credit exposure

The gross and average gross exposure to credit risk before applying collateral, guarantees, and other credit enhancements
was as follows:

Gross credit Average gross

exposure credit exposure
US$ millions US$ millions
Balance sheet items:

Cash and other liquid assets (including cash balances) 9,882.6 16,497.4
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 975.4 1,130.0
Placements 7,266.6 6,234.8
Trading securities 3284 304.8
Investment securities 7,279.4 7,188.0
Loans and advances 15,402.3 13,820.5
Accrued interest and fees receivable 431.8 421.2
Total on-balance sheet credit exposure 41,566.5 45,596.7

Off-balance sheet items:
Credit-related contingent items 8,616.1 8,344.0
Derivative and foreign exchange instruments 1,202.5 1,113.7
Total off-balance sheet credit exposure 9,818.6 9,457.7
Total gross credit exposure 51,385.1 55,054.4

The average gross credit exposure is based on monthly averages during the year ended 31°* December 2024.
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4. Creditrisk - Pillar 3 disclosures (continued)

4.4 Credit exposure (continued)
a)  Gross credit exposure (continued)

The gross credit exposure for derivative and foreign exchange instruments is the replacement cost (current exposure)
representing the cost of replacing the contracts at current market rates should the counterparty default prior to the settlement
date. The gross credit exposure reported in the table above does not include potential future exposure. Further details on the
counterparty credit risk relating to off-balance sheet exposures are set out in section 7.3(a) of this report.

b)  Credit exposure by geography

The classification of credit exposure by geography, based on the location of the counterparty, was as follows:

Placements,
reverse repos Accrued
& other liquid Loans and interest-fees  Off-balance
assets Securities advances receivable  sheetitems Total
US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions
GCC 4,818.2 57215 14,3215 252.8 7,844.6 32,958.6
Europe 8,832.3 234.8 510.5 150.3 968.3 10,696.2
North America 3,785.7 854.2 2334 16.2 799.3 5,688.8
Asia 676.5 794.2 - 9.9 219 1,502.5
MENA (excluding GCC) 11.9 3.1 336.9 2.6 1845 539.0
18,124.6 7,607.8 15,402.3 431.8 9,818.6 51,385.1
The MENA region comprises the Middle East and North Africa.
c)  Credit exposure by industrial sector
The classification of credit exposure by industrial sector was as follows:
Placements,
reverse repos Accrued
& other liquid Loans and interest-fees  Off-balance
assets Securities advances receivable  sheetitems Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Government 10,504.9 6,294.0 1,585.4 96.4 - 18,480.7
Financial 7,619.7 537.6 2,815.6 226.4 2,012.0 13,2113
Trading and services - - 2,125.9 279 1,428.4 3,582.2
Energy, oil and petrochemical - 1359 1,742.6 17.4 1,090.6 2,986.5
Manufacturing - - 1,406.5 14.7 1,122.0 2,543.2
Utilities - 24.7 884.0 7.2 3283 1,244.2
Construction and Engineering - - 769.6 59 2,669.9 3,445.4
Transportation - 13.3 1,138.4 58 372.6 1,530.1
Real estate - 55.9 832.2 12.0 117.4 1,017.5
Agriculture and mining - - 1279 1.8 3634 493.1
Retail - - 273.2 0.5 - 2737
I;Ce';gﬁfr’ngz 'm”;aeg;ana”d - 197.4 344.4 5.0 68.7 615.5
Equity and trading securities - 349.0 - - - 349.0
Other - - 1,356.8 10.8 2453 1,612.9
18,124.6 7,607.8 15,402.3 431.8 9,818.6 51,385.1
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4. Creditrisk - Pillar 3 disclosures (continued)

4.4 Credit exposure (continued)

d)  Credit exposure by internal rating

The credit risk profile based on internal credit ratings and presented based on the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) 9 - Financial Instruments classification was as follows:

Placements,
reverse repos Accrued
& other liquid Loans and interest-fees Off-balance

assets Securities advances receivable sheet items Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions

Stage 1
Rating grades 1 to 4- 17,874.2 6,446.4 9,345.2 360.8 5,886.4 39,913.0
Rating grades 5+ to 5- 241.7 812.4 4,670.3 48.8 1,403.1 7,176.3
Rating grades 6+ to 6- 8.7 - 564.1 6.3 84.6 663.7
Carrying amount (net) 18,124.6 7,258.8 14,579.6 4159 7,374.1 47,753.0

Stage 2
Rating grades 1 to 4- - - 41.7 1.9 46.0 89.6
Rating grades 5+ to 5- - - 350.8 5.3 532.5 888.6
Rating grades 6+ to 6- - . 211.8 2.6 45.2 259.6
Rating grade 7 - - 169.6 6.1 25.2 200.9
Carrying amount (net) - - 7739 159 648.9 1,438.7

Stage 3
Rating grade 8 - - 215 - 9.7 312
Rating grade 9 - - 25.0 - 17.3 42.3
Rating grade 10 - - 2.3 - 116 139
Carrying amount (net) - - 48.8 - 38.6 87.4

Other credit risk exposures

Equity and trading securities - 349.0 - - - 349.0
Performance bonds - - - - 1,757.0 1,757.0
Carrying amount - 349.0 - - 1,757.0 2,106.0
18,124.6 7,607.8 15,402.3 431.8 9,818.6 51,385.1

The above on-balance sheet exposures are reported net of the following provisions for expected credit losses, whereas
provisions for off-balance sheet items are recorded in other liabilities

Stage 1 (0.5) (3.6) (80.4) - (9.4) (93.9)
Stage 2 - - (102.5) - (3.8) (106.3)
Stage 3 - - (118.7) - (39.9) (158.6)

(0.5) (3.6) (301.6) - (53.1) (358.8)

Following the adoption of IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments, the Group has classified credit exposures in the following prescribed

stages:

- Stage 1: for financial instruments where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and
that are not credit-impaired on origination, the Group recognises an allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses.

- Stage 2: for financial instruments where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, but they
are not credit-impaired, the Group recognises an allowance for the lifetime expected credit losses.

- Stage 3: for credit-impaired financial instruments, the Group recognises the lifetime expected credit losses.

The analysis is presented prior to the application of credit risk mitigation techniques.

The Group’s internal credit rating system is commented on in more detail in section 4.9 of this report.
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4.4

e)

f)

g)

Credit risk - Pillar 3 disclosures (continued)
Credit exposure (continued)
Credit exposure by maturity

The maturity profile of funded credit exposures based on contractual maturity dates was as follows:

Placements,
reverse repos Accrued
& other liquid Loans and interest-fees  Off-balance
assets Securities advances receivable  sheet items Total
US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Within 3 months 14,134.8 861.5 6,071.6 238.0 4,330.0 25,6359
4 months to 1 year 3,172.9 725.0 3,064.7 193.8 2,634.0 9,790.4
Years2to 5 314.2 3,309.2 4,790.1 - 2,119.2 10,532.7
Years 6 to 10 - 2,287.5 1,179.0 - 687.3 4,153.8
Years 11 to 20 - 75.6 2475 - 41.3 364.4
Over 20 years and undated 502.7 349.0 49.4 - 6.8 907.9
18,124.6 7,607.8 15,402.3 431.8 9,818.6 51,385.1

Securities exposure over 20 years and undated comprises trading securities and equity investment securities.

Equities held in the banking book

Equity investments included in investment securities in the consolidated balance sheet are included in the equities’ standard
portfolio in the Pillar 1 credit risk capital adequacy framework. Such equity investment securities principally comprise
investments of a private equity nature and investments in funds managed by specialist managers.

At 31% December 2024, equity investment securities held in the banking book amounted to US$20.6 million, of which US$5.0
million comprised managed funds.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, nil gains were realised on equity investments. At 31 December 2024, net
unrealised losses on equity investment securities amounted to US$13.5 million.

Credit risk mitigation

The credit exposure information presented in section 4 of this report represents gross exposures prior to the application of any
credit risk mitigants. Collateral items and guarantees which can be used for credit risk mitigation under the capital adequacy
framework are referred to as eligible collateral. Only certain types of collateral and some issuers of guarantees are eligible
for preferential risk weights for regulatory capital adequacy purposes. Furthermore, the collateral management process and
the terms in the collateral agreements have to fulfil the CBB’s prescribed minimum requirements (such as procedures for the
monitoring of market values, insurance and legal certainty) set out in their capital adequacy regulations.

The reduction of the capital requirement attributable to credit risk mitigation is calculated in different ways, depending on the
type of credit risk mitigation, as follows:

- Adjusted exposure amount: GIB uses the comprehensive method for financial collateral such as cash, bonds and shares.
The exposure amount is adjusted with regard to the financial collateral. The size of the adjustment depends on the
volatility of the collateral and the exposure. GIB uses volatility adjustments specified by the CBB, known as supervisory
haircuts, to reduce the benefit of collateral and to increase the magnitude of the exposure.

- Substitution of counterparty: The substitution method is used for guarantees, whereby the rating of the counterparty is
substituted with the rating of the guarantor. This means that the credit risk in respect of the counterparty is substituted
by the credit risk of the guarantor and the capital requirement is thereby reduced. Hence, a fully guaranteed exposure will
be assigned the same capital treatment as if the exposure was to the guarantor rather than to the counterparty.
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4. Credit risk — Pillar 3 disclosures (continued)
4.4 Credit exposure (continued)
g)  Credit risk mitigation (continued)
Description of the main types of credit risk mitigation
GIB uses a variety of credit risk mitigation techniques in several different markets which contribute to risk diversification and
credit protection. The different credit risk mitigation techniques such as collateral, guarantees, credit derivatives, netting
agreements and covenants are used to reduce credit risk. All credit risk mitigation activities are not necessarily recognised
for capital adequacy purposes as they are not defined as eligible under the CBB’s Basel 3 capital adequacy framework, e.g.
covenants and non-eligible tangible collateral such as unquoted equities. The recognised credit risk mitigation activities are
undertaken with various counterparties to ensure no additional credit or market risk concentrations occur.
Exposures secured by eligible financial collateral, guarantees and credit derivatives, presented by standard portfolio were as
follows:
Of which secured by:
Exposure before Eligible Eligible guarantees
credit risk mitigation collateral or credit derivatives
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Sovereigns 4,920.4 0.3 34.8
Banks 5,702.5 3,567.6 479.5
Corporates 8,473.1 841.2 0.7
Guarantees and credit derivatives
Only eligible providers of guarantees and credit derivatives may be recognised in the standardised approach for credit risk.
Guarantees issued by corporate entities may only be taken into account if their rating corresponds to A- or higher. The
guaranteed exposures receive the risk weight of the guarantor.
GIB uses credit derivatives as credit risk protection only to a limited extent as the credit portfolio is considered to be well
diversified.
Collateral and valuation principles
The amount and type of collateral is dependent upon the assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. The market/ fair
value of the collateral is actively monitored on a regular basis and requests are made for additional collateral in accordance
with the terms of the facility agreements. In general, lending is based on the customer’s repayment capacity rather than the
collateral value. However, collateral is considered the secondary alternative if the repayment capacity proves inadequate.
Collateralis not usually held against securities or placements.
Types of eligible collateral commonly accepted
The Group holds collateral against loans and advances in the form of physical assets, cash deposits, securities and guarantees.
4.5 Movement in provisions for expected credit losses

Provisions for expected credit losses (ECL) are estimated based on the present value of all cash shortfalls over the remaining
expected life of the financial asset, i.e., the difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group under the
contract, and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate of the loan.

For the purposes of ECL calculation, the Group categorises its financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL into
Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, based on the applied impairment methodology. The Group calculates 12-month ECL for its
Stage 1 exposures and lifetime ECL for its Stage 2 and Stage 3 exposures.

Provisions for expected credit losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income and are reflected in an allowance
account against the respective financial asset.
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Credit risk - Pillar 3 disclosures (continued)

4.5 Movement in provision for expected credit losses (continued)

a) Loansand advances

The movements in the provisions for expected credit losses of loans and advances were as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 1% January 2024 91.3 68.2 179.4 338.9
Transfer to Stage 1 1.2 (0.9) 0.3) -
Transfer to Stage 2 (1.9) 2.3 ©.4) -
Transfer to Stage 3 0.6) (2.1) 2.7 -
Exchange rate movements - - ©.3) (0.3)
Net remeasurement of ECL allowance (9.6) 35.0 25.2 50.6
Write-offs - - (87.6) (87.6)
At 31t December 2024 80.4 102.5 118.7 301.6

b)  Investment securities

The movements in the provisions for expected credit losses of investment securities were as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 1t January 2024 31 - - 3.1
Net remeasurement of ECL allowance 0.5 - - 0.5
At 31 December 2024 3.6 - - 3.6

c)  Credit related financial instruments

The movements in the provisions for expected credit losses of credit related financial instruments were as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 1% January 2024 6.9 6.2 36.5 49.6
Transfer to Stage 1 15 (1.5) - -
Transfer to Stage 2 0.2) 0.2 - -
Exchange rate movements - - (0.1) (0.1)
Net remeasurement of ECL allowance 12 (1.1) 35 3.6
At 31t December 2024 9.4 3.8 39.9 53.1

4.6 Credit impaired exposures

Impaired financial assets represent assets for which there is objective evidence that the Group will not collect all amounts
due, including both principal and interest, in accordance with the contractual terms of the obligation. Objective evidence
that a financial asset is impaired may include: a breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the granting of a concession that, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulties,
would not otherwise be considered, indications that it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
re-organisation, the disappearance of an active market, or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse
changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the
group.

In accordance with guidelines issued by the CBB, credit facilities are placed on non-accrual status and interest income
suspended when either principal or interest is overdue by 90 days whereupon unpaid and accrued interest is reversed from
income. Interest on non-accrual facilities is included in income only when received. Credit facilities classified as past due are
assessed for impairment in accordance with the IFRS guidelines as set out in section 4.5 of this report.
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4.  Credit risk — Pillar 3 disclosures (continued)
4.6 Credit impaired exposures (continued)
a) Loans and advances
The gross and carrying amounts of credit impaired loans and advances were as follows:
Expected
Gross credit Net
exposure losses exposure
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Corporates 162.6 114.2 48.4
Retail banking 4.9 4.5 0.4
167.5 118.7 48.8
The overdue status of credit impaired loans and advances was as follows:
Less than Years Over
1 year 2and 3 3 years Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Corporates 22.3 179 122.4 162.6
Retail banking 4.4 - 0.5 4.9
26.7 17.9 122.9 167.5
The net charges for expected credit losses and write-offs for credit impaired facilities during the year were as follows:
Expected
Net Write- credit
charges offs losses
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Corporates 40.0 76.1 114.2
Retail banking 10.6 115 4.5
50.6 87.6 118.7
Credit impaired facilities were all to counterparties in the GCC.
b)  Investment securities
There were no debt investment securities for which either principal or interest was over 90 days past due.
4.7 Past due facilities

Exposures are classified as past due but not credit impaired when principal or interest on the facility is overdue by 1 day up
to 89 days.

The gross and carrying amounts of past due but not credit impaired loans were as follows:

Expected
Gross credit Net
exposure losses exposure
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Corporates 177.7 17.4 160.3
Retail banking 342 12 33.0
2119 18.6 193.3
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4.8

4.9

Credit risk - Pillar 3 disclosures (continued)
Past due facilities (continued)

The age analysis of past due but not credit impaired facilities was as follows:

Up to 30 31to 60 61to 89
days days days Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Corporates 124.7 279 7.7 160.3
Retail banking 185 9.3 5.2 33.0
143.2 37.2 12.9 193.3

Past due but not credit impaired facilities were all to counterparties in the GCC.

Restructured and modified facilities

The Group restructured and modified US$48.6 million gross credit facilities out of US$15,703.9 million total gross loan
exposures as at 31 December 2024 with no significant additional impact on ECL during the year.

Internal ratings

The Group monitors, manages and controls credit risk exposures based on an internal credit rating system that rates individual
obligors based on a rating scale from 1 to 10, subject to positive (+) and negative (-) modifiers for rating grades 2 to 6. The
internal credit rating is a measure of the credit worthiness of a single obligor, based on an assessment of the credit risk
relating to senior unsecured, medium-term, foreign currency credit exposure. The primary objectives of the internal credit
rating system are the maintenance of a single uniform standard for credit quality measurement, and to serve as the primary
basis for Board-approved risk parameters and delegated credit authority limits.

The internal credit rating system is used throughout the organisation and is inherent in all business decisions relating to
the extension of credit. A rating is an estimate that exclusively reflects the quantification of the repayment capacity of the
customer, i.e. the risk of customer default. The internal credit rating system also serves as a key input into the Group’s Risk-
Adjusted Return on Capital (RAROC) performance measurement system. Ratings reflect a medium-term time horizon, thereby
rating through an economic cycle.

The internal ratings map directly to the rating grades used by the international credit rating agencies as illustrated below:

Fitch and

Internal Standard &
Internal rating grade classification Poor’s Moody’s
Investment grade
Rating grade 1 Standard AAA Aaa
Rating grade 2 Standard AA Aa
Rating grade 3 Standard A A
Rating grade 4 Standard BBB Baa
Sub-investment grade
Rating grade 5 Standard BB Ba
Rating grade 6 Standard B B
Rating grade 7 Standard Cccc Caa
Classified
Rating grade 8 Substandard cc Ca
Rating grade 9 Doubtful C C
Rating grade 10 Loss D -

The rating mapping does not intend to reflect that there is a fixed relationship between GIB’s internal rating grades and those
of the external agencies as the rating approaches differ.
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5.  Market risk - Pillar 3 disclosures

5.1 Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss due to adverse changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices
and market conditions, such as liquidity. The principal market risks to which the Group is exposed are interest rate risk and
foreign exchange risk associated with its trading, investment and asset and liability management activities. The portfolio
effects of holding a diversified range of instruments across a variety of businesses and geographic areas contribute to a
reduction in the potential negative impact on earnings from market risk factors.
The Group’s trading and foreign exchange activities principally comprise trading in debt securities, foreign exchange and
derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments include futures, forwards, swaps and options in the interest
rate and foreign exchange markets. The Group manages and controls the market risk within its trading portfolios through limit
structures that relate, inter alia, to positions, volumes, concentrations, allowable losses and maturities.

5.2 Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity of the interest rate risk in the banking book to changes in interest rates is set out in section 8.1(c) of this report.
The Group’s investment debt securities are measured at amortised cost. However, the Group nevertheless monitors the
impact of changes in credit spreads on the fair value of the debt securities.

6. Operationalrisk - Pillar 3 disclosures

6.1 Operational risk management

Operational risk is part of the wider Non-Financial Risk classification, which the Bank actively manages within acceptable
tolerance levels through sound operational risk management practices that are part of the day-to-day responsibilities of
management at all levels. Whilst operational risk cannot be eliminated in its entirety, the Bank endeavors to minimise it by
ensuring that a strong control infrastructure is in place throughout the organisation.

Effective management of operational risk aims to minimising the impact of losses suffered in the normal course of business
(expected losses) and to avoid or reduce the likelihood of suffering a large extreme (unexpected) loss.

The Bank’s risk management approach involves identifying, assessing, managing, mitigating, monitoring and measuring the
risks associated with all areas of the Bank. The various procedures and processes used to manage operational risk and non-
financial risk include (but not limited to) effective staff training, appropriate controls to safeguard assets and records, regular
reconciliation of accounts and transactions, close monitoring of risk limits, segregation of duties, and financial management
and reporting. In addition, policies have been put in place to manage other control mitigation strategies such as for business
continuity planning, insurance and legal risk (which includes regular reporting to management on legal matters).

There is a dedicated Operational Risk Management (ORM) function for the Bank which reports to the Bank’s Chief Risk Officer
and provides independent monitoring and reporting on operational risk issues as well as broader non-financial risk topics. The
Bank has an established governance forum, the Operational Risk & Non-Financial Risk Committee (OR&NFRC) which provides
oversight for operational risk and non-financial risk activities across Bank. The OR&NFRC reports to the Risk Committee (RC)
and to the Board Risk Policy Committee (BRPC) on a quarterly basis regarding relevant operational risk management and non-
financial risk matters such as high impact events, risk issues of critical importance.

As part of the Bank’s Operational Risk Management Framework (ORMF), risk self-assessments are conducted, which identify
the operational risks inherent in the Bank’s activities, processes and systems. The controls identified are self-assessed and
is supported by an Internal Control Testing Framework, which entails control validation requirements at 1°t and 2™ lines of
defense.

Qualitative and quantitative methodologies and tools are used to identify and assess operational risk and to provide
management with information for determining appropriate mitigating factors. These tools include a database of operational
risk events categorised according to business lines and operational risk event types; a record of key risk indicators, which can
provide an early warning of possible risk; and a risk and control assessment process to analyse business activities and identify
operational risks related to those activities.

- Risk Events (RE): Risk events encompass incidents resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, and
systems or from external events which impact the organisation, incur a direct financial loss or result in a near miss. ORM
tracks and records risk events on an on-going basis to monitor changes in the level of threat to the business and to assist
in considering the quality, design and implementation of its controls.

- Key Risk Indicators (KRI): Key risk indicators are warning signals which enable Management to monitor and mitigate
operational risks that are reaching levels of concern. KRIs allow the Bank to identify potential events that may impact
achievement of business objectives. The business and support functions in collaboration with ORM define thresholds for
identified KR, to regularly assess the status of the operational risk exposure.
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7.1

Credit risk - Pillar 3 disclosures (continued)

Operational risk management (continued)

- Risk and Control Self-Assessments (RCSA): Risk and control self-assessment is a tool to identify and assess the
operational risk inherent in all existing activities, processes and systems as well as assessing the effectiveness of controls
used by Management to mitigate those risks. The business and support functions collaborate with ORM to complete
comprehensive risk self-assessments.

- Internal Control Testing Framework (ICTF): The ICTF has been introduced to contribute to the effectiveness and efficiency
of the RCSA process, through the implementation of Control Testing approach, which provides control validation through
testing across the 1*t and 2™ lines of defense.

Furthermore, as part of the maturing and development of the broader Non-Financial Risk Management framework, the bank
has recently introduced a Risk Identification and Materiality Assessment (RIMA) exercise which involves annual top level non-
financial risk identification workshop supported by semi-annual materiality assessment processes.

The capital requirement for operational risk is calculated for regulatory purposes according to the standardised approach, in
which the regulatory capital requirement is calculated based on a range of beta coefficients, ranging from 12% to 18%, applied
to the average gross income for the preceding three financial years for each of eight predefined business lines. Consequently,
the operational risk capital requirement is updated only on an annual basis.

Off-balance sheet exposure and securitisations

Off-balance sheet exposures are divided into two exposure types in accordance with the calculation of credit risk RWAs in the
CBB'’s Basel 3 capital adequacy framework:

- Credit-related contingent items: Credit-related contingent items comprise guarantees, credit commitments and unutilised
approved credit facilities

- Derivative and foreign exchange instruments: Derivative and foreign exchange instruments are contracts, the value of
which is derived from one or more underlying financial instruments or indices, and include futures, forwards, swaps and
options in the interest rate, foreign exchange, equity and credit markets

In addition to counterparty credit risk measured within the Basel 3 credit risk framework, derivatives also incorporate exposure
to market risk and carry a potential market risk capital requirement, as commented on in more detail in section 5 of this report.
A credit valuation adjustment (CVA) is applied to the relevant derivative exposure RWA's.

For the two off-balance exposure types, there are different possible values for the calculation base of the regulatory capital
requirement, as commented on below:

Credit-related contingent items

For credit-related contingent items, the notional principal amount is converted to an exposure at default (EAD) through the
application of a credit conversion factor (CCF). The CCF factors range from 20% to 100% depending on the type of contingent
item and is intended to convert off-balance sheet notional amounts into equivalent on-balance sheet exposures.

Credit commitments and unutilised approved credit facilities represent commitments that have not been drawn down or
utilised. The notional amount provides the calculation base to which a CCF is applied for calculating the EAD. The CCF ranges
between 0% and 100% depending on the approach, product type and whether the unutilised amounts are unconditionally
cancellable or irrevocable.

The table below summarises the notional principalamounts, RWAs and capital requirements for each credit-related contingent
category:

Notional Capital

principal amount RWA requirement

US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions

Direct credit substitutes 1,379.1 1,264.3 158.0
Transaction-related contingent items 4,017.0 1,698.9 212.4
Short-term self-liquidating trade-related contingent items 893.3 1759 22.0
Commitments 2,326.7 1,142.0 142.8
8,616.1 4,281.1 535.2

Commitments include undrawn loan commitments and underwriting commitments under note issuance and revolving
facilities and may be drawn down on demand.

The notional principal amounts reported above are stated gross before applying credit risk mitigants, such as cash collateral,
guarantees and counter indemnities. At 31 December 2024, the Group held cash collateral, guarantees, counter-indemnities
or other high quality collateralin relation to credit-related contingent items amounting to US$479.9 million.
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Off-balance sheet exposure and securitisations (continued)

Derivative and foreign exchange instruments

The Group utilises derivative and foreign exchange instruments to meet the needs of its customers, to generate trading
revenues and as part of its asset and liability management activity to hedge its own exposure to market risk. Derivative and
foreign exchange instruments are subject to the same types of credit and market risk as other financial instruments. The
Group has appropriate and comprehensive Board-approved policies and procedures for the control of exposure to both credit
and market risk from its derivative and foreign exchange activities.

In the case of derivative transactions, the notional principal typically does not change hands. It is simply a quantity which is
used to calculate payments. While notional principal is a volume measure used in the derivative and foreign exchange markets,
it is neither a measure of market nor credit risk. The Group’s measure of credit exposure is the cost of replacing contracts at
current market rates should the counterparty default prior to the settlement date. Credit risk amounts represent the gross
unrealised gains on non-margined transactions before taking account of any collateral held or any master netting agreements
in place.

The Group participates in both exchanges traded and over-the-counter (OTC) derivative markets. Exchange traded
instruments are executed through a recognised exchange as standardised contracts and primarily comprise futures and
options. OTC contracts are executed between two counterparties who negotiate specific agreement terms, including the
underlying instrument, notional amount, maturity and, where appropriate, exercise price. In general, the terms and conditions
of these transactions are tailored to the requirements of the Group’s customers although conform to normal market practice.
Industry standard documentation is used, most commonly in the form of a master agreement. The existence of a master
netting agreement is intended to provide protection to the Group in the event of a counterparty default.

The Group’s derivative and foreign exchange activities are predominantly short-term in nature. Transactions with maturities
over one year principally represent either fully offset trading transactions or transactions that are designated, and qualify, as
fair value or cash flow hedges.

The aggregate notional amounts for derivative and foreign exchange instruments at 31 December 2024 were as follows:

Trading Hedging Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Foreign exchange contracts:
Unmatured spot, forward and futures contracts 8,289.1 594.1 8,883.2
Options purchased 424.1 - 424.1
Options written 424.1 - 424.1
9,137.3 594.1 9,731.4
Interest rate contracts:
Interest rate swaps 17,138.7 6,800.4 23,939.1
Cross currency swaps 401.8 - 401.8
Futures 107.6 - 107.6
Options, caps and floors purchased 2,878.0 - 2,878.0
Options, caps and floors written 2,878.0 - 2,878.0
23,404.1 6,800.4 30,204.5
Equity and commodity contracts:
Options and swaps purchased 60.5 - 60.5
Options and swaps written 60.5 - 60.5
121.0 - 121.0
Credit default swaps:
Protection purchased 28.7 - 28.7
Protection sold 28.7 - 287
57.4 - 57.4
32,719.8 7,394.5 40,114.3
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7.3

b)

7.4

Off-balance sheet exposure and securitisations (continued)

Counterparty credit risk

Counterparty credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a contract in the interest rate, foreign exchange, commodity,
equity or credit markets defaults prior to the maturity of the contract. The counterparty credit risk for derivative and foreign
exchange instruments is subject to credit limits on the same basis as other credit exposures. Counterparty credit risk arises in
both the trading book and the banking book.

Counterparty credit risk calculation

For regulatory capital adequacy purposes, GIB uses the current exposure method to calculate the exposure for counterparty
credit risk for derivative and foreign exchange instruments in accordance with the credit risk framework in the CBB’s Basel 3
capital adequacy framework. A capital charge to cover the risk of mark-to-market losses on expected counterparty risk (CVA)
is applied to over-the-counter derivatives. Credit exposure comprises the sum of current exposure (replacement cost), and
potential future exposure. The potential future exposure is an estimate, which reflects possible changes in the market value
of the individual contract during the remaining life of the contract and is measured as the notional principal amount multiplied
by an add-on. The add-on depends on the risk categorisation and maturity of the contract and the contract’s remaining
life. Netting of potential future exposures on contracts within the same legally enforceable netting agreement is done as a
function of the gross potential future exposure.

The EAD, CVA, RWAs and capital requirements for the counterparty credit risk of derivative and foreign exchange instruments
analysed by standard portfolio, is presented in the table below:

Exposure at Default (EAD)

Current Future Total Capital

exposure exposure exposure CVA RWA requirement

US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions ~ US$ millions  US$ millions

Banks 7305 152.4 882.9 66.2 78.6 18.1
Corporates 472.0 81.0 553.0 142.0 72.6 26.8
Governments - 21.7 21.7 0.8 75.5 9.5
1,202.5 255.1 1,457.6 209.0 226.7 54.5

Mitigation of counterparty credit risk exposure

Risk mitigation techniques are widely used to reduce exposure to single counterparties. The most common risk mitigation
technique for derivative and foreign exchange-related exposure is the use of master netting agreements, which allow the
Group to net positive and negative replacement values of contracts under the agreement in the event of default of the
counterparty.

The reduction of counterparty credit risk exposure for derivative and foreign exchange instruments through the use of risk
mitigation techniques is demonstrated as follows:

Current Effect of netting Netted current

exposure agreements exposure

US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions

Counterparty credit risk exposure 1,202.5 (610.4) 591.8

Securitisations

Securitisations are defined as structures where the cash flow from an underlying pool of exposures is used to secure at least
two different stratified risk positions or tranches reflecting different degrees of credit risk. Payments to the investors depend
upon the performance of the underlying exposures, as opposed to being derived from an obligation of the entity originating
those exposures.

At 31° December 2024, the Group had no exposure to securitisation tranches.

The Group provides collateral management services to two collateralised debt obligations (CDOs) issued between 2002 and
2006. The CDOs are intended to extract relative value from a wide range of asset classes across a broad spectrum of credit
ratings. The underlying collateral of the CDOs includes leveraged loans, residential and commercial real estate, consumer
finance, lending to small and medium sized enterprises, and other receivables. Each CDO holds up to 20 individual investments.

At 31 December 2024, the underlying investments in the CDOs for which the Group acted as collateral manager amounted
to US$59.0 million. At 31°t December 2024, GIB did not hold any exposure to CDOs managed by the Group.
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8.1

a)

b)

Pillar 2 risks

GIB manages and measures other risk types that are not included under Pillar 1 in the CBB’s Basel 3 framework through
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP). For this purpose, the Group has adopted a “Pillar 1 plus” approach.
Pillar 1 capital calculations (for credit, market and operational risk) constitute the minimum capital required by the Group’s
home regulator, the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB). In addition to the capital assessment for Pillar 1 risks, the Pillar 2 capital
assessment considers risks that are not covered adequately under Pillar 1 risks to ensure sufficient capital coverage for all the
underlying risks of the Group’s business. This includes an analysis of the Group’s liquidity risk, concentration risk, interest rate
risk in the banking book (IRRBB), pension obligation risk, reputation risk, information technology risk and macroeconomic risk.

This section describes GIB’s Pillar 2 risks that are not addressed in Pillar 1 of the CBB’s Basel 3 framework.

Other risk types

Liquidity risk

The Group has established approved limits which restrict the volume of liabilities maturing in the short-term. An independent
risk management function monitors the future cash flow maturity profile against approved limits on a daily basis. The cash
flows are monitored against limits applying to both daily and cumulative cash flows occurring over a 30-day period. The

liquidity limits ensure that the net cash outflows over a 30-day period do not exceed the eligible stock of available liquid
resources. The cash flow analysis is also monitored on a weekly basis by the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO).

Customer deposits form a significant part of the Group’s funding. The Group places considerable importance on maintaining
the stability of both its customer and interbank deposits. The stability of deposits depends on maintaining confidence in the
Group’s financial strength and financial transparency.

The funding base is enhanced through term financing, amounting to US$5,973.2 million at 31 December 2024. Access to
available but uncommitted short-term funding from the Group’s established GCC and international relationships provides
additional comfort. In addition to the stable funding base, the Group maintains a stock of liquid and marketable securities that
can be readily sold or repoed.

At 31 December 2024, 68.5% of total on balance sheet credit exposures were contracted to mature within one year. In
relation to deposits, retention records demonstrate that there is considerable divergence between their contractual and
effective maturities.

US$19,849.8 million or 66.5% of the Group’s total deposits at 31 December 2024 were from GCC countries. Historical
experience has shown that GIB’s deposits from counterparties in the GCC region are more stable than deposits derived
from the international interbank market. At 31" December 2024, placements and other liquid assets with counterparties
in non-GCC countries were greater than the deposits received, demonstrating that the Group is a net lender of funds in the
international interbank market.

Concentration risk

Concentration risk is the credit risk stemming from not having a well-diversified credit portfolio, i.e. the risk inherent in doing
business with large customers or being overexposed in particular industries or geographic regions. Concentration risk is
captured in GIB’s Pillar 2 capital framework through the use of a credit risk portfolio model which considers single-name
concentrations and sector concentrations in the credit portfolio.

Under the CBB'’s single obligor regulations, banks incorporated in Bahrain are required to obtain the CBB’s approval for any
planned exposure to a single counterparty, or group of connected counterparties, exceeding 15% of the regulatory capital
base. At 31°* December 2024, the following single obligor exposures exceeded 15% of the Group’s regulatory capital base
which was approved by the CBB (i.e. exceeded US$547.4 million).

On-balance Off-balance Total

sheet exposure sheet exposure exposure

US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions

Counterparty A 5,547.0 19.4 5,566.3
Counterparty B 4,628.0 - 4,628.0
Counterparty C 2,576.7 597.7 3,174.4
Counterparty D 2,907.8 - 2,907.8
Counterparty E 1,108.1 - 1,108.1
Counterparty F 982.9 - 982.9
Counterparty G 777.3 13.8 791.1
Counterparty H 610.7 320 642.7
Counterparty | 592.7 - 592.7
Counterparty J 519.6 55.0 574.6
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©)

Pillar 2 risks (continued)

Other risk types (continued)

Interest rate risk in the banking book

Structural interest rate risk arises in the Group’s core balance sheet as a result of mismatches in the repricing of interest rate
sensitive financial assets and liabilities. The associated interest rate risk is managed through the use of models to evaluate the
sensitivity of earnings to movements in interest rates.

The repricing profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities, including the trading book, are set out in the table below:

Non-interest

Within Months Months Over bearing
3 months 4to6 7to12 1 year items Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Cash and other liquid assets 9,396.2 - - - 486.4 9,882.6
Securities purchased under
agreements to resell 2125 250.0 512.9 - - 975.4
Placements 5,114.2 1,052.9 1,099.5 - - 7,266.6
Trading securities - - - - 3284 3284
Investment securities:
- Fixed rate 899.8 747 575.1 2,111.4 - 3,661.0
- Floating rate 3,366.5 46.6 - 184.7 - 3,597.8
- Equities - - - - 20.6 20.6
Loans and advances 12,9745 1,576.0 437.2 320.2 94.4 15,402.3
Other assets - - - - 1,756.8 1,756.8
Total assets 31,963.7 3,000.2 2,624.7 2,616.3 2,686.6 42,891.5
Deposits 23,079.8 2,774.3 2,310.9 - 1,695.4 29,860.4
Securities sold under agreements
to repurchase 1,318.3 338.0 192.5 - - 1,848.8
Other liabilities - - - - 1,692.6 1,692.6
Senior term financing 5,174.2 - 399.7 - - 55739
Subordinated term financing 399.3 - - - - 399.3
Equity - - - - 3,516.5 3,516.5
Total liabilities & equity 29,971.6 3,112.3 2,903.1 - 6,904.5 42,891.5
Interest rate sensitivity gap 1,992.1 (112.1) (278.4) 2,616.3 (4,217.9) -
Cumulative interest rate
sensitivity gap 1,992.1 1,880.0 1,601.6 4,217.9 - -

The repricing profile is based on the remaining period to the next interest repricing date. Derivative financial instruments that
have been used for asset and liability management purposes to hedge exposure to interest rate risk are incorporated in the
repricing profiles of the related hedged assets and liabilities amounting to US$6,800.4 million as at 31** December 2024.

The substantial majority of assets and liabilities reprice within one year.

Interest rate asset exposure beyond one year amounted to US$2,616.3 million or 6.1% of total assets. This exposure
principally represented the investment of the net free capital funds in fixed rate government securities. At 31" December
2024, the modified duration of these fixed rate government securities was 4.14. Modified duration represents the approximate
percentage change in the portfolio value resulting from a 100-basis point change in yield. More precisely in dollar terms, the
price value of a basis point of the fixed rate securities was US$ 0.8 million. The Bank also has US$171.4 million of unhedged
FVOCI bonds with various maturities contributing to a DV0O1 of US$97,516.

Based on the repricing profile at 31 December 2024, and assuming that the financial assets and liabilities were to remain until
maturity or settlement with no action taken by the Group to alter the interest rate risk exposure, an immediate and sustained
one per cent (200bps) increase in interest rates across all maturities would result in an increase of approximately US$55.6
million (10.6% of Net interest Income) in net income before tax for the following year and approximately US$153.1 million
(4.8% of Tier 1 Capital) reduction in Group’s equity.
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8.  Pillar 2 risks (continued)
8.1 Other risk types (continued)
c) Interest rate risk in the banking book (continued)
Currency-wise details of the impact from a parallel shift of 200bps are as follows:
Impact on Economic
Group’s Value Equity
Currency Earnings Impact
US$ millions US$ millions
United States Dollar (USD) 394 (9.3)
Saudi Arabian Riyal (SAR) 115 (143.9)
Others 4.7 0.1
Total 55.6 (153.1)
d)  Pension obligation risk
Pension obligation risk is the risk that there may be a shortfall with respect to pension benefits due to employees/former
employees within the defined benefit schemes of the Group’s subsidiaries, GIBUK, GIB KSA and GIB Capital. The scheme was
closed to new members during 2002. As a result the Group is exposed to the risk that it will need to make further unexpected
future contributions to the scheme. The risk can arise from a number of factors including:
- Increased life expectancy increasing the value of future liabilities;
- Falling interest rates increasing the value of the future liabilities;
- Falling equity prices reducing the value of scheme assets;
- Increased salaries for staff still in employment.
As part of GIB’s ICAAP framework, an adverse scenario is applied to the scheme’s assets and liabilities on a level of severity
expected no more than once in every 200 years, i.e. 2 99.5% one year confidence level.
e) Reputational risk
Reputational risk is the risk of losses resulting from adverse perceptions about the Group, its brand and franchise by its various
stakeholders that is caused by a variety of internal and external factors. Preventive measures, including controls and processes
have been deployed to manage reputational risk. These include a robust and comprehensive governance structure, which is
based on set of well-defined policies and procedures.
The Group has established a reputational risk reporting framework, providing relevant stakeholders with periodic overview on
key reputational risks, loss event incidents, status of key risk indicators, and required management action. Training sessions
on reputational risks are organised for employees to create awareness among them on reputational risk, encourage them to
identify and understand emerging internal and external reputational risks, and guide them on the process to take action in
order manage or mitigate their impact.
The Group’s operating model has been designed to cater transparency and appropriate disclosures. The Corporate
Communications function of the Group has the responsibility to ensure effective communications internally with the employees
and externally with the media, shareholders, customers and authorities. It is charged with the responsibility of enhancing the
image and reputation of the GIB brand through the various activities such as advertising, public relations, sponsorships, and
donations.
f) Information Technology (IT) risk

Technology continues to play a critical role in the Bank’s operations and in the fulfilment of its strategic objectives. The Group
has in place a sound IT and Information Security governance framework that aligns its IT strategy and Information & Cyber
Security Strategy with its overall business objectives.

The Group has an IT Audit team with the mandate to examine and evaluate the Group’s IT infrastructure, policies and
procedures and compliance to those policies. The audits determine whether IT controls protect corporate assets, ensure data
integrity and are aligned with the business overall objectives. This culminates in an audit plan which is reviewed and approved
by the Board Audit committee. Based on the audit findings, exception reports and recommendations are prepared and sent
to the relevant unit for prompt response and/or implementation. Follow up meetings are also made to ensure that issues
identified are properly resolved and the recommendations made are being implemented.

In addition, the Group has newly created two teams, Information Security Governance and Information Security Compliance,
who have the mandate to perform detailed Information & Cyber Security Risk Assessments and Information Security
Compliance reviews.
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g)

h)

9.1

Pillar 2 risks (continued)

Other risk types (continued)

Macroeconomic risk

Macroeconomic risk relates to the risk of increasing stress levels in the principal economies in which the Group operates.
These risks can be triggered by political uncertainties, social unrests, high/low commodity prices, excessive leverage in the
financial system or an uncompetitive business environment. Due to the systemic nature of these macroeconomic triggers
there will be an adverse impact on the Group’s profitability and capital positions and the extent of loss would depend on the
severity of the stress event.

Macroeconomic risk is captured in GIB’s ICAAP framework through the use of stressed macroeconomic forecast to gauge the
impact of potential losses that the Group could incur.

Legal risk

In the ordinary course of its business, as a participant in the financial services industry, the Group may pursue litigation claims
against third parties and may also have litigation claims and/or regulatory proceedings filed against it. The Bank has an in-
house legal department comprising of qualified legal professionals. The department has put in place adequate policies &
procedures and uses assistance of professional legal firms on need basis, to ensure effective and efficient management of
legal risk.

Strategic risk

Strategic risk refers to the risk to earnings and profitability arising from strategic decisions, changes in the business conditions
and improper implementation of decisions. Thus, a strategic risk arises due to adopting wrong strategies and choices that can
cause loss to the Group in the form of a reduction in shareholder value and loss of earnings.

Strategic risk is identified, managed, mitigated and monitored jointly by the business (as the 1 line of defence) and the
Economics & Strategy Management Unit. The Economics & Strategy Management Unit is responsible for the monitoring
and reporting of the Group’s strategic initiatives and provides the Management Committee, Board Risk Policy Committee
(BRPC), and the Board of Directors a regular update on all the Group’s strategic initiatives, including the strategic risks facing
the Group. The Management Committee, the BRPC, and the Board review the strategic risks of the Group and ensure that
adequate mitigating strategies are in place for the Group’s strategic initiatives to be successfully implemented.

Capital adequacy ratios and other issues

Capital adequacy ratios

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to preserve investor, creditor and market confidence and to
sustain the future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also recognised
as well as the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to the structure taking account of changes in economic conditions and strategic business plans. The capital structure may be
adjusted through the dividend pay-out or the issue of new shares.

The capital adequacy ratios of GIB’s subsidiaries, GIBKSA and GIBUK, and the Group were as follows:

GIB KSA* GIB UK Group
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Total RWAs 13,685.6 1,911.7 23,402.5
Capital base 2,545.3 414.4 3,649.5
Tier 1 capital 2,043.7 414.4 3,176.5
Tier 1 ratio 14.9% 21.7% 13.6%
Total ratio 18.6% 21.7% 15.6%

*GIBKSA numbers are inclusive of GIB Capital which became a fully owned subsidiary of GIBKSA as of 1t Jan 2021.

GIB’s internal target is to maintain a Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio above 11.5% and a total capital adequacy ratio in
excess of 15.0%.
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9. Capital adequacy ratios and other issues (continued)
9.1 Capital adequacy ratios (continued)
Strategies and methods for maintaining a strong capital adequacy ratio
GIB prepares multi-year strategic projections on a rolling annual basis which include an evaluation of short-term capital
requirements and a forecast of longer-term capital resources.
The evaluation of the strategic planning projections has historically given rise to capital injections. The capital planning process
triggered the raising of additional Tier 2 capital through a US$400 million subordinated debt issue in 2005 to enhance the total
regulatory capital adequacy ratio, and a US$500 million capital increase in March 2007 to provide additional Tier 1 capital
to support planned medium-term asset growth. A further US$1.0 billion capital increase took place in December 2007 to
enhance capital resources and compensate for the impact of likely provisions relating to exposures impacted by the global
credit crisis.
9.2 Leverage ratio
The leverage ratio serves as a supplementary measure to the risk-based capital requirements. The leverage ratio is computed
on a consolidated basis and Bahraini conventional bank licensees must meet a 3.0% leverage ratio minimum requirement at
all times.
Leverage Ratio components Total
US$ millions
Total on-balance sheet exposures (excluding derivatives) 42,024.8
Replacement cost associated with all derivatives transactions (where applicable net of eligible cash 10092
variation margin and/or with bilateral netting) ’ )
Add-on amounts for potential future exposure (PFE) associated with all derivatives transactions 357.2
Total derivative exposures 1,366.4
Off-balance sheet exposure at gross notional amount 9,281.1
(Adjustments for conversion to credit equivalent amounts) (4,119.2)
Total off-balance sheet exposures 5,161.9
Total exposures 48,553.1
Tier 1 capital 3,176.5
Basel Ill leverage ratio 6.5%
9.3 ICAAP considerations
Pillar 2 in the Basel 3 framework covers two main processes: the ICAAP and the supervisory review and evaluation process.
The ICAAP involves an evaluation of the identification, measurement, management and control of material risks in order to
assess the adequacy of internal capital resources and to determine an internal capital requirement reflecting the risk appetite
of the institution. The purpose of the supervisory review and evaluation process is to ensure that institutions have adequate
capital to support the risks to which they are exposed and to encourage institutions to develop and apply enhanced risk
management techniques in the monitoring and measurement of risk.
GIB’s regulatory capital base exceeded the CBB’s minimum requirement of 12.5% throughout the year ended 31 December
2024 Based on the results of capital adequacy stress testing and capital forecasting, GIB considers that the buffers held for
regulatory capital adequacy purposes are sufficient and that GIB’s internal minimum capital targets of targets of 11.5% for
Tier 1 capitaland 15.0% for total capital are adequate given its current risk profile and capital position. The Group’s regulatory
capital adequacy ratios set out in section 9.1 of this report significantly exceeded the minimum capital targets and are high
by international comparison.
10. Related party transactions

Refer note 40 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Glossary of abbreviations

ALCO

Assets and Liabilities Committee

Risk Management and Capital Adequacy Report

AMA

Advanced Measurement Approach

Basel Committee

Basel Committee for Banking Supervision

CBB Central Bank of Bahrain

CCF Credit Conversion Factor

CcDoO Collateralised Debt Obligation

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

Ccco Chief Credit Officer

CRO Chief Risk Officer

CVA Credit Valuation Adjustment

EAD Exposure at Default

FCA Financial Conduct Authority (of the United Kingdom)
FVTOCI Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
GCC Gulf Cooperation Council

GIB Gulf International Bank B.S.C.

GIBUK Gulf International Bank (UK) Limited

Group Gulf International Bank B.S.C. and subsidiaries
ICAAP Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards
IRRBB Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book

LGD Loss Given Default

MENA Middle East and North Africa

ORMF Operational Risk Management Framework

oTC Over-The-Counter

PD Probability of Default

PRA Prudential Regulation Authority (of the United Kingdom)
PSE Public Sector Entity

RAROC Risk-adjusted Return on Capital

RWA Risk-weighted Assets
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Appendices Appendices (continued)

Appendix | — Regulatory Capital: 3-Step Reconciliation

Appendix | - step 2

Pppamilil=siep 1 Step 2: Expansion of the Balance sheet under the regulatory scope of consolidation as at 31 December 2024

Balance sheet as in

Step 1: Balance sheet under the regulatory scope of consolidation as at 31 December 2024

Balance sheet as in

> 4 . published consolidated Consolidated
published consolidated Consolidated US$ Millions financial statements PIR data Reference
US$ Millions financial statements PIR data Reference
Assets Assets
Cash and other liquid assets 9,882.6 749 1,2 Cash and other liquid assets 9,882.6 749
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 975.4 N 2 Securities purchased under agreements to resell 975.4 -
Placements with banks and similar financial institutions 7,266.6 18,050.2 2,3 ) o o
_ _ . Placements with banks and similar financial institutions 7,266.6 18,050.2
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 3284 3284
Investment securities 7,279.4 7,283.0 3 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 3284 3284
Loans and advances to banks and non-banks 15,402.3 15,585.2 3 Investment securities 7,279.4 7,283.0
Other assets 17568 17568 4 Loans and advances to banks and non-banks 15,402.3 15,585.2
Total assets 42,891.5 43,078.5
T Other assets 1,756.8 1756.8
Liabilities
Deposits from banks 1,665.2 7,570.4 5 Total assets 42,891.5 43,078.5
Deposits from customers 28,195.2 22,290.1 5 Liabilities
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 1,848.8 1,848.8 Deposits from banks 1,665.2 7570.4
Senior term financing 55739 55739 e
Other liabilities 16926 16793 36 Deposits from customers 28,195.2 22,290.1
Subordinated term financing 3993 - 7 Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 1,848.8 1,848.8
Total liabilities 39,375.0 38,962.4 Senior term financing 5,573.9 5,573.9
Shareholders’ Equity Other liabilities 1,692.6 1,679.3
Paid up share capital 2,000.0 2,000.0
Reserves 2229 222.9 399.3 _
Retained earnings 2526 252.6 Total liabilities 39,375.0 38,962.4
Tier 2 capital instruments - 399.3 7 Shareholders' Equity
Expected Credit Losses - 2002 E Paid up share capital 2,000.0 2,000.0
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Bank 2,475.5 3,075.0
Non-controlling interest 1,041.0 1,041.0 of which amount eligible for CET1 - 2,000.0
Total equity 3,516.5 4,116.0 of which amount eligible for AT1 -
Total liabilities & shareholders' equity 42,891.5 43,078.5 Reserves 2229 2229
Retained earnings 252.6 252.6 A
Tier 2 capital instruments - 399.3
Differences due to PIR requirements: )
1 Cash balance reported in PIR is the cash on hand and balances at the Central Bank of Bahrain. Expected Credit Losses - 2002 B
Other bank balances are reported under placements. Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Bank 2,475.5 3,075.0
2 Other bank balances and securities purchased under agreements to resell are included under Non-controlling interest 1,041.0 1,041.0
placements.
3 Expected credit losses (Stages 1 & 2) (loans, securities, placements) and Off Balance sheet of which amount eligible for CET1 6118
provisions are reported separately. of which amount eligible for AT1 102.0
4 Under PIR the following breakdown is applicable: ) -
~Interest receivable 4318 of which amount eligible for T2 272.7
- Property, plant, and equipment (PPE) 1523 of which amount ineligible 54.6
- Other assets 1,172.7 Total equity 3,516.5 4,116.0

Total 1,756.8

5 Central Banks deposits are reported under deposits from banks under the PIR, however, these
are customer relationships to GIB.

Total liabilities & shareholders’ equity 42,891.5 43,078.5

6 Differences between amounts reported in the Balance sheet and the PIR are due to Off Balance
sheet provisions.

Under PIR the following breakdown is applicable:

- Interest payable 318.6
- Other liabilities 1,360.7
Total 1,679.3

Eligible Tier 2 instruments issued by subsidiaries and held by third parties recognised in the
regulatory capital base.

~

8 Figures are rounded to the nearest US$ million
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Appendix | - step 3

Step 3: Composition of Capital Disclosures template as at 31 December 2024

Common Equity Tier 1 capital: instruments and reserves

1.

glhlwN

6.

Common Equity Tier 1 capital: regulatory adjustments
7

Component

of regulatory
capital reported
US$ millions by bank

Directly issued qualifying commmon share capital (and equivalent for non-joint stock companies) 2,000.0
plus related stock surplus

Retained earnings 252.6
Accumulated other comprehensive income (and other reserves) 283.5
Not Applicable

Common share capital issued by subsidiaries and held by third parties (amount allowed in group 611.8
CET1)

Common Equity Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments 3,147.9

Prudential valuation adjustments
Goodwill (net of related tax liability)
Other intangibles other than mortgage-servicing rights (net of related tax liability) 443

Deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability excluding those arising from temporary
differences (net of related tax liability)

Cash-flow hedge reserve

Shortfall of provisions to expected losses

Securitisation gain on sale (as set out in paragraph 562 of Basel Il framework)

Not applicable.

Defined-benefit pension fund net assets 29.1
Investments in own shares (if not already netted off paid-in capital on reported balance sheet

Reciprocal cross-holdings in common equity

Investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope
of regulatory consolidation, net of eligible short positions, where the bank does not own more
than 10% of the issued share capital (amount above 10% threshold)

Significant investments in the common stock of banking, financial and insurance entities
that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation, net of eligible short positions (amount
above 10% threshold)

Mortgage servicing rights (amount above 10% threshold)

Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences (amount above 10% threshold, net of
related tax liability)

Amount exceeding the 15% threshold

of which: significant investments in the common stock of financials
of which: mortgage servicing rights

of which: deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences
CBB specific regulatory adjustments

Regulatory adjustments applied to Common Equity Tier 1 due to insufficient Additional
Tier 1 and Tier 2 to cover deductions

Total regulatory adjustments to Common equity Tier 1 734
Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1) 3,074.6
Directly issued qualifying Additional Tier 1 instruments plus related stock surplus

of which: classified as equity under applicable accounting standards

of which: classified as liabilities under applicable accounting standards

Directly issued capital instruments subject to phase out from Additional Tier 1

Additional Tier 1 instruments (and CET1 instruments not included in row 5) issued by
subsidiaries and held by third parties (amount allowed in group AT1)

of which: instruments issued by subsidiaries subject to phase out

Additional Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments 102.0

CONTENTS O
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Source based on reference

Component numbers/letters of the

of regulatory balance sheet under

capital reported the regulatory scope of

US$ millions by bank consolidation from step 2

Additional Tier 1 capital: regulatory adjustments

37. Investments in own Additional Tier 1 instruments
38. Reciprocal cross-holdings in Additional Tier 1 instruments
39. Investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope

of regulatory consolidation, net of eligible short positions, where the bank does not own more
than 10% of the issued common share capital of the entity (amount above 10% threshold)

40. Significant investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside
the scope of regulatory consolidation (net of eligible short positions)
41. CBB specific regulatory adjustments
42. Regulatory adjustments applied to Additional Tier 1 due to insufficient Tier 2 to cover
deductions
43. Total regulatory adjustments to Additional Tier 1 capital -
44, Additional Tier 1 capital (AT1) 102
45. Tier 1 capital (T1 = CET1 + AT1) 3,176.5
46. Directly issued qualifying Tier 2 instruments plus related stock surplus
47. Directly issued capital instruments subject to phase out from Tier 2
48. Tier 2 instruments (and CET1 and AT1 instruments not included in rows 5 or 34) issued by 272.7
subsidiaries and held by third parties (amount allowed in group Tier 2)
49, of which: instruments issued by subsidiaries subject to phase out
50. Provisions 200.2 B
51. Tier 2 capital before regulatory adjustments 4729
52. Investments in own Tier 2 instruments
53. Reciprocal cross-holdings in Tier 2 instruments
54. Investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope

of regulatory consolidation, net of eligible short positions, where the bank does not own more
than 10% of the issued common share capital of the entity (amount above the 10% threshold)

55. Significant investments in the capital banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside

the scope of regulatory consolidation (net of eligible short positions)
56. CBB specific regulatory adjustments
57. Total regulatory adjustments to Tier 2 capital -
58. Tier 2 capital (T2) 4729
59. Total capital (TC=T1 + T2) 3,649.5

RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS IN RESPECT OF AMOUNTS SUBJECT TO PRE-2015 TREATMENT OF WHICH:

Significant investments in the common stock of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory
consolidation, net of eligible short positions (amount above 10% threshold)

OF WHICH: Investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory
consolidation, net of eligible short positions, where the bank does not own more than 10% of the issued common share capital
of the entity (amount above the 10% threshold)

60. Total risk weighted assets 23,402.5
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Appendix | - step 3 (continued)

Appendix | - Main Features

Source based on reference PD 3: Main Features of Regulatory Capital Instruments

Component numbers/letters of the
of regulatory balance sheet under
capital reported the regulatory scope of "
US$ millions by bank consolidation from step 2 USS$ millions
1. Issuer Gulf International Bank B.S.C.
Capital ratios 2. Unique identifier (e.g. CUSIP, ISIN or Bloomberg identifier for private placement) 35410887
61. Common Equity Tier 1 (as a percentage of risk weighted assets) 13.1% 3. Governing law(s) of the instrument Bahrain
62. Tier 1 (as a percentage of risk weighted assets) 13.6% Regulatory treatment
) ) ) o
63. Total capital (as a percentage of risk weighted assets) 15.6% " Transitional CBB rules Tier 1
64. Institution specific buffer requirement (minimum CET1 requirement plus capital conservation 9.0% o )
buffer plus countercyclical buffer requirements plus D-SIB buffer requirement expressed as a 5 Post-transitional CBB rules Tier1
percentage of risk weighted assets) 6. Eligible at solo/group/group & solo Solo and Group
B ) . o
65. of which: capital conservation buffer requirement 2:5% 7. Instrument type (types to be specified by each jurisdiction) Common equity
66. of which: bank specific countercyclical buffer requirement (N/A) N/A o ) o )
8. Amount recognised in regulatory capital (Currency in mil, as of most recent reporting date) 3,649.5
67. of which: D-SIB buffer requirement (N/A) N/A
9. Par value of instrument 2,000.0
68. Common Equity Tier 1 available to meet buffers (as a percentage of risk weighted assets) 13.1%
10.  Accounting classification Shareholders’ equity
National minima including CCB (if different from Basel 3) 11.  Original date of issuance NA
69. CBB Common Equity Tier 1 minimum ratio 9.0% 12.  Perpetual or dated Perpetual
70. CBB Tier 1 minimum ratio 10.5% 13, Original maturity date NA
71. CBB total capital minimum ratio 12.5% ) ) )
14.  Issuer call subject to prior supervisory approval No
Amounts below the thresholds for deduction (before risk weighting) 15 Optional call date, contingent call dates and redemption amount NA
72. Non-significant investments in the capital of other financials 16. Subsequent call dates, if applicable NA
73. Significant investments in the common stock of financials Coupons / dividends NA
74. Mortgage servicing rights (net of related tax liability) 17. Fixed or floating dividend/coupon NA
75. Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences (net of related tax liability) 18. Coupon rate and any related index NA
Applicable caps on the inclusion of provisions in Tier 2 19 Existence of a dividend stopper NA
76. Provisions eligible for inlclu§ion in Tier 2 in respect of exposures subject to standardised 200.2 20. Fully discretionary, partially discretionary or mandatory Fully discretionary
approach (prior to application of cap)
77. Cap on inclusion of provisions in Tier 2 under standardised approach 267.9 21 Existence of step up or other incentive to redeem NA
78. N/A 22. Noncumulative or cumulative NA
79. N/A 23. Convertible or non-convertible NA
Capital instruments subject to phase-out arrangements 24. If convertible, conversion trigger (s) NA
(only applicable between 1 Jan 2020 and 1 Jan 2024)
25 If convertible, fully or partially NA
80. Current cap on CET1 instruments subject to phase out arrangements
26. If convertible, conversion rate NA
81. Amount excluded from CET1 due to cap (excess over cap after redemptions and maturities)
. i 27. If convertible, mandatory or optional conversion NA
82. Current cap on AT1 instruments subject to phase out arrangements
83. Amount excluded from AT1 due to cap (excess over cap after redemptions and maturities) 28. If convertible, specify instrument type convertible into NA
84, Current cap on T2 instruments subject to phase out arrangements 29. If convertible, specify issuer of instrument it converts into NA
85. Amount excluded from T2 due to cap (excess over cap after redemptions and maturities) 30.  Write-down feature NA
31. If write-down, write-down trigger(s) NA
32. If write-down, full or partial NA
33. If write-down, permanent or temporary NA
34. If temporary write-down, description of write-up mechanism NA
35.  Position in subordination hierarchy in liquidation (specify instrument type immediately senior to instrument) NA
36.  Non-compliant transitioned features NA
37.  If yes, specify non-compliant features NA
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Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)
31t December 2024

Stock of HQLA

A. Level 1 assets:

Coins and banknotes

Qualified balances with the CBB

Debt securities/Sukuk issued by the CBB or the Government of Bahrain

Debt securities/Sukuk issued governments of GCC member states and their central banks;

Debt securities/Sukuk that can be monetised and issued or guaranteed by sovereigns,
central banks, PSEs, IMF, BIS, ECB, EC, or MDBs

Debt securities/Sukuk issued in local currency by sovereign or the country’s central bank,
where the liquidity risk arises or the banks home country — given a non-0 percent Risk-
weight (RW);

Debt securities/Sukuk issued in foreign currency by sovereign or central bank that does not
exceed the value of the net cash outflow in the foreign currency caused by a stress scenario
based on the bank’s operations in the country where the liquidity risk arises from — given a
non-0 percent RW

Total level 1 Assets

B. Level 2 assets (maximum of 40 percent Of HQLA)
1) Level 2A assets

Debt securities/Sukuk that can be issued and liquidated or guaranteed by sovereigns,
central banks, PSEs, and qualified MDBs

Debt securities/Sukuk qualified for liquidation (including commercial paper)
Qualified covered bonds
2) Level 2B assets (maximum of 15 percent of HQLA)

Debt securities/Sukuk (including commercial paper) issued by qualified non-financial
institutions

Qualified common equity shares
Total level 2 Assets (1+2)
Total value of stock of HQLA

Cash Outflows

A1l. Retail Deposits

Demand deposits and term deposits (maturity within 30 days)
Stable deposits; and

Less stable - retail deposits*

Retail and Small Business Customers demand and fixed deposits (for overseas branches and
subsidiaries)*

B. Unsecured Wholesale Funding

1) Small business customer deposits:

Less stable deposits

2) Operational deposits generated by clearing, custody, and cash management:

3) Deposits from non-financial institutions, sovereign, central banks, multilateral
development banks, PSEs, and Bahrain’s Social Insurance Organization and
GCC PIFs where PIF is a controller of the bank.

4) Deposits from Financial Institutions and other legal entity corporations.
C. Secured Funding

Backed by level 1 assets or with central banks

Backed by level 2A assets

Secured funding transactions with domestic sovereign, PSE’s or multilateral development
banks that are not baked by level 1 or 2A assets

Backed by other level 2B assets
All others

CONTENTS O
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Factor

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

Fine

85%
85%
85%

Fine

50%
50%

3%
10%

10%
25%

40%
100%

0%
15%

25%
50%
100%

Total Amount

5,542.0
3,742,424.4
276,661.4
318,403.6

439,766.0

11,9110

584,697.5
49,7147

155,672.0

426,860.5

15,348,065.9
186,092.8

168,287.5

BD ‘000 / US $’000

Amount with
Factor Applied

5,542.0
3,742,424.4
276,661.4
318,403.6

439,766.0

11,9110
4,794,708.4

496,992.8
42,257.5

77,836.0

617,086.3
5,411,794.7

42,686.0

6,139,226.4
186,092.8
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Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)
30 June 2024

D. Other Cash Outflow
Net derivative cash outflow
Asset-backed securities, covered bonds, and other structured financing instruments

Asset-backed commercial paper, securities paper, securities investment vehicles, and other
similar financing tool

Committed: credit and liquidity facilities given by bank to:
Retail and small business customers, including credit cards (from amount not used)

Non-financial corporates, sovereigns and central banks, PSEs and multilateral development
banks (from amount not used) - Credit

Non-financial corporates, sovereigns and central banks, PSEs and multilateral development
banks (from amount not used) - Liquidity

Banks subject to prudential supervision (from amount not used)

Other financial institutions (including securities firms and insurance firms) (from amount
not used) - Credit

Other financial institutions (including securities firms and insurance firms) (from amount
not used) - Liquidity
Other legal entities (from amount not used)
Other Contingent Funding Obligations:
Guarantees, LCs, revocable credit and liquidity facilities, non-contractual commitments
Customer short positions that are covered by other customers’ collateral
Increased liquidity needs related to the potential for valuations changes on posted collateral
Other contractual cash outflows
Total Cash Outflow

Cash Inflows

A. Secured lending transactions backed by the following asset category
Level 1 assets

Level 2A assets

Level 2B assets

Margin lending backed by all other collateral

Other collateral

B. Committed facilities — credit and liquidity facilities given to banks

C. Other inflows by

Retail and small business customer

Non-retail customers:

1. Financial institutions and central banks
2. Non-financial institutions

Operational deposits held at other financial institutions
D. Other net derivative cash inflows

E. Other contractual cash inflows

Total Cash Inflows

Net cash outflow = total cash outflow - total cash inflow or lowest value (75 percent of
total cash outflow)

BD ‘000/ US $’000
Amount with

Factor Total Amount Factor Applied
100% 36,8889 36,888.9
100% -
100% -
5% -
10% 2,358,567.9 235,856.8
30% -
40% - -
40% -
100% -
100% -
5% 8,995,345.5 449,767.3
50% -
20% - -
100% 342,964.1 342,964.1
7,433,482.2
0% 62,521.0 -
15% - -
50% - -
50% - -
100% - -
0% - -
50% 5,687.6 2,843.8
100% 3,229,493.2 3,229,493.2
50% 840,171.7 420,085.8
0% -
100% 103,614.2 103,614.2
100% 54,621.2 54,621.2
3,810,658.3
3,622,823.9

Liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) - HQLA / Net cash outflow (%) 149.4%

* The run-off figures for retail/small business deposits (overseas branches and subsidiaries) will be based on host jurisdictions factors

in which the bank operates.
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Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR)
31t December 2024 All figures in US$ millions

Unweighted Values (i.e. before applying relevant factors)

Maturing
No | Maturing in in more than 6 | Maturing Total Total
specified | less than 6 months and less | overone unweighted | weighted
maturity months than one year value

Capital:
Regulatory Capital
Other Capital Instruments

Retail deposits and deposits from small business customers:
Stable deposits

Less stable deposits

Wholesale funding:

Operational deposits

Other wholesale funding 36,323
Other liabilities:

NSFR derivative liabilities

All other liabilities not included in the above categories

Total ASF

Total NSFR high-quality liquid assets (HQLA)

Deposits held at other financial institutions for operational
purposes

Performing loans and securities:

Performing loans to financial institutions secured by Level
1HQLA

Performing loans to financial institutions secured by non-
Level 1 HQLA and unsecured performing loans to financial
institutions

Performing loans to non- financial corporate clients,
loans to retail and small business customers, and loans to
sovereigns, central banks and PSEs, of which:

- With a risk weight of less than or equal to 35% as per the
CBB Capital Adequacy Ratio guidelines

Performing residential mortgages, of which:

- With a risk weight of less than or equal to 35% under the
CBB Capital Adequacy Ratio Guidelines

Securities that are not in default and do not qualify as
HQLA, including exchange-traded equities

Other assets:
Physical traded commodities, including gold

Assets posted as initial margin for derivative contracts and
contributions to default funds of CCPs

NSFR derivative assets

NSFR derivative liabilities before deduction of variation
margin posted

All other assets not included in the above categories - 255 255
OBS items 7 6,106 11,354 568
Total RSF 14,420

NSFR (%) 142.8%
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Corporate
Directory

GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK B.S.C.

Head Office

Al-Dowali Building

3 Palace Avenue

PO.Box 1017

Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain
Telephone: +973 1753 4000
SW.LET: GULFBHBM

SW.LET for Retail: GULFBHBMRET
Reuters Direct Dial

Forex Unit & Options: GIBB
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BRANCHES

United Arab Emirates
Abu Dhabi

Nation Towers, Unit 2501
Tower 2, 25™ floor

Corniche Road

PO.Box 27051

Abu Dhabi

United Arab Emirates
Telephone: +971 2 305 0444
Fax: +971 2 631 1966
SW.I.LET: GULFAEAA

United States of America
New York

330 Madison Avenue, 37t floor
New York, NY 10017

United States of America
Telephone: +1 212 922 2300
SW.I.ET: GULFUS33

United Kingdom
London

One Curzon Street

London W1J 5HD

United Kingdom

Telephone: +44 20 7259 3456
SW.ILET: GULFGB2L

Sultanate of Oman

Muscat

Salam Square, Office 405, 4" floor
North Building, Salam Complex
Dohat Al Adab Street

PO.Box 334, PC 112

Muscat

Sultanate of Oman

Telephone: +968 2256 2222
SW.LET: GULFOMRX

REPRESENTATIVE OFFICES

United Arab Emirates
Dubai

Boulevard Plaza, Tower 2

Unit No. 802, 8% floor

Sheikh Mohammed Bin Rashid Boulevard
PO. Box 9445

Dubai

United Arab Emirates

Telephone: +971 4 355 3235

GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK
- SAUDI ARABIA

Head Office

Cooperative Council Road

PO. Box 93, Al Khobar 31952
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Telephone +966 13 866 4000
SW.LET: GULFSARI

BRANCHES

Riyadh

Granada Business & Residential Park
Eastern Ring Road

PO.Box 93413, Riyadh 11673
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Telephone: +966 11 834 8000

Jeddah

Private Offices Building

Prince Sultan Road

PO. Box 40530, Jeddah 21511
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Telephone: +966 12 511 7000

Corporate Directory

GIB CAPITAL

A Single Shareholder Company

Low Rise Building B1, 4" floor,
Granada Business & Residential Park
Eastern Ring Road

PO. Box 89589

Riyadh 11692

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Telephone: +966 11 834 8400

GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK (UK)
LIMITED

One Curzon Street

London W1J 5HD

United Kingdom

Telephone: +44 20 7259 3456
SW.LET: SINTGB2L
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